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CRYPTO ETP PROGRAMME 
What is this document? 

This document (the “Base Prospectus”) is issued by Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited (the “Issuer”) for its crypto ETP programme (the 
“Programme”) for the issue of undated, limited recourse, non-interest bearing exchange traded debt securities (“Securities”). The Securities are 
issued on the terms and conditions set out in this Base Prospectus (the “Conditions”) as completed by the final terms in respect of the relevant 
Series of Securities (the “Final Terms”). 

It is important that an investor carefully reads, considers and understands this Base Prospectus before making an investment in the Securities. 
Particular notice should be taken of the section headed “Risk Factors”. 

What securities are being issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus? 

This Base Prospectus relates to the issue of Securities by the Issuer. The Issuer is making a number of classes of Securities available which intend 
to provide investors with a return equivalent to holding a particular cryptoasset (a “Cryptoasset”, being money, scrip or other representation of value 
or contractual rights that can only be exchanged electronically on a single, sequenced, standardised and cryptographically secured record of activity 
to be shared among and acted upon by multiple participants (a “Distributed Ledger”)) or, in the case of Securities which aim to track one or more 
third-party indices of Cryptoassets administered by certain index providers (“Index-Linked Securities”), a return linked to the performance of the 
Cryptoassets comprising such index or indices (each an “Index”) (the Cryptoasset underlying an issuance of Securities that are not Index-Linked 
Securities and the Cryptoassets in a pool of Cryptoassets in respect of an issuance of Index-Linked Securities, each an “Underlying Cryptoasset”), 
less certain fees, costs and expenses as set out in the Conditions. 

The Securities are complex, structured products which may involve a significant degree of risk and may not be suitable or 
appropriate for all types of investor. Any person wishing to invest should seek appropriate financial, tax and other advice from an 
independent financial advisor with appropriate regulatory authorisation and qualifications . An investment in the Securities is only 
suitable for persons who understand the economic risk of such investment and are able to bear the risk for an indefinite period 
of time. A prospective investor should be aware that the value of their entire investment or part of their investment in the Securities 
may be lost. 

What is in this Base Prospectus? 

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the “EU Prospectus Regulation”) 
and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer and the Securities which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer and the 
Securities, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and 
prospects of the Issuer and the rights attaching to the Securities. In particular, this Base Prospectus contains: (i) a description of the key features of 
the Programme; (ii) the key risks of an investment in the Securities; (iii) a description of how a prospective investor’s return on the Securities is 
calculated; and (iv) an explanation of how the legal documents for the Programme operate together. 

Unless otherwise defined elsewhere in this Base Prospectus, capitalised terms used in this Base Prospectus shall have the meaning given to them 
in the Master Definitions and Construction Terms. The language of this Base Prospectus is English. Certain technical terms including references to 
legislation have been included in their original language so that the meaning may be ascribed to them under the relevant law. 

How long is this document valid? 

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority Finansinspektionen (the “Swedish FSA”), as competent 
authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (such approval the “Swedish FSA Approval”) on 17 February 2026. The Swedish FSA only approves 
this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such 
approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or the quality of the Securities that are the subject to this Base Prospectus. 
Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Securities. 

This Base Prospectus is valid for a maximum period of twelve months after the Swedish FSA Approval. The Issuer will, in the event of any significant 
new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the 
assessment of the Securities, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus. The obligation to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus in the 
event of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid. 

What information is included in the Final Terms? 

The Final Terms set out the information relevant to the specific Series of Securities to which they relate. This includes the number of Securities to 
be issued, the quantity and type of Underlying Cryptoasset which each Security is entitled to (known as the “Coin Entitlement”), the Transaction 
Parties and certain fees and costs applicable to the Series to be issued. 

What other information should a prospective investor consider? 

Certain of the information in this Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference. This means that the information is not set out in this Base Prospectus, 
but is publicly available to prospective investors elsewhere and is deemed part of this Base Prospectus. Prospective investors should ensure that 
they review this Base Prospectus (including any information incorporated by reference) and the applicable Final Terms carefully.  

A copy of this Base Prospectus (including any information incorporated by reference) is available at https://globalxetfs.eu/ (the “Issuer’s Website”). 

Arranger 

Global X Digital Assets, LLC (the “Arranger”) 
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME 

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by the 

remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the Conditions of any particular Series of Securities, the 

applicable Final Terms. This overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of the 

EU Prospectus Regulation. 

PARTIES 

Issuer: The Issuer is incorporated as a public company in Jersey and its principal activity is the 

issuance of the Securities and entry into related transactions. The Issuer was converted to 

a public company by special resolution on 10 February 2022. 

Arranger: Global X Digital Assets, LLC 

The Arranger arranges the Programme and provides certain administrative and operational 

services in respect of the Programme and is paid a fee by the Issuer in respect of such 

services. 

Trustee: The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. 

The Trustee holds the assets granted as security for the Issuer’s obligations in respect of 

each Series of Securities on trust for itself and the other Secured Creditors. 

Custodian: Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. 

The Custodian holds the Underlying Cryptoassets in relation to a Series of Securities in the 

Issuer’s secured account. 

For a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the Custodian holds the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), 

being a pool of Cryptoasset(s) (each an “Underlying Cryptoasset Pool”) in the Issuer’s 

secured account, the composition and weighting of which Underlying Cryptoasset Pool is 

intended to match the composition and weighting of the relevant Index from time to time. 

The Issuer will only appoint Eligible Custodians (as defined in the Conditions), who are 

experienced in holding digital assets that are similar to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

including the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool. 

Administrator: JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited 

The Administrator provides certain administrative and corporate services to the Issuer. 

Issuing and 

Paying Agent: 

Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited 

The Issuing and Paying Agent processes subscriptions and redemptions of the Securities 

via CREST. 

Paying Agent(s): The Issuing and Paying Agent and any additional Paying Agents specified in the applicable 

Final Terms. For the purposes of any Securities that are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, 

the Swiss Paying Agent will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

The Paying Agent(s) make payments to Securityholders via the Relevant Clearing System. 

Registrar: Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited 

The Registrar maintains the register and records of Securityholders in Jersey. 

Determination 

Agent: 

JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited 

The Determination Agent makes certain determinations in respect of Series the Securities. 



 

General Description of the Programme 

 

 2  

 

Authorised 

Participants: 

To establish liquidity for the Securities, the Issuer enters into agreements with Authorised 

Participants in respect of the creation and redemption of the Securities. 

The Authorised Participants will deliver the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the 

secured account with the Custodian and, on receipt of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s), the 

Issuer will create and deliver the Securities to the Authorised Participants. 

For a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the Authorised Participants will deliver the relevant 

Underlying Cryptoasset Pool to the secured account(s) with the Custodian and, upon 

receipt of such Underlying Cryptoasset Pool, the Issuer will create and deliver the Securities 

to the Authorised Participants. 

The Authorised Participants for each Series of Securities will be specified in the applicable 

Final Terms and/or published on the Issuer’s Website. 

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Authorised Participants are DRW Europe BV, 

Jane Street Financial Ltd, GHCO LLP and Flow Traders. 

The Authorised Participants set out above may make a market for the Securities. As at the 

date of this Base Prospectus, the designated market maker is Flow Traders. 

Documentation: The Securities are governed by the Conditions, as completed by the applicable Final 

Terms. 

The Issuer’s relationship with the relevant transaction parties is governed by agreements 

entered into on or around the date of this Base Prospectus in respect of all Series of 

Securities or certain master terms, each of which set out the Issuer’s agreement with each 

Transaction Party. Each Series of Securities will be issued by the execution of a 

Constituting Document, under which the parties to each master terms agrees to enter into 

an agreement on the form of the master terms for the purposes of that Series of Securities. 

See the section headed “Programme Structure”. 

FORM OF SECURITIES 

Form and issue 

method: 

Securities will be issued in Series, with the Securities of each Series being intended to be 

interchangeable with all other Securities of that Series. The Issuer may issue further 

Tranches of a Series of Securities from time to time. 

The Securities may be issued in registered form or uncertificated form as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

Securities issued under the Programme will be non-interest bearing, undated, secured, 

debt obligations of the Issuer. The Securities do not pay dividends or interest. Securities 

will be limited recourse obligations of the Issuer, ranking pari passu without any preference 

among themselves. 

APPLICATION AND REDEMPTION PROCESS 

Applications and 

redemptions: 

It is intended each Series of Securities will be subject to a continual and ongoing issuance 

and redemption mechanism under which Authorised Participant(s) may subscribe for new 

Securities or redeem existing Securities in accordance with the Conditions and the 

Authorised Participant Agreement(s). In certain circumstances, Securityholders that are not 

Authorised Participants may also request the issuance or redemption of Securities, with the 

redemption of Securities to be settled either physically or in cash. The Issuer may charge 

Securityholders a Redemption Fee to redeem Securities directly with the Issuer. The level 

of such fee will be notified to Securityholders by the Issuer on receipt of a request for 
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redemption. The Securities may also redeem compulsorily in certain circumstances, and 

the Issuer will give notice of such compulsory redemption. See “Redemption Events”. 

The Issuer may, at any time in its sole discretion, suspend the right to request subscriptions 

of any Series of Securities. 

Flow of funds: A prospective investor may buy and sell Securities in cash on the Relevant Stock Exchange 

(as defined in the Conditions) on which such Securities are admitted to trading, or in “over-

the-counter” transactions directly with Authorised Participants. To establish liquidity for the 

Securities, the Issuer enters into agreements with Authorised Participants in respect of the 

creation and redemption of the Securities. Any cash paid by a prospective investor in 

respect of these transactions is not received by the Issuer. Instead, such cash would be 

paid to the relevant Authorised Participant and the relevant Authorised Participant will 

deliver the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the Issuer’s account with the Custodian 

in an amount required under the Conditions and in accordance with the relevant Authorised 

Participant Agreement. 

Investors should be aware that the value of any Index-Linked Securities will not directly 

reflect the value of the relevant Index referenced by such Securities. Instead, the 

composition of the Coin Entitlement in respect of such Securities will track, to the extent 

reasonably practicable, the performance of the Cryptoassets comprising the relevant Index. 

The Coin Entitlement in respect of such Securities will adjust as the relevant Index is 

rebalanced but the value of the Securities is not otherwise dependent on the performance 

of the relevant Index. 

In certain circumstances, the Issuer may elect to accept cash applications from Authorised 

Participants or Securityholders, in which the Authorised Participants or Securityholders, will 

deliver cash to an account of the Issuer in an amount required under the Conditions and in 

accordance with the Authorised Participant Agreements (as applicable), which the Issuer 

will then apply to acquire the relevant Underlying Cryptoassets in an amount required under 

the Conditions. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer intends for all 

subscriptions (and redemptions) for any Series of Securities to be effected physically 

through delivery by the Authorised Participant (or to the Authorised Participant) of the 

relevant Underlying Cryptoasset. 

In circumstances where there are no Authorised Participants on a Business Day, the Issuer 

irrevocably undertakes to give a notice to confirm that Securityholders who are not 

Authorised Participants may request the redemption of Securities of a Series directly with 

the Issuer. The Issuer confirms that in these circumstances, Securityholders who are not 

Authorised Participants will be able to receive redemption via the Cash Redemption 

Procedures unless they opt for redemption via the Physical Redemption Procedures as 

detailed in the Conditions. 

Each Authorised Participant will be a reputable bank or financial services institution 

experienced in dealing in or brokering transactions in Cryptoassets or assets that are 

similar to Cryptoassets subject to the appropriate regulation to carry out such activity in: (i) 

the European Union; (ii) Jersey; (iii) the United Kingdom; and/or (iv) any other jurisdiction 

that is not a country or territory identified as presenting higher risks in the AML/CFT 

Handbook for regulated financial services business published by the Jersey Financial 

Services Commission from time to time (the “JFSC AML/CFT Handbook”). Should an 

Authorised Participant appointed by the Issuer be located in a jurisdiction that, following its 

appointment, becomes a country or territory identified as presenting higher risks in the 
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JFSC AML/CFT Handbook, the Issuer shall exercise its contractual rights to terminate the 

Authorised Participant's appointment as soon as practicable. 

The Issuer will then create the Securities and deliver them to the Authorised Participants 

via the Relevant Clearing System (such as CREST). The Issuer may charge the Authorised 

Participant fees in respect of the creation of Securities, as agreed between the Issuer and 

the Authorised Participant. The Authorised Participant may then sell the Securities on the 

Relevant Stock Exchange on which such Securities are admitted to trading, sell the 

Securities in “over-the-counter” transactions or hold the Securities. 

Prospective investors may be charged fees to purchase or sell any Securities, by 

Authorised Participants, intermediaries or brokers or by the Relevant Stock Exchange on 

which Securities are listed. Prospective investors should speak to their broker or 

intermediary and seek advice on the details of any such fees. 

Once issued, the relevant Underlying Cryptoassets (either delivered by the Authorised 

Participants or acquired by the Issuer) will be held with the Custodian as security for the 

Issuer’s obligations in respect of the Securities. 

A diagrammatic overview of the contractual structure and flow of funds is set out below: 

 

UNDERLYING CRYPTOASSETS 

Underlying 

Cryptoassets: 

The Securities will be linked to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

Where “Index-Linked Security” is specified as “Not Applicable” in the Final Terms, the 

Underlying Cryptoasset will be specified in such Final Terms (together with the initial Coin 

Entitlement). 

Where “Index-Linked Security” is specified as “Applicable” in the Final Terms, the name of 

the reference Index will be specified in such Final Terms. Each Index will reference one or 

more Cryptoassets. The value of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool in respect of such 

Securities which are Index-Linked Securities will be expressed as the Coin Entitlement 

which will track, to the extent reasonably practicable, the composition and weighting of 

the relevant Index. 

The Underlying Cryptoassets have characteristics whereby, taken together, they 

demonstrate a capacity to produce funds to service the Issuer’s obligations due under the 

Securities. 

CUSTODY AND SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS 
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Custody: The Underlying Cryptoassets in respect of a Series of Securities (including the Underlying 

Crypotoasset Pool in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities) will be held in safe 

custody by the Custodian in one or more segregated custody account(s) controlled and 

secured by the Custodian (the “Custody Account”). 

The Custody Account will be operated through an online portal provided by the Custodian 

and will be subject to the security granted to the Trustee in respect of the relevant Series 

of Securities. See “Security Arrangements” and “Custody Arrangements”. 

Staking: If supported by the Custodian in respect of an Underlying Cryptoasset, the Issuer may elect 

to stake or vote some or all of the Underlying Cryptoassets in respect of any Series of 

Securities by delivering an instruction to the Custodian. The Custodian will comply with any 

instruction from the Issuer to stake or vote that part of the Underlying Cryptoassets held in 

the Custody Account that is specified in the instruction received by the Custodian. The 

underlying blockchain shall transfer to the Issuer any rewards which may be payable in 

respect of such staking or voting, and the Issuer and Custodian may agree from time to 

time regarding fees payable to the Custodian in connection with such staking. The Issuer 

will adjust the individual Coin Entitlement in respect of the relevant Underlying Cryptoassets 

subject to staking to reflect the staking reward actually received by the Issuer with respect 

to such Underlying Cryptoassets. 

See the section headed “Custody Arrangements”. 

Security: The Issuer’s obligations in respect of each Series of Securities are secured over all of the 

Issuer’s rights, title and interest in respect of the Underlying Cryptoassets (including all 

property, income, sums or other assets derived therefrom), the relevant Custody 

Agreement, any bank accounts (present and future) maintained with any account bank or 

custodian opened in respect of such Series of Securities, any agreement (present or future) 

with any such account bank or custodian, and any sums relating to such Series of Securities 

standing to the credit thereof and all sums held by any Paying Agent and/or the Custodian 

(the “Transaction Security” and the assets subject to the Transaction Security being the 

“Secured Property”). There are no credit enhancements or liquidity support in relation to 

the Securities. 

The Transaction Security is granted in favour of the Trustee who holds the Secured 

Property on trust for itself, the Securityholders and the other parties to whom the Issuer 

owes obligations in relation to the Series of Securities (the “Secured Creditors”). 

For a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the Transaction Security over the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) being removed from the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool will be released to the 

extent required on a rebalancing of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool and the Transaction 

Security will apply to any new Cryptoasset(s) included in the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool 

(in addition to the remaining Cryptoasset(s) in the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool) on a 

rebalancing of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool. 

See the section headed “Security Arrangements”. 

Enforcement and 

order of priority: 

On the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may in its discretion (and shall if 

directed in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in number of the Securities of the 

relevant Series then outstanding or by an Extraordinary Resolution), in each case subject 

to being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction, enforce the 

Transaction Security. 

The Trustee shall hold the proceeds of enforcement of the Secured Property received by it 

under the Trust Deed on trust, and apply them: 
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• first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities, losses 

and other amounts due to the Trustee, any receiver or any Irish Receiver (as defined 

in the Conditions); 

• second, in or towards payment or satisfaction of the Redemption Amount to 

Securityholders; and 

• third, in payment of any balance to the Issuer for itself or as it may direct. 

See the sections headed “Security Arrangements” and “Sale and Transfer of the Underlying 

Cryptoassets, Enforcement of Security and Limited Recourse”. 

REDEMPTION 

Redemption 

Events: 

The Securities are perpetual and have no fixed maturity date. The Securities will only 

redeem on the occurrence of a Redemption Event. 

Optional Redemption 

The Securities may be redeemed by a Securityholder who is an Authorised Participant (or, 

where there are no Authorised Participants or where the Issuer notifies the Securityholders 

that such redemptions are permitted) by a Securityholder who is not an Authorised 

Participant, in each case by submitting a valid redemption order. 

If the Determination Agent determines that the market value of the Securities falls below a 

certain threshold value, the Issuer may suspend the right to request redemptions. 

Compulsory Redemption 

The Securities will be redeemed compulsorily on occurrence of any of the following events: 

• at the discretion of the Issuer on giving 30 calendar days’ notice to Securityholders; 

• on the insolvency of the Issuer; 

• in the absolute discretion of the Issuer where, following a written notice delivered by 

the Issuer to a Securityholder requiring that Securityholder to provide, within 10 

Business Days of such notice, an executed certificate and evidence satisfactory to 

the Issuer that such Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder; (i) that 

Securityholder certifies that it is a Prohibited Securityholder; or (ii) that 

Securityholder fails to provide an executed certificate in the form and manner 

required under the Conditions as to its status as a Prohibited Securityholder within 

10 Business Days from the date of the Issuer’s notice; 

• where it becomes illegal or impossible for the Issuer to issue or deal with the 

Securities or hold, or deal with, the Underlying Cryptoassets; or 

• following an Event of Default. 

See the section headed “Redemption Events”. 

Redemption 

Procedures: 

The redemption process depends on whether the Securities are redeemed in accordance 

with the Physical Redemption Procedures or the Cash Redemption Procedures. The 

Securities may be redeemed in accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures where 

the Issuer makes an announcement permitting such redemption or where there are no 

Authorised Participants, in each case in accordance with the Conditions. 

Physical Redemption Procedures 
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Where the Securities are redeemed in accordance with the Physical Redemption 

Procedures, the Issuer will instruct the Custodian to transfer an amount equal to the Coin 

Entitlement of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the account of the Securityholder via the 

relevant Authorised Participant. 

Cash Redemption Procedures 

Where the Securities are redeemed in accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures, 

the Issuer will arrange the sale of the Underlying Cryptoasset. The Issuer will then transfer 

an amount in the Base Currency equal to the Redemption Amount to the Securityholder 

through the Relevant Clearing System via the relevant Authorised Participant. 

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer intends that all Securities will be 

redeemed in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures. 

RETURN ON THE SECURITIES 

Redemption 

Amount: 

The amount an investor is entitled to on redemption is calculated by reference to the Coin 

Entitlement, which is a quantity of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) which each Securityholder is 

entitled to, minus certain costs and expenses known as Redemption Deductions. 

The initial Coin Entitlement is specified in the applicable Final Terms and reduces on a daily 

basis to take account of the per annum Arranger Fee charged by the Issuer. The 

Redemption Deductions reflects the necessary costs and expenses actually incurred by 

the Issuer in relation to the transfer or sale of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). The 

Redemption Deductions are expressed using the concept of the Coin Equivalent, which 

converts the amount of the costs and expenses incurred by the Issuer in fiat currency into 

the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

The form of an investor’s return on redemption will depend on whether the Securities are 

redeemed in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures or the Cash 

Redemption Procedures. 

Physical Redemption 

Where the Securities are subject to physical redemption, the Redemption Amount is 

calculated as the product of: (A)(i) the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Securities; and (ii) 

the number of Securities held by that Securityholder subject to redemption; minus (B) the 

Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions with respect to the Securityholder and the 

Securities of that Series held by that Securityholder. 

Cash Redemption 

Where the Securities are subject to cash redemption, the Redemption Amount is calculated 

as: (A) the quotient of (i) the net proceeds actually realised from the sale of an amount of 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) equal to the Coin Entitlement for such Series; divided by (ii) the 

proportion that the Securities of such Series held by that Securityholder that are subject to 

redemption bears to the total number of Securities of such Series subject to redemption; 

minus (B) the Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions for the Series subject to 

redemption. 

See the section headed “Economic overview of the Securities”, which includes worked 

examples of the return on the Securities in three hypothetical circumstances. 



 

General Description of the Programme 

 

 8  

 

LISTING AND OFFERING 

Listing Application may be made for Series of Securities to be admitted to the stock exchange 

specified in the applicable Final Terms (the “Relevant Stock Exchange”) during the 

maximum period of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus. 

There cannot be any guarantee that admission to listing or trading will be obtained or, if so 

obtained, will be maintained in respect of any Series of Securities. Nor can there be any 

guarantee that any Series of Securities will be admitted to a Relevant Stock Exchange upon 

issuance. 

Deutsche Börse Xetra (“Xetra”) is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 

2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial 

instruments (as amended, “MiFID II”). The Swedish FSA Approval specified on page (i) 

relates only to the Securities which are to be admitted to trading on Xetra or other regulated 

markets for the purposes of MiFID II and/or which are to be offered to the public in any 

Member State of the European Economic Area. 

References in this Base Prospectus to Securities being “listed” (and all related references) 

shall mean that such Securities have been admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock 

Exchange, unless specified otherwise in the applicable Final Terms. 

Each investor is hereby informed, and is deemed to have acknowledged and consented, 

that for Securities listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, including any Series of Securities 

issued under the Issuer’s Crypto ETP Programme, SIX Swiss Exchange, SIX Exchange 

Regulation, the Regulatory Board and/or any other competent regulatory body of the SIX 

Swiss Exchange may at the request of the Issuer or on its own initiative suspend the trading 

in the Securities, (i) if such suspension is deemed necessary in exceptional cases, in 

particular, in the event of suspected price manipulation, falsification of liquidity or criminal 

activities and/or (ii) if listing requirements that must be met continuously during the term of 

the Securities are no longer fulfilled, in particular if the custodian lacks or loses the 

authorisation required pursuant to Art. 14 para. 4 of the Additional Rules for the Listing of 

Exchange Traded Products. If trading in the Securities has been suspended for a 

continuous three-month period, the Securities will be delisted by the Regulatory Board of 

SIX Swiss Exchange, unless the reasons for the suspension ceased to exist. The SIX Swiss 

Exchange and/or its regulatory bodies accept no liability for damage or loss incurred in 

connection with the suspension of trading and delisting. 

Selling 

restrictions: 

Save for the approval of the Prospectus by the Swedish FSA which allows for a public 

offering of the Securities in Sweden and any notification of the approval to other EEA 

Member States in accordance with the EU Prospectus Regulation for the purposes of 

making a public offer in such Member States, and, if and when this Base Prospectus 

(together with any supplements hereto) is automatically recognised in accordance with 

article 54(2) of the Swiss Financial Services Act of 15 June 2018, as amended (the “FinSA”) 

by a review body within the meaning of article 52 of the FinSA (any such review body, a 

“Swiss Review Body”) as a base prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA, 

a public offering of Securities in Switzerland, no representation is made that any action has 

been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of any of the Securities, or 

possession or distribution of this Base Prospectus or any other offering material or any 

applicable Final Terms, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is 

required. 

Securities are not permitted to be sold to or purchased by persons resident in Jersey (other 

than financial institutions in the normal course of business). 
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Clearing and 

settlement: 

The Securities may be issued in registered form or uncertificated form as specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

The settlement of transactions in respect of the Securities will take place in CREST, 

Euroclear, Clearstream, Frankfurt, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other recognised 

clearing system in which Securities may be cleared (the “Relevant Clearing System”). 

The Relevant Clearing System for any Series of Securities will be specified in the applicable 

Final Terms. 

To the extent that settlement of transactions in the Securities takes place in CREST, a 

paperless multi-currency electronic settlement procedure enabling securities (including 

debt securities) to be evidenced otherwise than by written instrument, and transferring such 

Securities electronically with effective delivery versus payment, the Securities are 

participating securities. 

In the case of Index-Linked Securities, settlement cannot occur during a Rebalancing 

Period and will be postponed until the first Business Day after the end of the Rebalancing 

Period. 

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer intends that the Relevant Clearing 

System in respect of any Series of Securities will be CREST. 

OTHER TERMS 

Limited 

recourse: 

The Securities are limited recourse obligations of the Issuer. Each Series of Securities will 

be secured by a security interest created in favour of the Trustee over the assets allocated 

to a Series of Securities. If the proceeds of enforcement of the security interest in such 

assets are not sufficient to meet all of its obligations, debts or liabilities in respect of the 

Series of Securities, the Issuer’s obligations, debts or liabilities in respect of the Securities 

will be limited to those proceeds. No other assets of the Issuer nor any assets relating to 

any other Series will be available to meet any shortfall. 

See the section headed “Enforcement of Security and Limited Recourse Provisions”. 

Withholding tax: All payments and/or deliveries in respect of any Securities will be subject in all cases to any 

applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives, and will be made subject to any 

withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges 

of any nature (including pursuant to FATCA) that the Issuer or any Agent is required by 

Applicable Law to make. If any such withholding or deduction is required, no additional 

amounts will be paid by the Issuer or any Agent in respect of such withholding or deduction. 

Further issues: The Issuer may from time to time issue further Securities of a Series on the same terms as 

such existing Securities and on terms that such further Securities shall be consolidated and 

form a single series (and are therefore fungible) with the existing Securities of the Series. 

The Issuer may only issue further Securities of a particular Series on the basis that 

Securities of the same Series are fungible. 

Governing law: The Securities are governed by English law. 

Rating: Securities issued under the Programme are not expected to be rated. 
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RISK FACTORS 

Prospective investors in Securities should carefully consider the following information in conjunction with the other 

information contained in this Base Prospectus, any supplement to this Base Prospectus, the information contained 

in the documents set out in the sections entitled “Important Information” and “Conflicts of Interest”, as well as any 

Final Terms before purchasing any Securities. 

The assessment of materiality of each risk factor is based on the Issuer’s assessment (as of the date of this Base 

Prospectus) of the probability of its occurrence and the expectation of the magnitude of its adverse impact which 

are disclosed by rating the relevant risks as low, medium or high. Prospective investors should note that, in practice, 

any risk(s) may materialise and the magnitude of the associated impact may vary depending on the circumstances. 

The risk factors are presented in categories where the most material risk factors in a category is/are presented first 

under such category. Subsequent risk factors in the same category are not ranked in order of materiality or 

probability of occurrence. Where a risk factor may be categorised in more than one category, such risk factor 

appears only once and in the most relevant category for such risk factor. 

The following risk factors set out those factors that the Issuer believes: 

• represent the principal risks (including the market risks) inherent in investing in the Securities; 

• may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Securities; and/or 

• may be material (by reference to general criteria that are not particular to the specific circumstances of any 

individual prospective investor) for the purposes of investors making an informed investment decision in 

respect of the Securities. 

Investors should be aware that more than one risk factor may simultaneously affect with regard to the Securities, 

such that the effect of a particular risk factor may not be predictable. In addition, more than one risk factor may have 

a compounding effect which may not be predictable. No assurance can be given as to the effect that any 

combination of risk factors may have on the value of the Securities. Investors must be aware that they may lose 

substantially all of their investment in the Securities. 

For the purposes of these risk factors, references to "Securityholders" or "holders" of Securities should generally 

be read as including holders of beneficial interests in such Securities, except where the context otherwise requires. 

1. Risks relating to the Issuer 

1.1 The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle 

The only business of the Issuer is the issuance of Securities and the related purchase of the Underlying 

Cryptoassets and/or entering into related transactions. 

The Issuer will have no assets with which to make any payments under any Series of Securities or meet 

claims made against it other than the Secured Property in respect of that Series. 

Accordingly there are risks in investing in the Securities issued by the Issuer which differ from risks in 

investing in instruments issued by a trading entity with substantial assets and/or operations, as 

Securityholders take risk on the creditworthiness of the Issuer and the Issuer is solely reliant on the 

Underlying Cryptoassets to meet its obligations under the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 
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1.2 The Issuer is structured to be insolvency-remote, but it is not insolvency-proof 

The Issuer is structured to be insolvency-remote and will only contract (as provided for in the relevant Trust 

Deed) with parties who agree not to make any application for the commencement of winding-up or 

bankruptcy or similar proceedings against the Issuer. 

However, there is no assurance that all claims that arise against the Issuer will be on the basis that such 

action will not be taken, or that such contractual provisions will necessarily be respected in all jurisdictions, 

in particular where claims arise from third parties that have no direct contractual relationship with the Issuer 

or if the Issuer fails for any reason to comply with its contractual obligations (including the obligation only 

to contract on a “non-petition” basis). 

A creditor (including a contingent or prospective creditor) that has not accepted non-petition provisions in 

respect of the Issuer may be entitled to make an application for the commencement of insolvency 

proceedings against the Issuer. The commencement of such proceedings may entitle such a creditor to 

terminate contracts with the Issuer and claim damages for any loss suffered as a result of such termination. 

If the Securities remain outstanding at the time that any insolvency proceedings are commenced, this will 

constitute an Issuer Insolvency Event and lead to redemption of each Series of Securities and related 

enforcement actions. Such redemption may take place at a time when the price of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) is unfavourable to Securityholders. This may result in Securityholders receiving less, or 

substantially less, than they had anticipated in circumstances over which they have no control. 

Risk rating: Low 

1.3 The Issuer is operated by an administrator 

The Issuer has appointed and is operated by the Administrator in accordance with the Administration and 

Determination Agency Agreement. The Administrator is an independent, third party entity which has agreed 

to provide certain administrative, accounting and related services to the Issuer. The majority of the directors 

of the Issuer are employees of the Administrator. 

In addition to employees of the Administrator, one of the directors of the Issuer is an employee of the 

Arranger. Such director only has the duties and responsibilities expressly agreed in respect of such role 

and those imposed by law. The Arranger may enter into business dealings relating to the Securities or the 

Underlying Cryptoassets without any regard for the interests of Securityholders or any duty to account for 

such revenues or profits. See “Conflicts of Interest”. 

The operations of the Issuer may be adversely affected by the termination of the appointment of the 

Administrator, the insolvency or bankruptcy of the Administrator or any default, negligence or fraud on the 

part of the Administrator or any of its employees or agents. 

Risk rating: Medium 

1.4 The Issuer is subject to anti-money laundering legislation which, if violated, could materially and 

adversely affect the timing and amount of payments made by the Issuer 

The Issuer is subject to legislation and regulations relating to corrupt and illegal payments and money 

laundering (including tax evasion) as well as laws, sanctions and restrictions relating to certain individuals 

and countries. If the Issuer were determined by the relevant authorities to be in violation of any such 

legislation or regulations, it could become subject to significant penalties, including in certain cases criminal 

penalties. 

Any such violation could have a material and adverse effect on the timing and amount of payments or 

deliveries made by the Issuer to Securityholders in respect of the Securities. A breach of the relevant 

legislation in respect of one Series of Securities may affect the legal and regulatory treatment of all Series 

of Securities issued by the Issuer. This may ultimately lead to a compulsory redemption of the Securities 

at a time when the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may be unfavourable to Securityholders and at 
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a time over which Securityholders have no control. In circumstances where the Issuer has been found to 

be in violation of such legislation and regulations, the Custodian may suspend the Issuer’s access to the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and the Issuer may be unable to make any transfers of Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) in respect of its obligations under the Securities. Such events are likely to have a negative 

impact on the return on the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

2. Risks relating to the Securities 

2.1 The Issuer’s obligations are limited recourse 

The Securities are secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer. Payments or deliveries due in 

respect of any Series of Securities (including the Redemption Amount) will be made solely out of amounts 

received by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Secured Property relating to that Series. The 

Secured Property relating to any Series is constituted in the main of the Underlying Cryptoassets which 

may be subject to cryptographic key theft; compromise of login credentials; and distributed denial-of-

service (DDoS) attacks. 

If amounts received in respect of Secured Property are insufficient to make payments or deliveries in 

respect of the Securities, no other assets will be available to Securityholders and any outstanding claim 

against the Issuer will be extinguished. In such circumstances Securityholders may lose some or all of their 

investment. 

Risk rating: High 

2.2 Decisions made by written resolution of the Securityholders or by Extraordinary Resolution are 

binding on all Securityholders 

The Trust Deed contains provisions for calling meetings of Securityholders of each Series (including by 

ways other than physical meetings) to consider any matter affecting their interests, including obtaining 

written resolutions on matters relating to the Securities. A written resolution signed by or on behalf of the 

holders of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate number of the Securities of the relevant Series who 

for the time being are entitled to receive notice of a meeting in accordance with the Trust Deed shall be 

deemed to be an Extraordinary Resolution. 

In certain circumstances, the Issuer and the Trustee will also be entitled to rely upon approval of a 

resolution given by way of electronic consents communicated through the relevant clearing system. 

A written resolution or an electronic consent described above may be obtained in connection with any 

matter affecting the interests of Securityholders. 

These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Securityholders, including Securityholders who did 

not attend and vote at the relevant meeting or in respect of the relevant resolution and Securityholders who 

voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

The interests of the Securityholders forming the required majority may not coincide with those of other 

Securityholders and, accordingly, a Securityholder may be adversely affected by a decision made or action 

taken by other Securityholders without its consent. 

Risk rating: High 

2.3 Directions from certain minorities of Securityholders will bind all Securityholders 

If an Issuer Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing, following a direction in writing by holders of 

not less than 25 per cent. in number of the Securities of the relevant Series then outstanding, the Trustee 

will give notice to the Issuer and the Securityholders that all the Securities outstanding will be redeemed. 

Upon the occurrence of an Issuer Insolvency Event the Transaction Security in respect of such Series of 
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Securities will become enforceable. At any time after the Transaction Security has become enforceable, 

the Trustee will, if so directed in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in number of the Securities of 

the relevant Series then outstanding, enforce the Transaction Security. 

Any such action taken by the Trustee to enforce the Transaction Security shall be binding on all 

Securityholders, even those that did not so direct the Trustee. 

The interests of particular Securityholders who direct the Trustee as such may not coincide with (and may 

not be in the bests interest of) those of other Securityholders. The majority required to enforce the security 

is also lower than 50 per cent., meaning that the Transaction Security may be enforced even if only a 

minority of the Securityholders of a Series direct the Trustee accordingly, and all other Securityholders of 

that Series will be bound by that direction. 

Risk rating: Medium 

2.4 The Trustee may, in certain circumstances, agree to modifications, waivers and the substitution of 
the Issuer without the consent of the Securityholders 

The Trustee may, in certain circumstances and without the consent of Securityholders, agree to: 

• modifications to any of the Conditions and any of the provisions of the Transaction Documents 

made pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements set out in Condition 21.5 (FATCA and 

similar information); 

• any modification of any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the Transaction Documents 

that is in its opinion of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error; 

• any other modification, and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of any 

of the Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed and/or the Transaction Documents that is, 

in the opinion of the Trustee, not materially prejudicial to the interests of any Series of 

Securityholders; and 

• the substitution of another issuer as principal debtor under the Securities in place of the Issuer 

and a change of the law from time to time governing the Securities, the Trust Deed and/or the 

Transaction Documents in connection therewith (provided that the Trustee is provided with certain 

information and certain conditions are met) pursuant to Condition 22.4 (Issuer Substitution). 

Furthermore, the Trustee may, in certain circumstances and without the consent of Securityholders, 

determine that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default shall not be treated as such. 

The actions of the Trustee described above may result in changes to the Conditions of a Series of 

Securities and/or the Transaction Documents or may result in the Securities not being redeemed following 

an Event of Default when they may otherwise have been redeemed. These actions may have a material 

adverse effect on the value of the Securities and, in circumstances where the Trustee determines that an 

Event of Default shall not be treated as such, may result in Securityholders receiving an amount on 

redemption which may be less, or substantially less, than they had anticipated in circumstances over which 

the Securityholders have no control. 

Risk rating: Medium 

2.5 Any system failures, IT disruption or cyber-attacks may affect the Securities 

Any payments, transfers, determinations or any other actions with respect to the Securities may need to 

be processed, arranged or made by the relevant clearing system, the Relevant Stock Exchange on which 

the Securities are admitted to trading, the Issuer and its software systems (including any systems 

established with Authorised Participants for the subscription and redemption of Securities) or any of the 

other Transaction Parties. If any computer or communications systems, any market infrastructure provider 

or custodian and their related arrangements were to experience any system failures, crashes, cyber-
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attacks, infections with malicious software or any other types of disruption or a force majeure event, that 

may have an adverse effect on the ability of the relevant parties to make or process the relevant payments, 

arrange any relevant transfers or deliveries, carry out any determinations or take any other actions that 

may be required under the terms of the Securities. This is particularly relevant given the nature of the 

Underlying Cryptoassets, as is further set out in paragraphs 4.5 (Blockchain risks) and 4.9 (Hacking) below. 

The Issuer, being a special purpose vehicle, is particularly dependent on the systems of transaction 

participants to ensure that payments are made in respect of the Securities. A failure on the part of any of 

the transaction participants (as well as the Issuer itself) may have a significant adverse effect on payments, 

transfers or deliveries under the Securities and may result in such payments, transfers and/or deliveries 

being delayed or, potentially, not received at all. 

Risk rating: High 

2.6 Disruption and suspension 

On the occurrence of certain disruption events as set out in Condition 12 (Disruption and Suspension), the 

Issuer may suspend or postpone any request for subscriptions or redemption of Securities. Disruption 

Events include: 

• the Determination Agent determining that the prevailing market value of the Coin Entitlement is 

less than 100 per cent. of the principal amount of the Security; 

• trading and/or settlement in the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is suspended or limited or any 

primary trading venue on which such Underlying Cryptoasset trades is not open or has 

permanently discontinued; 

• in the case of Index-Linked Securities, a cancellation or disruption affecting the relevant Index or 

a modification to the methodology for calculating such Index, or any other event which results in 

the Issuer being unable to publish the Coin Entitlement in respect of a Series of Index-Linked 

Securities; 

• resignation of all Custodian(s) in respect of the relevant Series of Securities without a replacement 

having been appointed; and/or; 

• the Secured Property in respect of a Series of Securities having been lost or is inaccessible; 

and/or 

• in respect of subscriptions only, at any time in the sole discretion of the Issuer. 

During the period that redemption of Securities is suspended, the market value of the relevant Underlying 

Cryptoassets (and therefore the market value of the Securities) may decrease significantly at a time when 

Securityholders may be unable to react. This may result in Securityholders receiving less, or significantly 

less, than they would have received had the Disruption Event not occurred. 

Risk rating: High 

2.7 Tracking error or tracking difference 

If a Security tracks or replicates an Index or price, the application of fees and other adjustments may cause 

the change in the price per Security for any given period of time to differ from the change in the relevant 

Index or price. For example, as detailed further in Risk Factor 2.8 below, slippage and execution costs 

could cause such a difference to occur. As a result, an investor may find that the return they achieve from 

an investment in Index-Linked Securities is less than the return they would have achieved from an 

investment in the assets underlying the Index or in another asset. 

Risk rating: High 
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2.8 Suspension of trading and termination of listing 

The Relevant Stock Exchange where the Securities are listed and/or the relevant regulatory body may at 

any time, in their sole and absolute discretion, elect to temporarily suspend trading at the request of the 

Issuer or on their own initiative if this is deemed necessary in exceptional circumstances, in particular in 

the event of suspected price manipulation, falsification of liquidity or criminal activity. The Relevant Stock 

Exchange where the Securities are listed may also order a suspension in trading if the ongoing listing 

requirements are no longer fulfilled. 

In the event of a suspension of trading, Securityholders may be unable to buy or sell their Securities on 

the Relevant Stock Exchange for the duration of the suspension. If the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset 

were to increase during the suspension period, Securityholders may be unable to sell their Securities to 

realise this gain. Conversely, if the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset were to decrease during the 

suspension period, Securityholders may be unable to sell their Securities to limit their losses. During a 

suspension, it may be difficult for Securityholders to determine the fair value of their holdings, despite the 

continued publication of the Coin Entitlement. Subject to listing requirements of the Relevant Stock 

Exchange, the Securities may be delisted from such Relevant Stock Exchange, unless the reasons for the 

suspension ceased to exist. 

If Securities remain suspended or are delisted from the Relevant Stock Exchange, Securityholders would 

still retain their Coin Entitlement. However, there is no guarantee that trading will resume within a specified 

timeframe or at all. In the event of prolonged suspension or delisting of the Securities, investors may only 

be able to realise value through alternative means, which may be less efficient or result in further losses. 

Risk rating: High 

2.9 Slippage and Execution Costs 

The reference price of an Underlying Cryptoasset may deviate from the price at which the Issuer is able to 

purchase or dispose of that Underlying Cryptoasset which may negatively affect the profits from the sale 

of that Underlying Cryptoasset on redemptions or creations of the relevant Securities. In such 

circumstances. Securityholders may lose some or all of their investment. 

Prospective investors in Index-Linked Securities should also be aware that a Rebalancing may require the 

Issuer to purchase one or more Cryptoassets for the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool or dispose of one or 

more Cryptoassets from the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool from time to time in certain circumstances. The 

price at which the Issuer is able to do so and any transaction costs will impact the aggregate Coin 

Entitlement for a Series of Index-Linked Securities. This may result in the composition and weighting of 

the Cryptoassets in the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool being different to the composition and weighting of 

the Cryptoassets in the Index, thereby increasing tracking error or difference. An investment in a class of 

Index-Linked Securities is not therefore the same as an investment in the Cryptoassets in the Index itself. 

Risk rating: High 

2.10 Secondary Market Price Risk 

From time to time, the market price at which the Securities trade on the relevant stock exchange may not 

accurately reflect the Coin Entitlement. The creation and redemption procedures for the Securities, 

facilitated by Authorised Participants and market makers, are designed to minimise any potential deviations 

between the market price and the Coin Entitlement. However, these procedures cannot fully eliminate the 

risk of such discrepancies. 

The market price per Security is primarily driven by supply and demand dynamics in the secondary market, 

as well as the bid/offer spread that market makers are willing to quote for the Securities. As a result, 

investors may buy or sell Securities at a price higher or lower than the Coin Entitlement. Consequently, 

Securityholders may pay more or less than the market value of the underlying Cryptoassets when 
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purchasing Securities on the secondary market. Similarly, Securityholders may receive more or less than 

the market value of the underlying Cryptoassets when selling Securities on the secondary market. 

Although the creation and redemption process seeks to provide liquidity and alignment between the market 

price and the underlying Cryptoasset, there are factors that may impact this process, including the number 

of Authorised Participants active in the market. Authorised Participants are not obligated to make markets 

in the Securities and may choose to limit or cease their market-making activities. A reduced number of 

active Authorised Participants could result in lower liquidity, potentially leading to wider bid/offer spreads 

and less efficient price discovery. This could, in turn, negatively affect the market price of the Security, 

creating further risk for investors. 

Risk rating: High 

3. Risks relating to redemption and enforcement 

3.1 Issuer termination 

The Issuer may, upon giving 30 calendar days’ notice, at any time in its discretion, elect to determine that 

any or all Securities are to be redeemed. In such event, the Issuer will apply for the trading of such 

Securities on the Relevant Stock Exchange on which such Securities are admitted to trading to be 

suspended or cancelled and will notify the Securityholders on the date on which such trading will be so 

suspended or cancelled. In such event, this is likely to limit the liquidity of the Securities and 

Securityholders may be unable to trade in their Securities. During this period, the market value of the 

relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may decrease significantly, which would have a negative impact on the 

market value of the Securities. The occurrence of such event could also lead to Securityholders receiving 

the Redemption Amount at a time where the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may be unfavourable, 

which will mean Securityholders will receive an amount which may be less than they had anticipated in 

circumstances over which the Securityholders have no control. 

Following a redemption of the Securities following an Issuer termination, Securityholders may not be able 

to reinvest the proceeds in a way that generates a level of return as high as that on the Securities and may 

only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate of return. Prospective investors in the Securities should 

consider such reinvestment risk in light of other investments that are available to them. 

Risk rating: High 

3.2 Prohibited Securityholders 

The Issuer may, at any time without any requirement to state a reason, give notice to a Securityholder 

requiring that Securityholder to provide an executed certificate (together with evidence satisfactory to the 

Issuer, acting reasonably) confirming that the Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder. 

The Issuer may redeem the Securities if: (a) following delivery of such notice, that Securityholder (i) 

certified that it is a Prohibited Securityholder; or (ii) failed to provide an executed certificate in the form and 

manner required under the Conditions; or (b) at any time the Issuer considers (in its sole discretion): (i) 

that the Securities are or may be owned or held directly or beneficially by any person in breach of any law 

or requirement of any country or by virtue of which such person is not qualified to own those Securities; or 

(ii) that the ownership or holding or continued ownership or holding of those Securities (whether on its own 

or in conjunction with any other circumstance appearing to the Issuer to be relevant) would, in the 

reasonable opinion of the Issuer, cause a pecuniary or tax disadvantage to the Issuer or any other 

Securityholders which it or they might not otherwise have suffered or incurred and/or expose any 

Transaction Party to a risk of violation of any law or regulation. 

If any Securityholder certifies that it is a Prohibited Securityholder, fails to respond to the Issuer’s notice or 

fails to provide evidence satisfactory to the Issuer (or provides such evidence after the time required), or 

the Issuer consider the Securities are being held in breach of the circumstances in (b) above, then the 

Securities will be redeemed. The Securities may redeem at a time which is disadvantageous to the 
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Securityholder, when the market value of the Underlying Cryptoassets (and therefore the Securities) is 

lower than may have been the case had the Securityholder sold its Securities on the Relevant Stock 

Exchange. This may result in the Securityholder receiving less, or substantially less, than it may have 

otherwise received. 

Risk rating: Medium 

3.3 Illegality or impossibility 

In certain circumstances the Issuer may (acting reasonably) determine that it has become illegal or 

impossible to issue or hold the Securities or hold or deal with the Underlying Cryptoassets. Such 

circumstances may arise from the following scenarios (without limitation): 

• new laws or regulations may be enacted that prohibit or severely restrict the issuance, holding or 

trading of the Underlying Cryptoassets, or the Securities linked to them. This could occur due to 

changes in financial regulations, anti-money laundering laws or sanctions imposed by governmental 

authorities; 

• trading venues or exchanges may impose restrictions or bans on the trading of the Underlying 

Cryptoassets, or on securities backed by these Cryptoassets, due to concerns about market stability, 

fraud or security breaches; 

• significant disruptions or failures in the blockchain technology underlying the Underlying Cryptoassets 

could render it impossible to hold or transact these Cryptoassets, which could adversely affect the 

ability to issue or redeem the Securities linked to them; and/or 

• if custodians are unable to securely hold the Underlying Cryptoassets due to security breaches or 

any other reasons, it may become impossible to maintain the security package backing the Securities. 

If the Issuer makes such a determination, a Compulsory Redemption Event will occur and the Securities 

will be redeemed at the Compulsory Redemption Amount. The Issuer could make such a determination at 

a time when the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is unfavourable, which will mean Securityholders 

will receive an amount on redemption which may be less, or substantially less, than they had anticipated 

in circumstances over which the Securityholders have no control. In some instances, Securityholders may 

suffer either total or partial loss of their investment in the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

3.4 Settlement Date 

On compulsory redemption of the Securities, the redemption will settle on the Compulsory Redemption 

Settlement Date, being the Payment Business Day following the date on which the Issuer instructs for the 

transfer or sale of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). The Conditions give the Issuer (acting reasonably) 

discretion to determine that the Settlement Date may be any other date to facilitate an orderly redemption 

of the relevant Series of Securities. 

The risk of delayed settlement is more prevalent than with securities linked to traditional assets, given the 

security measures involved with the store and transfer of Underlying Cryptoasset(s), whereby the transfer 

of large amounts of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) from cold storage and/or between Custodians 

may lead to delays. 

Where the Settlement Date of a Series of Securities is delayed, this will result in Securityholders receiving 

the Redemption Amount later than they expected to. Any delay in the settlement of the Securities may 

mean the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may be less (or significantly less) than if the Securities 

had redeemed earlier. 

Risk rating: Medium 
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3.5 There may be adverse consequences of the occurrence of a Redemption Event and the liquidation 
of the Underlying Cryptoassets 

The Securities may be redeemed as a result of a Redemption Event. Where the Physical Redemption 

Procedures apply, the Redemption Amount will be calculated by reference to the Coin Entitlement for the 

relevant Series of Securities. Where the Cash Redemption Procedures apply, the Redemption Amount will 

be calculated by reference to the net proceeds actually realised from the sale of the Underlying 

Cryptoassets. Securityholders will therefore be exposed to the market value of the Underlying Cryptoassets 

at the time of redemption and the ability of the Issuer to arrange a transfer or sale of the Underlying 

Cryptoassets. 

The timing and method of transfer or liquidation of the Underlying Cryptoassets may materially affect the 

value or price obtained in respect of the Underlying Cryptoassets, which in turn will impact the Redemption 

Amount received by Securityholders. 

If the Issuer is subject to an Issuer Insolvency Event this may limit the Issuer’s ability to transfer or liquidate 

the Underlying Cryptoassets in accordance with applicable legal and regulatory provisions. This may result 

in delay in transferring or realising the Underlying Cryptoassets, may impact the value of, or price obtained 

for, the Underlying Cryptoassets and/or may require the Securityholders to indemnify or meet the costs of 

the administrator (or equivalent) managing the insolvency of the Issuer. These factors will, in turn, impact 

the Redemption Amount payable to Securityholders. 

See the section headed “Transfer and Sale of the Underlying Cryptoassets and Limited Recourse 

provisions”. 

Risk rating: Medium 

3.6 Redemption Deductions 

The Redemption Amount payable to Securityholders on redemption of a Series of Securityholders deducts 

certain costs and expenses defined in the Conditions as “Redemption Deductions”. These costs include, 

without limitation, costs in relation to the transfer or sale of Underlying Cryptoassets, banking or custody 

fees incurred in the transfer of Underlying Cryptoassets, currency conversion fees, fees payable to the 

relevant blockchain network on which the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) operates to record its transfer and 

any withholding or deduction on account of tax. The amount of Redemption Deductions deducted will be 

notified to Securityholders on redemption. 

In addition, where Securityholders who are not Authorised Participants elect to redeem Securities directly 

with the Issuer following a notification from the Issuer, a Redemption Fee is payable. The level of such fee 

will be notified to Securityholders by the Issuer on receipt of a request for redemption. 

Prospective investors should note that the deduction of the Redemption Deductions may mean that the 

amount received by Securityholders on redemption will be less than the Coin Entitlement in respect of such 

Series of Securities. This may mean that Securityholders receive less than they had expected on 

redemption, which may be less than their initial investment even in circumstances when the price of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) has increased during the life of the Series of Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

3.7 Payments to Securityholders are subordinated to the claims of other Secured Creditors 

The rights of the Securityholders to be paid the Redemption Amount under the Securities on enforcement 

of the Transaction Security are subordinate to the claims of the Trustee, any Irish Receiver or any 

receiver(s) under or pursuant to the Trust Deed or any Security Document, including, without limitation, 

any Taxes required to be paid and any fees, costs, charges and expenses. 

As a result, funds available to the Issuer in connection with the Securities will be applied to satisfy such 

senior ranking payments before the Redemption Amount is paid to Securityholders. 
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If the Issuer has insufficient funds available after satisfying higher ranking claims described above, the 

Redemption Amount payable to Securityholders will be reduced and Securityholders will lose some, and 

potentially all, of their investment. 

Risk rating: Medium 

3.8 Only the Trustee may enforce the Transaction Security 

Securityholders are not permitted to enforce the Transaction Security. Only the Trustee may enforce the 

Transaction Security in accordance with, and subject to, the terms of the Trust Deed. The Trustee will be 

required to enforce the Transaction Security if so directed by the holders of at least 25 per cent. in number 

of the Securities of the relevant Series then outstanding or by an Extraordinary Resolution (a copy of which 

has been provided to the Trustee), in each case subject to the Trustee being pre-funded and/or secured 

and/or indemnified to its satisfaction. In such case, individual Securityholders are dependent on the Trustee 

and requisite Securityholder majorities before the Transaction Security can be enforced. 

The interests of particular Securityholders who request or direct the enforcement of the Transaction 

Security may not coincide with (and may not be in the bests interest of) those of other Securityholders. The 

majority required to enforce the Transaction Security is also lower than 50%, meaning that the Transaction 

Security may be enforced even if only a minority of the Securityholders of a Series direct the Trustee 

accordingly, and all other Securityholders of that Series will be bound by that direction. 

Risk rating: Medium 

3.9 Securityholders have no right to take action against the Issuer 

The Securityholders are not entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer in relation to any breach of the 

terms of the Trust Deed or the Securities. The Securityholders are therefore dependent on the Trustee to 

proceed against the Issuer. Only in very limited circumstances can Securityholders take such action, 

namely where the Trustee, having become bound to proceed in accordance with the terms of the Trust 

Deed, fails, or is unable, to do so within a reasonable period of time and such failure or inability is 

continuing. 

Risk rating: Low 

3.10 Securityholders are responsible for Trustee indemnity and funding of Trustee enforcement action 

Prior to taking any action in respect of the Securities, the Trustee may require to be indemnified and/or 

secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. If the Trustee is not so indemnified and/or secured and/or 

pre-funded it may decide not to take such action. Such inaction will not constitute a breach by it of its 

obligations under the Trust Deed. 

Securityholders should therefore be prepared to bear the costs associated with any such indemnity and/or 

security and/or pre-funding or be prepared to accept the consequences of any such inaction by the Trustee. 

Any such inaction by the Trustee shall not entitle Securityholders to take action against the Issuer or the 

Trustee for any breach of the Trust Deed, the Transaction Documents and/or the Securities by the Issuer. 

As a result, Securityholders may have to incur additional costs and expenses (which may be substantial) 

in order to realise some or all of their investment in the Securities. 

Risk rating: Low 

3.11 Perfection and priority of the Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement 

Under Luxembourg law, the enforceability and ranking of a pledge over financial collateral requires 

compliance with the Luxembourg law of 5 August 2005 on financial collateral arrangements, as amended 

(the “Collateral Law”). While the relevant perfection formalities (including notice to and acknowledgement 

by the account bank/custodian, appropriate identification of the pledged assets and accounts, internal 
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tagging/flagging, and implementation of contractual waivers of set off, banker’s lien and retention rights) 

are intentionally streamlined under the Collateral Law, the scope and identification of pledged assets and 

accounts, account-bank acknowledgments, internal flags, collection mechanics, and any contractual 

waivers of set-off must be properly implemented. Until all perfection steps are completed for each new 

Custody Account in Luxembourg (and, where applicable, related sub-accounts or securities accounts), 

there is a risk that the pledge is not fully effective against third parties or that its priority could be challenged. 

If such risks materialise, Securityholders may receive less than the amounts they expect, and may 

experience delays or reductions in enforcement proceeds.  

The effectiveness of set-off waivers and no-lien provisions vis-à-vis the Custodian in Luxembourg and 

account banks depends on proper contractual implementation and, where relevant, acknowledgment. If 

waivers are not obtained or are limited, assets standing to the credit of the relevant Custody Accounts in 

Luxembourg could be subject to set-off or banker’s lien, reducing the available Underlying Cryptoassets. 

This may adversely affect enforcement recoveries and could result in Securityholders incurring a financial 

loss.  

Risk Rating: Medium 

3.12 Enforcement mechanics and valuation outcomes in connection with the Luxembourg Account 

Pledge Agreement 

On an Event of Default, enforcement under the Collateral Law may occur by contractually agreed methods 

(e.g., appropriation or private sale) without court intervention, subject to the agreed valuation methodology. 

While this framework is designed for speed and certainty, enforcement may occur during market stress, 

potentially resulting in lower realisation values than would be achieved in a more prolonged disposal. If the 

valuation mechanics or collateral descriptions are challenged (including by other creditors), recoveries 

could be delayed or reduced. Consequently, Securityholders may receive less than the amount they expect 

upon enforcement, and may suffer a partial or total loss of their investment, depending on prevailing market 

conditions at the time of enforcement.  

Risk Rating: Medium 

3.13 Risk of incomplete releases and residual liens at legacy custodians 

The Issuer has transferred its existing custody arrangements to the Custodian located in Luxembourg, 

which will hold the relevant Custody Accounts to be pledged in favour of the Secured Creditors under the 

applicable Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement. As part of this process, a number of operational and 

legal steps may be required to ensure the full effectiveness of such transfer, including (i) the release of any 

rights or interests held by prior custodians or account banks, (ii) the assumption of custody arrangements 

by the Luxembourg Custodian, and (iii) the proper perfection of the relevant Luxembourg law governed 

pledge. Completion of these steps may depend on the effectiveness of any releases, waivers or 

acknowledgments required to eliminate liens, banker’s or custodian’s rights, charges, set off or retention 

rights previously held by legacy custodians or account banks. Where any such releases are delayed, 

defective or conditional, residual rights or interests may survive the transfer or novation of custody 

arrangements, in whole or in part. Any surviving rights or encumbrances may adversely affect the Secured 

Property, including by impeding transfers, settlements or enforcement in respect of the Custody Accounts. 

If an enforcement action occurs before all such rights or encumbrances have been fully released, 

recoveries for Securityholders may be reduced due to the existence of prior or competing interests. As a 

result, Securityholders may receive materially less than the amounts they expect or suffer losses on their 

investment.  

Risk Rating: Medium 
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4. Risks relating to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

4.1 Securityholders exposed to the value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

The Issuer’s rights in respect of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for each Series of Securities form part of 

the security package in respect of that Series. The Securityholders (together with certain other creditors of 

the Issuer) will have recourse to the security package if the Securities are redeemed. Accordingly, 

Securityholders are exposed to the value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

The Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may be subject to significant price volatility and have been subject to 

periods of volatility in the past. The Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are not backed by a central bank, a national 

or international organisation, assets or other forms of credit, although in some specific cases may be 

backed to an extent by physical assets. They may have no inherent value; in most cases, the price of 

Cryptoassets is entirely dependent on the value that market participants place on them, meaning that any 

increase or loss of confidence in digital assets may affect their value. Prices may be affected by a wide 

range of factors, including but not limited to the following: 

• level of world-wide growth in the adoption and use of Cryptoassets as well as global expectations of 

their future use and adoption of Cryptoassets vary significantly, making their value highly speculative; 

• protocol specific Cryptoassets may be limited or have no utility and are valued based on speculation 

of functionalities that could be added in the future. There are no guarantees that a Cryptoasset’s utility 

will increase and changes in sentiment on a Cryptoasset or changes in the Cryptoassets development 

roadmap may cause a fall in value of the Cryptoasset; 

• level of supply of Cryptoassets versus level of demand; 

• investment and trading activities of market participants; general movements in local and international 

markets and factors that affect the investment climate and investor sentiment could all impact trading 

levels and the market price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and/or the Securities which may lead to 

a decrease in the value of some or all Securities having an adverse result on an investor holding the 

relevant Securities; 

• use of Cryptoassets in the retail and commercial marketplace is limited and significant speculative 

trading activity may lead to price distortion and volatility; 

• inflation, interest rates, governmental monetary policies, trade restrictions, currency devaluations and 

revaluations; and global or regional, political, economic or financial events and situations; 

• ability to convert the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) into fiat currencies such as USD, EUR or GBP, and 

associated currency exchange rates; 

• regulation of Cryptoassets, networks, platforms and trading venues and restrictions on the right to 

acquire, own, hold, sell, use or exchange Cryptoassets; 

• manipulative trading on trading venues, which are largely unregulated or less regulated than 

traditional financial instrument markets; 

• the price and demand of competing Cryptoassets, including Cryptoassets issued by central banks or 

Cryptoassets which are pegged to a fiat currency, such as USD (so called ‘stablecoins’); 

• continuous trading of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), as the market is accessible 24 hours, 7 days a 

week, 365 days a year; 

• liquidity of Cryptoassets markets, which can at times be limited; the liquidity of the Securities is based 

upon the liquidity status of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) which can fluctuate over the course 

of the term of the Securities. A reduction in the liquidity of an Underlying Cryptoasset may limit an 

investor’s ability to transact in the Securities; 
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• fraud, security breaches or cyber-attacks affecting, or the failure of, the underlying blockchain 

technology, networks, platforms and trading venues; and 

• governance voting may result in changes in a Cryptoasset’s supply as well as a protocol’s 

functionalities, which may affect the price of the Cryptoasset. 

The Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may also be subject to momentum pricing due to speculation regarding 

future appreciation in value, leading to greater volatility. Momentum pricing typically is associated with 

growth stocks and other assets whose valuation, as determined by the investing public, accounts for future 

appreciation in value, if any. It is possible that momentum pricing has resulted, and may continue to result, 

in speculation regarding future appreciation in the value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), making prices 

more volatile. In addition, the price of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may suffer increased volatility resulting 

from the statements and actions of individuals in the Cryptoasset(s) and broader technology community, 

filings by companies and/or social media statements by prominent individuals, each of which have in the 

past (and may in the future) have an impact on the price of Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

As a result, the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may be more likely to fluctuate in value due to changing investor 

confidence and the actions of one or more companies or individuals, which could impact future appreciation 

or depreciation in prices. 

There is no assurance that the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will maintain their long-term value or become 

more widely adopted as a form of currency. On the contrary, they may cease to be used altogether. In 

addition, the reference price of an Underlying Cryptoasset on one market or trading venue may differ from 

the price at which the Issuer is able to purchase or dispose of that Underlying Cryptoasset. The venues on 

which the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are traded are largely unregulated or under-regulated, meaning they 

are subject to additional risks and the reference price of the Underlying Cryptoasset on such venues may 

not accurately represent the value of such Underlying Cryptoasset (see paragraph 4.7 (Trading venue 

risks)). This may result in a Securityholder receiving less, or substantially less, than if they had purchased 

the Underlying Cryptoasset directly from such market or trading venue. 

In respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the Issuer intends to use the determination agent for the 

relevant Index (as specified in the Final Terms) to provide an indicative monetary value as a reference for 

the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

In the event that the prices of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) decline, the Securities of any Series may be 

worth less than investors’ initial investment. 

Risk rating: High 

4.2 Price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may be affected by competing Cryptoasset(s) 

In addition to the risks outlined in paragraph 4.1 (Securityholders exposed to the value of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s)), the value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may also be impacted by the price, volatility 

and risks of other, competing Cryptoasset(s). 

This may include exposure to Cryptoasset(s) designed to have a stable value over time as compared to 

typically volatile Cryptoassets, and are typically marketed as being pegged to a fiat currency, such as the 

U.S. dollar (so called “stablecoins”). Although the prices of stablecoins are intended to be stable, in many 

cases their prices fluctuate, sometimes significantly, and this fluctuation may impact the price of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s). This may also include Cryptoassets issued by central banks as a digital form 

of legal tender, which could have an advantage in competing with (or replace) other forms of Cryptoassets. 

In addition, promoters of other, competing Cryptoassets may claim that those Cryptoassets have solved 

certain purported drawbacks to Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (for example, in the case of Bitcoin, faster 

settlement times). 

Advantages of central bank Cryptoassets (or purported advantages of competing Cryptoassets), volatility 

in competing stablecoins, operational issues with stablecoins (for example, technical issues that prevent 
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settlement), concerns about the sufficiency of any reserves that support stablecoins, or regulatory 

concerns about stablecoin issuers or intermediaries, such as trading venues, that support stablecoins, 

could impact the willingness of participants to trade on venues which rely on stablecoins or result in 

participants favouring such competing Cryptoasset(s), each of which could impact the price of Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) and, in turn, an investment in the Securities. 

Risk rating: High 

4.3 Storage risk 

Cryptoassets may be permissioned or permissionless. 

A private ('permissioned') ledger restricts and pre-defines the scope of validators, with the validating 

entities known to the users. On a permissionless ledger, there may be less control of technology and on a 

permissioned ledger there may be a small group of validators with greater control. 

Permissionless Cryptoassets are “decentralised” – they exist on a public ledger that contains immutable 

records of transactions and is distributed amongst a network of users. The validation of transactions can 

be done by any participating agent, or distributed among several agents or intermediaries, which could be 

unknown to the users. 

Public ledgers are transparent and can be viewed by any individual. However, the control and transfer of 

Cryptoassets can only be effected by the possessor of unique private keys relating to the relevant 

addresses or wallets in which the Cryptoassets are held. In the context of Cryptoassets, a wallet is a digital 

tool that allows users to securely store, send, and receive Cryptoassets. 

If the private key is lost, destroyed or otherwise compromised and no backup is accessible, the 

Cryptoasset(s) held in the related wallet will be inaccessible, and the private key will not be capable of 

being restored. The loss or destruction of a private key may be irreversible. Any loss of private keys relating 

to wallets used to store the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) could result in the total loss of the Cryptoasset(s). 

Furthermore, if a third party gains access to those keys, that third party may use the keys to transfer the 

asset to themselves. A large-scale cyber-attack could leave the Issuer unable to access or recover funds. 

The risk of loss due to losses of private keys or similar methodologies of secure access is generally greater 

for Cryptoassets than that of other asset classes given their nature and the variations in the sophistication 

of access methodologies. The Issuer will mitigate against this risk by partnering with a specialised, 

experienced Cryptoasset custodian, however this will not eliminate the risk of loss. 

Any loss of private keys relating to the digital wallets used to store the Underlying Cryptoassets would 

adversely affect the price in the Underlying Cryptoassets and in turn the price of the Securities. In the event 

of a loss or destruction of a private key, Securityholders may suffer a total loss of their investment in the 

Securities linked to the Underlying Cryptoassets. 

In addition, the Issuer is permitted to engage with proof-of-stake activity in respect of one or more 

Cryptoassets and, as a result, the relevant Cryptoasset(s) will be exposed to technology risk, slashing risk 

and counterparty risk from the custodian (to the extent that such Cryptoasset(s) is held in a non-segregated 

account for purposes of staking arrangements). Please also refer to 5.6 (Loss relating to Staking) on page 

30 for additional details. 

Risk rating: High 

4.4 Specific storage risks for the Custodian 

The Custodian operates a “vault” (i.e. offline) storage solution in respect of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

The main risk of such solutions is the risk of physical damage or loss of the infrastructure on which such 

storage relies, which may result in the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) being inaccessible or incapable of being 

accessed. This may generally adversely affect the levels of adoption and use of Cryptoassets (including 

the Underlying Cryptoasset(s)) and negatively impact investor sentiment in respect of such Cryptoassets. 
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This may in turn adversely affect the market price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and therefore the 

market value of the Securities. 

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, the Custodian offers an institutional grade vault storage solution. 

All Underlying Cryptoassets held in the Custody Account will be separated into segregated vault storage 

address accounts. Cryptographic keys are generated in an offline environment and are encrypted. The 

Custodian’s secure key generation follows a controlled process in which cryptographic keys are generated 

for use in cryptographic systems (referred to as “cryptographic key generation ceremonies”). The 

Custodian stores sharded private keys in vaults in secure locations with security 24 hours a day, 7 days a 

week, 365 days a year. A sharded private key refers to the division of the cryptographic key into multiple 

parts to enhance security. This security method is commonly used in the storage of private keys in vaults. 

Multi-factor authentication is required to access private keys and back-up key materials are secured in 

vault facilities globally. For decryption, withdrawals follow stringent vault storage restore protocols to sign 

any transaction and bring funds back online, including multiple independent actors, hardware security 

tokens, software based security enforcement and operational checks and balances. Vault storage 

protocols refer to a method of storing cryptocurrencies offline to reduce the risk of hacking. 

Securityholders and prospective Securityholders should, however, be aware that the private keys in 

respect of Underlying Cryptoassets (and therefore, in effect, the Underlying Cryptoasset(s)) will briefly be 

in transit from Authorised Participants to the vault or from the vault to Authorised Participants or may be 

traded during a Rebalancing Period in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities. During such periods, 

such keys will be exposed to the internet. See also “Hacking” below. However, this risk is mitigated as the 

Issuer will not create any new Securities of a Series unless and until it receives confirmation that the 

relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) have been delivered to the Issuer’s custody account – see “Economic 

Overview of the Securities” under “Application for Securities”. 

In addition, where the Issuer is permitted to engage with Staking, the relevant Cryptoasset(s) will be 

exposed to technology risk and counterparty risk from the relevant custodian (to the extent that such 

Cryptoasset(s) is held in an unsegregated hot wallet for the purposes of staking arrangements and is 

therefore more exposed to technology and counterparty risk). 

Risk rating: Low 

4.5 Blockchain risks 

Risks in Respect of Blockchain Technology 

Cryptoassets rely on blockchain technology and other cryptographic and algorithmic protocols that 

represent new and rapidly evolving technologies that are subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to 

evaluate. There is a risk that certain technical issues might be uncovered and the troubleshooting and 

resolution of such issues likely will require the attention and efforts of decentralised development 

communities. Moreover, in the past, flaws in the source code for Cryptoassets have been exposed and 

exploited, including flaws that disabled some functionality for users, exposed users’ personal information 

and/or Cryptoassets, resulting in the theft of users’ Cryptoassets. The cryptography underpinning the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) could prove to be flawed or ineffective, or developments in mathematics and/or 

technology, including advances in digital computing, algebraic geometry and quantum computing, could 

result in such cryptography becoming ineffective. This could rapidly destroy the integrity of any Cryptoasset 

and undermine confidence in the Cryptoassets markets in general. Cryptoassets may experience periods 

of disruption or become subject to manipulation as new technologies become available or during periods 

of disparate adoption of new hardware, software or protocols. 

Even if only a particular Cryptoasset (which was not an Underlying Cryptoasset) was affected by such 

circumstances, any reduction in confidence in the source code or cryptography underlying Cryptoassets 

generally could negatively affect the demand for Cryptoassets and therefore negatively impact the market 

value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). This in turn will lead to a reduction in the market value of the 
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Securities, which may result in Securityholders receiving less (or significantly less) than their initial 

investment. 

Risk rating: High 

Development and Maintenance of Cryptoasset Networks 

The networks underlying several Cryptoassets - those on public ledgers - operate based on an open-

source protocol maintained by a group of uncompensated volunteer developers. Consequently, there may 

be a lack of financial incentive for developers to maintain or develop the network, and the developers may 

lack the resources to adequately address emerging issues with the relevant Cryptoassets protocol. There 

can be no assurance that the core developers of a Cryptoassets network will continue to be involved in the 

network, or that new volunteer developers will emerge to replace them. To the extent that material issues 

arise with a Cryptoassets protocol and the developers are unable or unwilling to address the issues 

adequately or in a timely manner, the Cryptoassets may diminish in value or become worthless. 

In addition, several Cryptoassets rely on decentralised participants to operate the network through verifying 

transactions on an ongoing basis. As the underlying technology and node operators facilitate the transfer 

of cryptoassets and keep records of transactions that take place across the network, their role is essential 

in designating and sizing the amounts that are held by the holder. The failure of decentralised participants 

to continue to maintain a network by verifying transactions may result in the relevant Cryptoassets losing 

value or becoming worthless. The occurrence of any failures or malfunctions above may result in a 

decrease (or total) loss in value of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s), which would result in 

Securityholders suffering a loss (or a significant loss) on their investment in the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

Disruption of the internet 

Cryptoassets are highly dependent upon the internet for their operation and transaction processing. A 

significant disruption in internet connectivity could severely impact a Cryptoasset network’s operations, 

including the ability to process transactions, validate blocks and maintain network security. Such 

disruptions could occur due to widespread internet outages, cyber-attacks or technical failures affecting 

internet infrastructure. During a disruption, the network may experience delays in block creation and 

transaction processing, leading to increased transaction times and potential backlogs. This can result in 

reduced confidence in the network’s reliability and security, potentially causing a decline in the price of the 

affected Cryptoasset. 

In particular, some Cryptoassets have been subjected to a number of denial-of-service (DDoS) attacks, 

which have led to temporary delays in block creation and the transfer of such Cryptoasset. Notable 

examples of such attacks include: 

• In March 2015, the Bitcoin network experienced a significant DDoS attack that targeted nodes, 

causing delays in transaction processing and block creation. 

• In September 2016, the Ethereum network was targeted by a series of DDoS attacks that exploited 

vulnerabilities in the network’s protocol, leading to increased transaction times and network 

congestion. 

In response to such attacks, an additional ‘hard fork’ may be introduced to increase the cost of certain 

network functions, making attacks more difficult. A ‘hard fork’ is a significant change to the blockchain 

protocol that requires all network participants to upgrade their software to the latest version. However, 

even with such measures, the network may continue to be vulnerable to additional attacks. Moreover, it is 

possible that if such Cryptoasset increases in value, it may become a more attractive target for hackers, 

leading to more frequent hacking and denial-of-service attacks. Such attacks can exacerbate network 

disruptions and further impact the price of the Cryptoasset. 
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If the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is adversely affected by internet disruptions or related attacks, 

the value of the Securities linked to these Cryptoassets could also be adversely affected. Securityholders 

may suffer a decrease in the value of their investment in the Securities, potentially receiving less than their 

initial investment upon redemption. 

See “Hacking” below. 

Risk rating: High 

Irreversibility and irrecoverability 

Transactions in Cryptoassets are generally irreversible, in that they can only be reversed by carrying out 

a subsequent trade in the opposite direction. Accordingly, rectifying a mistaken or unauthorised transaction 

in a Cryptoasset can only be done with the consent and active participation from the recipient of the 

transaction. To the extent that any of the relevant Cryptoassets are incorrectly or fraudulently transferred, 

they therefore are likely to be irretrievable. 

Furthermore, where the Cryptoassets have been lost, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering 

a party liable to the Issuer, the Issuer may have limited recourse against the responsible party, for example 

only to the Custodian or, to the extent identifiable, other responsible third parties (e.g. a thief or terrorist), 

any of which may not have the financial resources (including liability insurance coverage) to satisfy a valid 

claim of the Issuer. 

If the Underlying Cryptoassets are irretrievably lost or stolen, the Securities may lose their value in part or 

entirety. Securityholders may suffer a partial or total loss of their investment in the Securities. 

Risk rating: High 

Malicious Activity 

Cryptoasset networks, platforms and trading venues may be subject to attack by malicious persons, 

entities or malware. 

A malicious actor or group of actors could obtain a majority of the processing power on a particular 

Cryptoasset network, and could implement modifications to the network in a way that is detrimental to the 

liquidity or value of the Cryptoasset. To the extent that such malicious person (or persons) does not yield 

its majority control of the processing power on the network, reversing any changes made to the source 

code or blockchain may not be possible. Such changes could adversely affect an investment in the 

Securities. 

Malicious activities such as these may reduce confidence in Cryptoassets generally and result in greater 

price volatility. This in turn could affect the return on the Securities and may negatively impact the amount 

a Securityholder may receive on redemption. 

Risk rating: High 

4.6 Miner risks 

Miners may collude to raise transaction fees 

As explained in the section headed “Overview of the Underlying Cryptoasset market”, miners, functioning 

in their transaction confirmation capacity, validate unconfirmed transactions by adding the previously 

unconfirmed transactions to new blocks in the relevant blockchain and collect fees for each transaction 

they confirm. Miners are not forced to confirm any specific transaction, but they are economically 

incentivised to confirm valid transactions as a means of collecting fees. Miners have historically accepted 

relatively low transaction confirmation fees. If miners collude in an anticompetitive manner to reject low 

transaction fees, then Cryptoasset users could be forced to pay higher fees, thus reducing the 

attractiveness of such network. Mining occurs globally, and it may be difficult for authorities to apply 

antitrust regulations across multiple jurisdictions. Any collusion among miners may adversely impact the 
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attractiveness and usability of the network on which the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset is based. This 

could lead to a decrease in demand for the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset, resulting in a decline in its 

market value. Consequently, the value of the Securities linked to these Cryptoassets may also be 

adversely affected, potentially leading to a decrease in the value of an investor’s holdings. 

Risk rating: Medium 

Reduction in miner rewards may adversely impact ability to verify transactions 

Miners generate revenue from both transaction fees and rewards of the relevant Cryptoasset (known as 

“block reward”) for verifying transactions. Mining operations have rapidly evolved over the past several 

years and frequently involve “professionalised” operations which may use proprietary hardware or 

sophisticated machinery which requires significant capital and scale to run. Professionalised operations 

refer to mining operations that have become more sophisticated and capital intensive, often large in size 

with greater efficiency and resources. 

If the aggregate revenue from transaction fees and the block reward is below a miner’s cost, or if the 

difficulty and time taken to solve blocks increases, or if miners are unable to acquire the required equipment 

necessary to develop and launch operations, miners may not have adequate incentive to continue to mine 

and may cease operations. In addition, a “professionalised” mining operation operating on a low profit 

margin may be more likely to sell a higher percentage of the Cryptoasset earned as “block reward”, which 

may result in a higher percentage of new Cryptoassets being sold into the market which may reduce prices. 

Any reduction in the amount of rewards generated by miners may lead to a reduced number of miners, 

adversely affecting the process for verifying transactions in the Cryptoasset. This could make the network 

of that Cryptoasset more vulnerable to malicious actors obtaining sufficient control to alter the relevant 

blockchain and hinder transactions. A reduction in confidence in the confirmation process or processing 

power of the Cryptoasset may adversely affect its market value, which in turn may negatively impact the 

value of the Securities linked to these Cryptoassets, potentially leading to a decrease in the value of an 

investor’s holdings. 

Risk rating: Medium 

Exclusion of transactions 

To the extent that any miners solve blocks that exclude some or all transactions that have been transmitted 

to the Cryptoasset network, such transactions will not be recorded on the relevant blockchain until another 

miner solves a block that incorporates those transactions. In respect of certain Cryptoassets (for example, 

Bitcoin), some participants in the community suspect the use of certain technologies to enhance speed 

and reduce electricity use of mining while reducing the number of transactions that are included in mined 

blocks on the network. If more blocks are mined without transactions, transactions will settle more slowly, 

and fees will increase. This could result in a loss of confidence in the relevant Cryptoasset network, 

potentially reducing the value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). A decrease in the market value of the 

Cryptoasset could adversely impact the value of the Securities linked to these Cryptoassets, potentially 

leading to a decrease in the value of an investor’s holdings. 

Risk rating: Medium 

Miner extractable value 

Miners are able to see pending transactions, and to choose what transactions they include in the blocks 

they are mining. This allows miners the ability to manipulate the market to an extent by reordering, adding 

or removing transactions in the blocks being mined, which may include inserting their own trades either 

before or after certain transactions. This is known as “miner extractable value” or “MEV”. MEV allows 

miners to front- or back-run the market to maximise the value of the transactions they are making, at the 

expense of other market participants, which may negatively affect transactions in the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) when they are bought or sold. 
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MEV may contribute to increased market volatility, as miners’ actions may lead to sudden and 

unpredictable price movements. This volatility can affect the market value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

and, consequently, the value of the Securities. The perception of unfair market practices due to MEV may 

reduce overall confidence in the Cryptoasset market, potentially leading to decreased demand for the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and a decline in their market value and, consequently, the value of the 

Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

4.7 Trading venue risks 

Cryptoassets as a class do not have a central regulated marketplace or trading venue. The trading venues 

on which Cryptoassets are traded, commonly called “crypto exchanges” (although not regulated as 

“exchanges” in the U.S. or Europe), may pose special risks, as these crypto exchanges are generally new 

and the rules governing their activities are unsettled. Given that Cryptoassets themselves may not yet be 

considered regulated financial instruments, the activities of crypto exchanges are still largely unregulated 

or under-regulated when compared to traditional asset exchanges. They may therefore be more exposed 

to theft, fraud, and failure than established, regulated exchanges for other products. Crypto exchanges 

may be start-up businesses with limited institutional backing, limited operating history, and no publicly 

available financial information. In some cases their financial positions are unclear and some trading venues 

have failed due to financial mismanagement. Many go beyond matching trades for third parties and instead 

take proprietary positions. This makes crypto exchanges more susceptible to cybercrime, hackers, and 

malware and the risk of being shut down or experiencing losses of assets traded on such venue as a result 

of cybercrime. In particular, on 11 November 2022, FTX, then the fifth largest crypto exchange by volume, 

together with around 130 affiliated companies, including Alameda Research, formally announced that it 

sought protection from its creditors and entered Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings in the US purportedly 

having liquid assets with a value significantly less than the amount of its liabilities to creditors. 

There are a small number of large crypto exchanges worldwide, some of which exert significant market 

influence. The exercise of this market influence has in the past caused significant movements in the 

Cryptoasset markets and may continue to do so in the future. 

Crypto exchanges may impose daily, weekly, monthly, or customer-specific transaction or distribution limits 

or suspend trading or withdrawals entirely, rendering the trading of digital assets for fiat currency difficult 

or impossible. Cryptoasset prices and valuations on exchanges have been volatile and subject to influence 

by many factors, including the levels of liquidity on particular venues and operational interruptions and 

disruptions. In addition, significant volatility and unexpected price movements, as well as congestion on 

underlying Cryptoasset networks, have resulted in extreme stress on crypto exchanges and their 

infrastructure, which has in turn resulted in trading halts and the suspension of services. For example, 

Coinbase has reported that it experienced approximately 30 outages in 2020, with an average outage 

duration of 64.6 minutes. 

Any of the failures or disruptions described above may result in the price of Cryptoassets (including the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s)) being subject to significant volatility or the inability to acquire and/or sell the 

Underlying Cryptoasset in respect of a Series of Securities. Such events may lead to a decrease in the 

market value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), which in turn, may negatively impact in the value of the 

Securities. Securityholders may suffer a reduction in the value of their investment, potentially receiving 

less than their initial investment upon redemption, or facing difficulties in liquidating their holdings when 

desired. 

Risk Rating: High 

4.8 Issuer discretion following an Airdrop Event or Fork Event 

An Airdrop Event occurs when the issuer of a new cryptoasset declares that holders of Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) are entitled to an amount of the new cryptoasset in addition to the Underlying 
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Cryptoasset(s) for that Series of Securities. However, an Airdrop Event does not convert the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) into new assets, nor does it result in the loss of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

Furthermore, neither the Issuer nor a third party will have the discretion to unilaterally convert the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) into other types of assets. 

A Fork Event occurs when the code underlying the distributed ledger on which an Underlying Cryptoasset 

is recorded splits. This may result in a number of issues, including the suspension of trading in the relevant 

Underlying Cryptoasset or a sharp reduction in price of the Underlying Cryptoasset. There are two types 

of such Fork Event: 

• a “hard fork” which, with respect to a Cryptoasset, refers to the splitting of the protocol applicable to 

that Cryptoasset, which results in (i) two or more blockchains which are technologically incompatible 

with each other and (ii) two or more Cryptoassets being available for trading simultaneously, one being 

native to the original blockchain that existed immediately prior to such protocol split, and one or more 

relating to the new blockchain(s) resulting from such protocol split; and 

• a “soft fork” which, with respect to a Cryptoasset, refers to a modification of the blockchain protocol 

where the modified protocol is compatible with the original protocol, so nodes using the original 

protocol can still validate transactions proposed by nodes using the modified protocol. This results in 

a single blockchain that adheres to the new set of rules. Unlike a hard fork, a soft fork does not result 

in the creation of a new Cryptoasset. Instead, it updates the existing blockchain with new rules or 

functionalities, while maintaining continuity with the previous version of the blockchain. 

However, a Fork Event does not convert the original Underlying Cryptoasset(s) into new assets, nor does 

it result in the loss or replacement of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s). For the avoidance of doubt, the 

original Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will continue to be held by the Custodian on behalf of the Issuer in 

respect of the relevant Series of Securities. 

The occurrence of an Airdrop Event or a Fork Event (in the case of a hard fork) will result in an additional 

cryptoasset different from the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for that Series being available to the Issuer. 

Securityholders should be aware that, in particular, the occurrence of a hard fork could introduce 

considerable uncertainty and volatility to the market for the affected Cryptoasset. In the cryptoasset market, 

investors may not agree on the value of the new Cryptoasset or may decide to shift their investments from 

the original Cryptoasset to the new one, leading to potential decreases in demand and price for the original 

Cryptoasset. Furthermore, service providers such as exchanges and wallets may not immediately support 

the new Cryptoasset. In addition, hard forks may lead to confusion and operational challenges, as users, 

miners, and developers must decide which path to follow. These factors may contribute to a decrease in 

the value of the original Cryptoasset following a hard fork. Therefore, the occurrence of a hard fork with 

respect to the Underlying Cryptoasset could adversely affect the value of the relevant Series of Securities. 

There can be no assurance that the Custodian will support an Airdrop Event or will continue to support 

custody of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) following the occurrence of a Fork Event. In addition, 

participation in an Airdrop Event or a Fork Event may require certain actions to be taken by the Issuer. If 

the Issuer, in its discretion, opts not to take these actions, this could potentially lead to a decrease in the 

value of the Securities. Investors should be aware that these factors could result in the value of the relevant 

Series of Securities being lower, potentially significantly lower, than expected. 

Under Condition 23 (Fork Events, Airdrop Events and Staking), the Issuer may, to the extent such event 

is supported by the Custodian, without the consent of the Securityholders: 

• permit the additional asset to be held by the Custodian as an additional cryptoasset for the relevant 

Series; 

• create a new Series of Securities where the additional asset is the Underlying Cryptoasset, and issue 

such new Series to Securityholders pro rata to their holding of the affected Series; 
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• reduce the Coin Entitlement for the affected Series in an equal proportion to the proportion of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) which has been lost or converted into, or replaced by, the additional 

cryptoasset; 

• elect not to receive the additional cryptoasset, in which circumstances Securityholders shall not be 

entitled to receive any value arising from such additional cryptoasset; 

• distribute the additional cryptoasset to the Securityholders in respect of the original Series pro rata to 

their holdings of the original Series; or 

• liquidate the additional cryptoasset and distribute the net realisation proceeds to the Securityholders 

in respect of the original Series pro rata to their holdings of Securities of the original Series. 

The occurrence of an Airdrop Event and/or a Fork Event will also permit the Issuer to make certain 

amendments, variations or modifications to the Conditions, any Trust Deed and/or any Transaction 

Document. See Condition 22.3 (Issuer Technical Amendment). 

Risk rating: Medium 

4.9 Hacking 

Blockchains on which Cryptoassets operate utilise cryptography and the use of public and private keys to 

prove ownership of Cryptoassets and record the transfer of Cryptoassets. However, there have been public 

examples of hacking of Cryptoasset trading venues, digital wallets and computer systems. In particular, 

certain Underlying Cryptoassets (including Bitcoin) are susceptible to border gateway protocol (“BGP”) 

hijacking. Such an attack can be a very effective way for an attacker to intercept traffic en route to a 

legitimate destination. BGP hijacking impacts the way different nodes and miners are connected to one 

another to isolate portions of them from the remainder of the network, which could lead to a risk of the 

network allowing double-spending and other security issues. 

In addition, in the case of Index-Linked Securities only, if Cryptoassets are being traded during a 

Rebalancing Period in respect of such Index-Linked Securities or (in the case of all Securities) if the 

Cryptoasset is in transit from Authorised Participants to the vault or from the vault to Authorised 

Participants, such Cryptoasset will be exposed to the internet and thus to additional risk of hacking. Any 

such hacking could result in the theft of Cryptoassets, and transactions in Securities being ineffective 

creations and redemptions of the Issuer. 

Any event of hacking in relation to a Cryptoasset may impact faith and sentiment in that Cryptoasset and 

Cryptoassets generally and may negatively impact the market value of Cryptoassets. This could 

consequently impact the value of an Underlying Cryptoasset and therefore an investment in the Securities. 

Securityholders are exposed to the risk of theft or loss of digital assets held by exchanges or custodians. 

For example, in February 2025, a major cryptocurrency exchange, Bybit, experienced a hack with a value 

of around $1.5 billion, demonstrating the potential for significant losses due to security breaches. 

Risk rating: High 

4.10 Staking – Proof-of-Stake Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

Cryptoassets may rely in total or in part on a “proof-of-stake” method of generating a distributed consensus. 

Staking is a process whereby a given amount of Cryptoassets are committed (staked) for the purposes of 

the “proof-of-stake” method deployed by some blockchains to validate transactions. Proof-of-stake 

algorithms do not rely on resource intensive calculations to validate transactions and create new blocks in 

a blockchain. Rather than relying on resource-intensive “mining” (or “proof of work”), “proof-of-stake” 

methods validate transactions and new blocks by reference to the amount of Cryptoassets a user has 

“staked” and the amount of time it has been “staked”. Staking rewards, consisting of newly minted native 

tokens and/or a portion of the transaction fees relating to the validated transactions, are given to the users 
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that commit those Cryptoassets and/or the relevant validators. While the advantage of a “proof-of-stake” 

system is that it is far less energy intensive than a “proof of work” system, this may result in lower barriers 

for entry, which may allow for increased participation by malicious actors with small holdings of 

Cryptoassets that attempt to manipulate the relevant blockchain or increase the risk that the Cryptoasset 

will experience one or more forks, which could impact its value. 

As the “proof-of-stake” method rewards holders depending on the number of Cryptoassets it holds, it may 

also encourage holders (such as the founders) to retain large amounts of the Cryptoasset and effectively 

give such holders the right to veto or control the Cryptoasset or its associated blockchain network. While 

there are advantages to having users “buy in” to a Cryptoasset and support its development, excessive 

hoarding reduces the “decentralised” nature of verification of the relevant blockchain and may impair the 

spread of such Cryptoasset, including interfering with the widespread adoption of such Cryptoasset for use 

in transactions. 

“Proof-of-stake” networks are newer and generally not as widely used as proof of work networks, and may 

be untested at scale. As a result, “proof-of-stake” networks may not work as intended. If “proof-of-stake” 

networks do not function as intended, or fail to gain adoption, the value of Cryptoassets relying on “proof-

of-stake” consensus may be negatively affected, which could adversely affect the value of the Securities. 

In addition, pursuant to the relevant Custody Agreement for a Series of Securities, the Issuer may instruct 

the Custodian to “stake” the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in accordance with such instructions. This 

may adversely affect the value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and/or the value of the Securities, which 

may in turn result in Securityholders receiving less, or substantially less, than expected. 

Risk rating: Medium 

4.11 Scalability risks 

Many Cryptoasset networks face significant challenges in respect of scaling and the number of 

transactions per second the network can handle. Various solutions to such scalability issues have been 

proposed for different Cryptoassets. For example, the Bitcoin network was upgraded in 2017 with a 

technical feature referred to as “segregated witness” that, amongst other things, could increase the number 

of transactions that can be handled on the network. 

An increasing number of wallets and digital asset intermediaries, such as trading venues, have begun 

supporting segregated witness and similar technologies, however such solutions do not yet have uniform 

widespread adoption. As the use of Cryptoasset networks increase without a corresponding increase of 

solutions to increase scalability of the networks, average fees and settlement times may increase 

significantly. This could preclude certain use cases for Cryptoassets (e.g. small payment amounts), which 

could reduce demand for and the price of such Cryptoasset. Securityholders may suffer significant losses 

if a decrease in the value of such Cryptoasset negatively affects the value of the Securities. 

Furthermore, there is no guarantee that any of the mechanisms in place or being explored for increasing 

the scalability of Cryptoasset networks will be effective, or how long these mechanisms will take to become 

effective. If these scalability solutions fail to materialise or take longer than anticipated to implement, such 

event could adversely impact the value of such Cryptoasset and consequently, the value of an investment 

in the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

5. Risks relating to the Index-Linked Securities 

The returns on the Index-Linked Securities are not a direct investment in the Cryptoasset(s) comprising 

the applicable Index. 

The Index which is referenced by the Index-Linked Security will comprise one or more Cryptoasset(s). 

However, prospective investors should be aware that an investment in an Index-Linked Security is not the 

same as a direct investment in the Cryptoasset(s) comprising the applicable Index or a direct investment 
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in the Index itself. As a result, changes in the level of the Index will not necessarily result in correlated 

changes in the value of the Index-Linked Securities. In addition, the rules for calculation of the Index may 

include deductions for fees, a currency hedging component and/or other factors that affect how closely the 

Index tracks the price of the asset(s) referenced by the Index and may also permit the Index Sponsor to 

make certain adjustments to the level of the Index. Any such deductions and adjustments may cause the 

level of the Index to diverge from the value of the Index-Linked Securities. 

Prospective investors should also be aware that each Index-Linked Security will not precisely replicate the 

composition (and therefore the performance) of the relevant Index. When investing, the Issuer may invest 

in Cryptoassets that do not fully correlate to the weighting of each Cryptoasset in the Index. This is because 

the ability of the Issuer to effect a Rebalancing is dependent on (i) the general availability and price of the 

relevant Cryptoasset(s), at which it is able to purchase and sell the relevant Cryptoasset(s) affected by the 

Rebalancing; and (ii) the ability of the Custodian(s) to support the relevant Cryptoasset(s). Therefore, the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) held in respect of an Index-Linked Security may differ from the components of 

the relevant Index and may be afforded different weightings to those specified in the relevant Index. Any 

such divergence to the weightings and components of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) held in respect of the 

Index-Linked Securities will cause the level of the Index to diverge from the value of the Index-Linked 

Securities. In certain circumstances, if the Issuer determines that the tracking error is too great, the Issuer 

may effect a Voluntary Rebalancing in order to minimise the tracking error, but there can be no guarantee 

that such Voluntary Rebalancing will result in the weighting and composition of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) held in respect of such Index-Linked Securities exactly reflecting the weighting of each 

constituent of the Index. 

Risk: Low 

5.1 Index Performance 

Prospective investors should note that the value of the Index-Linked Securities will be linked to the 

performance of the relevant Index (before fees and expenses) and the Index-Linked Securities will as far 

as possible and practicable consist of the Cryptoasset(s) that comprise that Index. Accordingly, prospective 

investors should be aware that the Index-Linked Securities may be adversely affected by risks applicable 

to indices generally, as well as to market fluctuations in the price of the relevant Cryptoasset(s) comprised 

in that Index. 

In particular, the level of an Index can go down as well as up and the past performance of an Index will not 

be indicative of its future performance. There can be no assurance as to the future performance of any 

Index. 

The performance of the Index-Linked Securities may diverge from the performance of the Index and 

changes in the level of the Index may not result in a comparable change in the value of the Index-Linked 

Securities. Accordingly, before investing in Index-Linked Securities, prospective investors should carefully 

consider whether an investment which seeks to replicate the performance of the Index is suitable for them 

and should carry out their own detailed review of the Index and the rules relating thereto. 

Risk Rating: Low 

5.2 Change in composition or discontinuance of the Index 

The Index Sponsor may add, delete or substitute the Cryptoasset(s) that form part of the Index or make 

other changes to the methodology for determining the asset(s) to be included in the Index or for valuing 

the Index. 

The composition of the Index may therefore change over time to satisfy the eligibility criteria applicable to 

the Index or where asset(s) currently included in the Index fail to satisfy such criteria. Such changes to the 

composition of the Index by the Index Sponsor may affect the level of the Index as a newly added asset 

may perform significantly worse or better than the asset it replaces. As the value of the Index-Linked 

Securities is affected by the composition of the Index, changes in the composition of the Index may 
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therefore have an adverse effect on the value of the Index-Linked Securities and changes in the 

methodology of the Index may constitute an Adjustment Event and/or result in a Disruption Event and/or 

cause the early redemption of the Index-Linked Securities. 

The rules of the Index may confer on the Index Sponsor in certain circumstances the right to make 

determinations, calculations, modifications and/or adjustments to the Index and the eligible components 

of the Index and related matters, which involve, in certain circumstances, a degree of discretion. The Index 

Sponsor will generally, as far as reasonably practicable, exercise any such discretion with the aim of 

preserving the overall methodology of the relevant Index. The exercise of such discretion may result in the 

level of the Index on any day being different to the level it would have been had the Index Sponsor not 

determined to exercise such discretion. Whilst the Index Sponsor is typically required to act reasonably 

and in good faith in exercising its discretion, there can be no assurance that the exercise of any such 

discretion by the Index Sponsor will not affect the level of the Index and/or alter the volatility of the Index 

and/or have an adverse effect on the value of the relevant Index-Linked Securities. 

If the Index Sponsor discontinues or suspends calculation or publication of the Index or fails to calculate 

or publish the level of an Index, the Index-Linked Securities will continue with no further amendments until 

the Index Sponsor continues or resumes calculation of the Index or an early redemption is carried out in 

respect of the Index-Linked Securities. 

Risk Rating: Low 

5.3 Rebalancing and Associated Counterparty Risk 

When the Weighting of each Cryptoasset comprised in an Index is adjusted in accordance with the relevant 

index methodology, the Issuer will instruct the Determination Agent to sell Cryptoasset(s) which forms part 

of the Secured Property for that Security in order to purchase different Cryptoasset(s) in order to match, 

as far as reasonably practicable the new Weighting of each Cryptoasset comprised in the Index. 

It may not always be reasonably practicable to match the new Weighting of each of the Cryptoasset(s) 

comprised in the Index, including (without limitation), in circumstances where the relevant Cryptoasset(s) 

is not supported by the Custodian(s) or there is a market disruption affecting the relevant Cryptoasset(s) 

during the Rebalancing Period. 

There is no requirement under the Programme to require the counterparty to any such sale to grant any 

security or provide any collateral in respect of the obligations it owes to the Issuer in respect of the sale. 

There may be circumstances in which such counterparty fails to perform its obligations under such sale 

and fails to pay the consideration for the purchase of the relevant Cryptoasset(s) to the Issuer. There is a 

chance that the Issuer is unable to recover all of the relevant Cryptoasset(s) which would have an adverse 

effect on the value of the relevant Index-Linked Securities. 

Where the Coin Entitlement differs from the composition of the Index, changes in the level of the Index will 

not necessarily result in correlated changes to the value of the Index-Linked Securities. Therefore the value 

of the Securities may be less than a Securityholder may have expected if the value of the Index-Linked 

Securities was directly correlated to the level of the Index. 

Risk Rating: Low 

5.4 Conflict of Interest of the Index Sponsor 

Investors should be aware that the Index Sponsor has no regard to the interests of the Securityholders 

when creating any Index, and no Index Sponsor will be required to have a regard to the interests of the 

Securityholders when maintaining, modifying, rebalancing, reconstituting or discontinuing any Index. 

Actions taken by an Index Sponsor in respect of an Index may have an adverse impact on the value or 

liquidity of the Index-Linked Securities. The interests of an Index Sponsor and the Securityholders of the 

relevant Index-Linked Securities may not be aligned. No Index Sponsor will have any responsibility or 

liability to Securityholders. 
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Risk Rating: Low 

5.5 Liquidity in certain Proof-of-Stake Protocols 

Some proof-of-stake protocols restrict transferability of coins that are contributed to a staking pool for a 

certain period. During such period, the coins remain the property of the holder but cannot be transferred 

(as transfers cannot be registered on the protocol). 

The Issuer may stake coins that are subject to such liquidity restrictions. As a result, the Issuer may hold 

coins subject to such restrictions, which in turn may hinder the Issuer in satisfying redemption requests.  

In the event that there is no alternative liquidity, the Issuer may not be able to satisfy redemption requests 

until the liquidity restrictions are removed. Any interruption in the redemption process may (i) impact the 

ability of Authorised Offerors to redeem securities in a timely and consistent manner, (ii) impact the ability 

of market makers on exchanges to offer reliable prices at reasonable bid/ask spreads and (iii) consequently 

adversely affect the price at which investors are able to trade the digital securities in the secondary 

markets. 

Risk Rating: Medium 

5.6 Loss relating to Staking 

Certain proof-of-stake protocols impose penalties on validators who negligently validate transactions on 

the protocols. Such penalties can be imposed due to inadvertent errors, technological problems and 

hacking. The penalties can comprise of loss of rewards as well as loss of initial coins staked. These 

penalties are commonly referred to as “slashing”. The consequences of slashing can be severe, leading 

to the loss of potential rewards as well as a reduction of the initial Underlying Cryptoasset(s) staked. 

The Issuer may stake Underlying Cryptoasset(s) that are subject to slashing risk. Therefore, there may be 

a situation where the Issuer may have insufficient digital currency to satisfy its obligations to redeem the 

Securities backed by a digital currency subject to such slashing, and investors in such Series of Securities 

may suffer a loss. 

Investors should be aware that this risk could lead to a loss. If a slashing event occurs and the Issuer is 

unable to meet its redemption obligations, investors in the affected Series of Securities may not receive 

the full value of their investment and could potentially suffer a significant loss. 

Risk Rating: High 

6. Risks relating to the market and market value of Securities 

6.1 Trading of Cryptoassets 

Each Series of Securities will only trade during the trading hours on the Relevant Stock Exchange on which 

such Series of Securities are listed. However, the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) trade continuously 

and (as set out above) are extremely volatile and may experience significant and short term price 

movements in a matter of days, hours or even minutes. This combination will limit Securityholders’ ability 

to react to price movements or volatility in the market for the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), which may be 

substantial. 

If there is a decrease in the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in the period during which the Relevant 

Stock Exchange is not open for trading, Securityholders may suffer a loss which would be less than it 

otherwise would have been had the Securityholder been able to trade in, or redeem, its Securities during 

that period. 

Risk rating: High 
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6.2 Market participants determine prices in respect of Cryptoassets and the Securities in different ways 
and there may be material variation between prices determined 

The Redemption Amount that an investor receives on redemption of a Security is calculated using the Coin 

Entitlement, which is a quantity of Underlying Cryptoasset(s). Market participants may convert the Coin 

Entitlement for a Security into an indicative market value for a Security in different ways using different 

sources. The price at which the Securities are traded on the Relevant Stock Exchange may not reflect the 

indicative market value of the Coin Entitlement, depending on the source used by an investor. A 

prospective investor may therefore pay more for a Security than the indicative market value of Coin 

Entitlement. If a Redemption Event occurs, the Redemption Amount the investor will receive will be based 

on the Coin Entitlement and an investor may receive less, or substantially less, than the amount the 

investor paid for the Security on the Relevant Stock Exchange. 

In particular, the price of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is extremely volatile and can change over the course 

of weeks, months, hours and even minutes (in relation to which see “Risks relating to the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s)”). This may mean that the price at which an investor paid for a Security on the Relevant 

Stock Exchange may quickly change and an investor may only be able to sell the Securities at a price that 

is less, or substantially less, than the subscription price or the price paid by such Securityholder. This may 

mean Securityholders receive less, or substantially less, than the amount invested in the Securities. 

Risk rating: High 

6.3 No Authorised Participants 

There can be no assurance that there will at all times be an Authorised Participant appointed by the Issuer 

to process subscription and redemption of the Securities. In such circumstances, Securityholders may be 

unable to request a redemption of its Securities or may be required to request redemption directly with the 

Issuer. 

This may result in a delay in redemption of the Securities or give rise to additional cost and administrative 

burden on the part of the Securityholder, including payment of the Redemption Fee. This may reduce the 

return on an investment in the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 

6.4 Market-making by the Authorised Participant(s) 

Authorised Participants provide liquidity by creating a market in the Securities and processing subscription 

and redemption of the Securities. 

The price at which a Securityholder may sell its Securities of a Series to an Authorised Participant may be 

lower than the price at which the Authorised Participant may sell Securities of the same Series to 

prospective investors. The price at which an Authorised Participant may sell Securities to prospective 

investors may also take into account fees, charges, expenses commissions and other costs which the 

Authorised Participant may charge to prospective investors. Prospective investors may also incur fees 

charged by the Relevant Stock Exchange on which such Securities are admitted to trading. 

Any changes in the “bid/offer” spread offered by Authorised Participant(s) and/or fees charged by 

Authorised Participant(s) may impact a prospective investors return on the Securities and may mean that 

an investor suffers a loss on the Securities. 

Risk rating: Medium 
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7. Risks relating to taxation 

7.1 Payments to Securityholders will not be grossed-up 

Pursuant to Condition 21.1 (Withholding or deductions on payments), all payments and deliveries in 

respect of the Securities (including the Redemption Amount) shall be made subject to any deduction or 

withholding for or on account of any present or future tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding 

of a similar nature (including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any 

delay in paying any of the same) imposed by any authority of any jurisdiction. The tax legislation of the 

jurisdiction of the Securityholder and the Issuer’s country of incorporation may have an impact on the 

income received from the Securities. 

In the event of any such deduction or withholding, the Securityholders will not be entitled to receive 

amounts which are grossed up in order to compensate for such deduction or withholding nor will 

Securityholders be entitled to be reimbursed for the amount of any shortfall resulting from such deduction 

or withholding. 

In certain circumstances, the imposition of such deductions or withholding may result in the Issuer 

determining that a Securityholder’s ownership or holding, or continued ownership or holding, of the 

Securities is disadvantageous to the Issuer or other Securityholders, which could lead to the relevant 

Securityholder’s Securities being redeemed. 

Risk rating: Medium 

7.2 Tax treatment of Cryptoassets 

There is currently no tax certainty regarding the treatment of investments in Cryptoassets across various 

jurisdictions due to the novelty of the asset class. Any change in the tax treatment of Underlying 

Cryptoassets could result in the Issuer incurring additional taxes which would be deducted from the 

Redemption Amount payable on the Securities. This would result in Securityholders receiving less than if 

such taxes had not been incurred. 

Risk rating: Medium 

8. Risks relating to the Transaction Parties 

8.1 The Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations under the Securities may depend upon the Custodian’s 
ability to perform its obligations 

The Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of a Series of Securities will be held with the Custodian. 

Consequently, Securityholders are exposed to the creditworthiness of the Custodian in respect of the 

performance of its obligations under the Custody Agreement. 

The Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are maintained by the Custodian in segregated accounts, which are 

intended to be protected in the event of insolvency of such Custodian. However, any insolvency of the 

Custodian may result in delayed access to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and/or result in the Issuer failing 

to retrieve some or all of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s). This could arise in the following three 

circumstances: 

• First, if the Custodian is subject to insolvency or analogous proceedings, the relevant insolvency 

practitioner would need to identify (i) which Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are being held by the Custodian 

on behalf of the Issuer and (ii) whether the legal basis on which those Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are 

being held means that such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will not form part of the Custodian’s insolvency 

estate, in which case they would be returned to the Issuer. However, if a clear identification and 

separation of these assets cannot be achieved due to the legal and practical complexities of these 

proceedings, there is a risk that the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) may not be recovered. This could result 

in Securityholders losing a substantial part, or even the entirety, of their investment. Similarly, the 
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insolvency practitioner would need to consider where the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are being held – 

and, if they are determined to be held overseas, it might be necessary for the insolvency practitioner 

to apply for recognition in an overseas jurisdiction before it can legitimately distribute the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) to the Issuer. These factors may lead to delays in the return of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) relating to the Securities, particularly given the legal treatment of Cryptoassets upon 

insolvency is relatively untested, especially in relation to cross-border arrangements. 

• Second, in order to transfer Underlying Cryptoasset(s) relating to the Securities following the 

Custodian’s insolvency, the relevant insolvency practitioner will need access to, or assistance in 

accessing, the private keys (or the respective back-up key material, encrypted master seed (which is 

a string of characters used to generate the private keys) or master key shards (which are created from 

splitting the master seed into multiple pieces to increase security) to reconstitute the private keys) 

relating to the wallet(s) in which the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for the relevant Securities are recorded. 

This may prove difficult if the Custodian’s safeguarding processes or storage arrangements are found 

to be deficient and/or not functioning as intended post-insolvency (for example, due to the absence of 

key personnel). If the insolvency practitioner is unable to access or recover the private keys (because, 

for example, any relevant back-up key material, encrypted master seed or master key shards are 

inaccessible), then it may be impossible to recover such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and return them 

to the Issuer or deliver them to a third-party wallet address or wallet at the Issuer’s instruction. By 

design, the back-up key materials, encrypted master seed or master key shards are not readily 

accessible, the process of retrieving or locating the back-up key material, encrypted master seed or 

master key shards may also lead to a delay in the return of any Underlying Cryptoasset(s). If this 

scenario arises, it could lead to a total loss of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). For Securityholders, this 

means that the value of their investment could be significantly reduced, potentially to zero. 

• Third, if the Custodian fails to hold the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in a manner that ensures 

they are not treated as forming part of the Custodian’s insolvency estate, then such Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) may not be returned to the Issuer in the manner it anticipates. In particular, if the 

Custodian records the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) relating to given Securities in an omnibus wallet (in 

which the Cryptoassets belonging to other clients of the Custodian are also recorded) then the 

Cryptoassets recorded in such wallet may be returnable to the Issuer and any other client on a pro 

rata basis. If there is a shortfall in the number of Cryptoassets recorded in the relevant wallet when 

compared to the amount of Cryptoassets due back to the Issuer and any other relevant client, this 

could mean that the Issuer may receive fewer Cryptoassets than it would otherwise have received if 

the Cryptoassets were recorded against a segregated wallet, as required under the relevant Custody 

Agreement. This shortfall will adversely affect Securityholders, given those Cryptoassets are the only 

assets available to support the Issuer’s obligations to Securityholders upon redemption. As such, 

Securityholders should be aware that they will lose some or all of their investment if such shortfall 

reduces the Underlying Cryptoassets. 

On a redemption of a Series of Securities, the Issuer shall instruct the Custodian to transfer an amount of 

the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) equal to the Redemption Amount to the relevant digital wallet of the relevant 

Securityholder (or, in circumstances where the Issuer has permitted cash redemptions, arrange for the 

sale of an amount of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and the transfer of an amount of cash in the Base 

Currency equal to the Redemption Amount to the relevant account of the relevant Securityholder) to satisfy 

the Issuer’s obligation in respect of the Redemption Amount, in each case in accordance with the 

Conditions. Notwithstanding the security expressed to be created over the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

the Trust Deed, the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligation in respect of such Redemption Amount to 

Securityholders will be dependent upon the ability of the Custodian to make such a transfer under the 

relevant Custody Agreement and the Issuer to arrange such a sale. If the Custodian is, for any reason, 

unable to make such a transfer (or the Issuer is unable to make such a sale), the Issuer will be unable to 

meet its redemption obligation to Securityholders and Securityholders may receive less, or substantially 

less, than expected on an investment in the Securities. 

There may be other circumstances in which risks similar to those may arise (e.g. if the Custodian breaches 

another term of the Custody Agreement). Those risks will generally be borne, indirectly, by the 
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Securityholders, given the Issuer’s obligations to Securityholders are backed by the Cryptoassets held on 

behalf of the Issuer by the Custodians. 

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, Coinbase Luxembourg S.A., a Luxembourg limited liability 

company, acts as Custodian with respect to Securities issued under the Programme. As a part of the 

Coinbase group, which includes Coinbase, Inc. and Coinbase Global, Inc. (both incorporated in the state 

of Delaware, United States), it serves as a European entity of the Coinbase group for the handling of 

cryptoassets. 

The Coinbase group entities in the United States, including Coinbase, Inc. and Coinbase Global, Inc., are 

subject to potential litigation, investigations and enforcement actions by regulators and governmental 

authorities in the ordinary course of their business. In June 2023, the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission (the “SEC”) filed a complaint in a U.S. court alleging that Coinbase, Inc. has operated as an 

unregistered securities exchange, broker, and clearing agency. Coinbase, Inc. and Coinbase Global, Inc. 

have disputed these claims and are defending against them. The SEC has since announced the dismissal 

of this enforcement action due to the pending work of the Crypto Task Force which seeks to renew the 

regulatory approach towards Cryptoassets. 

Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. is authorised and regulated as a crypto-asset service provider by the 

Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (“CSSF”) under the number N00000004 

and registered with the Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register under register number B292147, VAT 

number LU36476644. To the Issuer’s knowledge, as of the date of this Base Prospectus, it is not currently 

subject to any investigations or enforcement actions by regulators and governmental authorities. 

Accordingly, Securityholders may be exposed to risks associated with the Custodian and the Coinbase 

group. Prospective investors in the Securities should make their own independent investigations and 

enquires in respect of the Custodian and the Coinbase group. 

Risk rating: Medium 

8.2 The Custodian may cease to support the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

Under the relevant Custody Agreement, the Custodian holds the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in the Custody 

Account. In certain circumstances, including as a result of a change of law, the Custodian may determine 

that it is no longer able to offer custody services in respect of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). If the 

Custodian makes such a determination, the Issuer will have a period of 90 days to withdraw the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) from the Custody Account. 

In such circumstances, there may be a delay in the ability of the Issuer to access the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s), or the Issuer may be unable to access the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) at all. In such 

circumstances, the Securityholders in respect of the relevant Series of Securities may receive delivery of 

the Underlying Cryptoasset at a time when the price of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is unfavourable, or 

they may not receive such delivery at all. 

Accordingly, Securityholders may be exposed to risks associated with the Custodian and any event may 

result in Securityholders receiving less, or substantially less, than if such event had not occurred. 

Risk rating: Low 

8.3 The Determination Agent has no obligations to Securityholders 

The Conditions give the Determination Agent discretion in making certain determinations in relation to the 

Securities, which are conclusive and binding on the Securityholders. These include the determination of 

the Redemption Amount payable to Securityholders on redemption and whether certain disruption events 

may have occurred such that redemption of the Securities may be postponed. 

The Determination Agent has no obligations to the Securityholders in making such determinations, and 

may make determines which may negative impact Securityholders, for example by determining that 
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redemptions in respect of a Series of Securities may be suspended. The Determination Agent only has the 

obligations expressed to be binding on it pursuant to the Administration and Determination Agency 

Agreement. 

The actions of the Determination Agent may have a negative impact on the value of the Securities, or may 

result in a Securityholder being unable to redeem its securities, in particular due to the volatility of the price 

of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) as set out in the risk factor headed “Securityholders exposed to the value 

of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s)” above. 

Risk rating: Medium 

8.4 The Securities will be redeemed where the appointment of the Determination Agent or the 
Custodian is terminated 

It is an Event of Default under the Conditions if the Determination Agent or the Custodian in respect of the 

applicable Series of Securities resigns or its appointment is terminated for any reason and, at the time 

such termination takes effect, no successor or replacement Determination Agent or Custodian has been 

appointed with respect to such Series. 

Following such an Event of Default, the Trustee may or (if directed in writing by holders of at least 25 per 

cent. in number of the relevant Series of Securities then outstanding or by an Extraordinary Resolution) 

shall, give notice that the Securities of the relevant Series shall become due and payable at their 

Redemption Amount. 

However, if there is no Determination Agent or Custodian appointed in respect of a Series of Securities, 

the Issuer may be unable to determine the Redemption Amount due to Securityholders. The Issuer may 

also experience a delay in its ability to access, or may be unable to access, the relevant Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) in respect of such Series. This may result in the payment or delivery being made at a time 

where the price of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is disadvantageous to Securityholders, or possibly not at 

all. This risk is heightened due to the volatility of Cryptoassets when compared to a traditional asset class, 

as is set out in paragraph 4 (Risks relating to the Underlying Cryptoassets). This may result in a partial or 

substantial loss of a Securityholders investment. 

Risk rating: Low 

8.5 The Trustee has no obligations to Individual Securityholders 

In carrying out its responsibilities, the Trustee will take into account the interests of the Securityholders as 

a Series but will not consider the impact of exercising its function on an individual Securityholder. Neither 

the Trustee nor any Securityholder are entitled to be indemnified or recompensed in respect of any tax 

consequences for an individual Securityholder resulting from the Trustee exercising its function. In some 

circumstances the exercise of the Trustee’s functions in the interests of the Securityholders of a Series 

may result in a partial or substantial loss to an individual Securityholder. 

Risk rating: Low 

9. Risks relating to regulatory change 

9.1 The Issuer may redeem the Securities if it becomes illegal or impossible for the Issuer to issue or 
deal in the Securities or hold of deal with the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

There is currently no single regulatory regime for the ownership, purchase and sale of Cryptoassets. As 

Cryptoassets have grown in popularity in market size, regulators in multiple jurisdictions have been 

examining the operation of Cryptoasset networks, participants and trading venues. In addition to potential 

financial regulation, because of the high energy usage for Cryptoassets which rely on a “proof of work” 

methods, Cryptoasset mining may be subject to regulation arising from energy usage or climate concerns. 
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The regulatory environment relating to the Securities and Cryptoassets is fast-evolving, with many 

jurisdictions developing new rules that may impact the Securities and any Underlying Cryptoasset(s). For 

example, Regulation (EU) 2023/1114 on markets in crypto-assets (“MiCAR”) came into force during 2024 

in phases, with provisions relating to asset-referenced tokens and e-money tokens coming into force on 

30 June 2024, and provisions relating to utility tokens and certain Cryptoasset service providers coming 

into force on 30 December 2024. MiCAR applies to persons or entities that perform certain activities or 

provide certain services in relation to Cryptoassets and has therefore brought many activities relating to 

Cryptoassets within the scope of the EU’s regulatory perimeter (subject to transitional measures or 

“grandfathering rules” in relation to specific rules). 

The nature and extent of any newly introduced or future regulation relating to the Securities and any 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is uncertain, and any such regulation may negatively impact on the price and 

demand of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and therefore an investment in the Securities. This may also 

negatively affect the services (including but not limited to those services described herein) that the 

Transaction Parties are permitted to perform with respect to the Cryptoassets or the Securities (and/or the 

nature or pricing of those services). Any such changes may result in a regulatory environment that is less 

favourable than the regulatory environment in existence as of the date of this Base Prospectus. For 

example, regulatory changes including (but not limited to) those relating to MiCAR could adversely affect 

the custody arrangement with respect to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), particularly to the extent that any 

relevant regulatory permissions are not secured by the relevant Transaction Party before any transitional 

measures or “grandfathering rules” expire. In such circumstances, this could materially restrict the custody 

services provided to the Issuer and potentially require the Issuer to terminate the relevant custody 

arrangement, withdraw the Cryptoassets held under such arrangement, and/or transfer them to another 

wallet (potentially, a wallet operated by another custodian appointed by the Issuer). Such events could 

adversely impact the Securities and the value thereof. 

Whilst the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are either unregulated or lightly regulated in many jurisdictions, one 

or more jurisdictions may take action which makes it illegal or impossible for the Issuer to issue or deal 

with the Securities or to hold or deal with the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). If the Issuer (acting reasonably) 

determines that this is the case, it may redeem the Securities. This may occur at a time when the price of 

the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is less than would otherwise be the case and as a result Securityholders 

may receive less than their initial investment. 

Risk rating: Medium 

9.2 The application of the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive to special purpose entities 
such as the Issuer is uncertain 

The EU Directive 2011/61/EU on Alternative Investment Fund Managers (“AIFMD”) became effective on 

22 July 2013. The application of the AIFMD to special purpose entities such as the Issuer is unclear. The 

Issuer does not operate in the same manner as a typical alternative investment fund. However, the 

definition of “alternative investment funds” (each an “AIF”) and AIFM in the AIFMD is broad and there is 

only limited guidance as to how such definition should be applied in the context of a special purpose entity 

such as the Issuer. 

Were the Issuer to be found to be an AIF or an AIFM, or were the Arranger acting in any capacity in respect 

of the Securities and/or the Trustee to be found to be acting as an AIFM with respect to the AIF, the AIFM 

would be subject to the AIFMD. Owing to the special purpose nature of the Issuer, it would be unlikely that 

either the Issuer or Arranger could comply fully with the requirements of the AIFMD. 

In such circumstance, it is likely that the Issuer would determine that it has become impossible or illegal to 

issue or deal with the Securities and therefore the Securities would be redeemed compulsorily at a time 

which is not favourable to the Securityholders. 

Risk rating: Medium 
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10. Risks specific to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

10.1 Different types of Cryptoassets 

Each Series of Securities will be exposed to a particular Cryptoasset as selected by the Issuer (or, for a 

Series of Index-Linked Securities, a particular Underlying Cryptoasset Pool) and as specified in the Final 

Terms. As such, the Securities issued under the Programme will not necessarily all be linked to the same 

Cryptoasset. As the protocols and rules governing different Cryptoassets vary, the risks associated with 

different Cryptoassets will also vary. Similarly, prices for different Cryptoassets will vary and may not move 

in a correlated manner. Therefore the holders of different Series of Securities will be exposed to different 

risk profiles, depending on the relevant Cryptoassets. In particular, but without limitation, risks related to 

price volatility, transaction fees, speed of execution and settlement, the probability of forks and airdrops, 

susceptibility to hacking attacks, acceptance by custodians, major protocol updates and eligibility for 

settlements on exchanges may be significantly different depending on the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and 

whether it is built on a permissioned or permissionless blockchain. Therefore some Series of Securities 

may be more or less exposed to certain risks than other Series of Securities. Prospective investors in a 

Series of Securities should therefore understand the particular Cryptoasset to which that Series of 

Securities is linked (or, for a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the particular Underlying Cryptoasset Pool) 

and the risks associated with that Cryptoasset (or, for a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the risks 

associated with the Cryptoasset(s) in that Underlying Cryptoasset Pool). Some Cryptoassets may be 

subject to risks associated with Decentralised Finance (DeFi) and smart contracts. Decentralised Finance 

(DeFi) is a new and experimental field, meaning it is unclear how it will evolve and materialise. DeFi 

protocols run with little to no human oversight and can be developed by decentralised groups or 

anonymous contributors. There is minimal or no regulation around DeFi, the investor should be willing to 

lose all their money in a worst-case scenario. Future changes in regulations and policies can affect the 

evolution of the space and the value of DeFi Cryptoassets. On the other hand, Smart contracts are 

programs containing data, conditions and logic that can be deployed by any user to certain blockchains. 

Smart Contracts can be susceptible to coding errors and ‘bugs’ that may not have been found yet and may 

be susceptible to security vulnerabilities that can be exploited by hackers. Smart contracts can go through 

code audits, but these do not guarantee absolute safety of a protocol. 

Risk rating: Low 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

Responsibility Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited (LEI: 254900GFVKWOIHOFGO32) (the “Issuer”) 

accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best 

of the Issuer’s knowledge (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the 

case) the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts 

and this Base Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect the import of such 

information. 

The information in the section of this Base Prospectus headed “The Indices” consists 

only of extracts from, or summaries of, publicly available information. Such publicly 

available information was not prepared in connection with the offering of the Index-Linked 

Securities. The Issuer accepts responsibility for the accurate reproduction of such 

information. As far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information 

published by the relevant Index Sponsor, no facts have been omitted which would render 

such reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited accepts responsibility for the information contained 

in the section entitled “The Administrator and Determination Agent”. To the best of the 

knowledge and belief of JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited (which has taken all 

reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), such information is in accordance with 

the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. accepts responsibility for the information contained in the 

section entitled “The Custodian”. To the best of the knowledge and belief of Coinbase 

Luxembourg S.A. (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), 

such information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect 

the import of such information. 

Global X Digital Assets, LLC accepts responsibility for the information contained in the 

section entitled “The Arranger”. To the best of the knowledge and belief of Global X 

Digital Assets, LLC (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), 

such information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect 

the import of such information. 

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. accepts responsibility for the information 

contained in the section entitled “The Trustee”. To the best of the knowledge and belief 

of The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (which has taken all reasonable care to 

ensure that such is the case), such information is in accordance with the facts and does 

not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited accepts responsibility for the 

information contained in the section entitled “The Registrar and Issuing and Paying 

Agent”. To the best of the knowledge and belief of Computershare Investor Services 

(Jersey) Limited (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), 

such information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect 

the import of such information. 

The Issuer has not made any investigation with regards to the accuracy and 

completeness of the information under the sections entitled “The Administrator and 

Determination Agent”, “The Custodian”, “The Arranger”, “The Trustee”, and “The 

Registrar and Issuing and Paying Agent” in this Base Prospectus (the “Third Party 

Information”). Prospective investors in the Securities should not rely upon, and should 

make their own independent investigations and enquires in respect of, the accuracy and 

completeness of the Third Party Information. 
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Approval This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Swedish Financial Supervisory 

Authority Finansinspektionen (the “Swedish FSA”), as competent authority under 

Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (such approval the “Swedish FSA Approval”). The Swedish 

FSA only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, 

comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such 

approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or the quality of the 

Securities that are the subject to this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own 

assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Securities. 

The Issuer has requested the Swedish FSA to provide the competent authorities in 

Austria, Germany, Finland, Denmark, Netherlands and Norway with a certificate of 

approval attesting that this Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the 

EU Prospectus Regulation. 

The Issuer is not and will not be regulated by any regulator as a result of issuing the 

Securities. 

THE INVESTMENTS DESCRIBED IN THIS DOCUMENT DO NOT CONSTITUTE A 

COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT FUND FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE COLLECTIVE 

INVESTMENT FUNDS (JERSEY) LAW 1988, AS AMENDED, ON THE BASIS THAT 

THEY ARE INVESTMENT PRODUCTS DESIGNED FOR FINANCIALLY 

SOPHISTICATED INVESTORS WITH SPECIALIST KNOWLEDGE OF, AND 

EXPERIENCE IN INVESTING IN, SUCH INVESTMENTS, WHO ARE CAPABLE OF 

FULLY EVALUATING THE RISKS INVOLVED IN MAKING SUCH INVESTMENTS 

AND WHO HAVE AN ASSET BASE SUFFICIENTLY SUBSTANTIAL AS TO ENABLE 

THEM TO SUSTAIN ANY LOSS THAT THEY MIGHT SUFFER AS A RESULT OF 

MAKING SUCH INVESTMENTS. THESE INVESTMENTS ARE NOT REGARDED BY 

THE JERSEY FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION AS SUITABLE INVESTMENTS 

FOR ANY OTHER TYPE OF INVESTOR. 

ANY INDIVIDUAL INTENDING TO INVEST IN ANY INVESTMENT DESCRIBED IN 

THIS DOCUMENT SHOULD CONSULT HIS OR HER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER 

AND ENSURE THAT HE OR SHE FULLY UNDERSTANDS ALL THE RISKS 

ASSOCIATED WITH MAKING SUCH AN INVESTMENT AND HAS SUFFICIENT 

FINANCIAL RESOURCES TO SUSTAIN ANY LOSS THAT MAY ARISE FROM IT. 

The JFSC does not opine on, or otherwise endorse, the Issuer falling within the 

scope of the Collective Investment Funds (Restriction of Scope) (Jersey) Order 

2000. Accordingly, the JFSC takes no responsibility should the Issuer fail to meet 

the conditions of the Collective Investment Funds (Restriction of Scope) (Jersey) 

Order 2000. 

The Registrar and Issuing and Paying Agent is registered under the Financial Services 

(Jersey) Law 1998, as amended, (the “Financial Services Law”) to enable it to 

undertake its functions in relation to the Securities. The Jersey Financial Services 

Commission is protected by the Financial Services Law against liability arising from the 

discharge of its functions thereunder. 

The JFSC has given, and has not withdrawn, its consent under Article 4 of the Control 

of Borrowing (Jersey) Order 1958, as amended, to the issue of securities by the Issuer. 

The JFSC is protected by the Control of Borrowing (Jersey) Law, 1947, as amended, 

against liability arising from the discharge of its functions under that law. It must be 

distinctly understood that, in giving this consent, the JFSC does not take any 
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responsibility for the financial soundness of the Issuer or for the correctness of any 

statements made or expressed in this Base Prospectus. 

This Base Prospectus is valid for a maximum period of twelve months after the Swedish 

FSA Approval. The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake 

or material inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is 

capable of affecting the assessment of the Securities, prepare a supplement to this Base 

Prospectus. The obligation to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus in the event 

of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply 

when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid. 

This Base Prospectus permits offers of Securities to the public in Sweden, Austria, 

Germany, Finland, Denmark, Netherlands, Norway and, subject to the paragraph 

immediately below, Switzerland and/or admission to trading on the Relevant Stock 

Exchange specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Securities may be made available 

to retail investors. There are restrictions on the offer and sale of the Securities into certain 

jurisdictions. See the section headed “Subscription and Sale”. 

It is expected that this Base Prospectus (together with any supplements hereto as at 

such time), together with evidence of the Swedish FSA Approval, will be filed with a 

Swiss Review Body for automatic recognition in accordance with article 54(2) of the 

FinSA as a base prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA. In connection 

with any such filing, such Swiss Review Body will not review or approve this Base 

Prospectus (as so supplemented) or any subsequently published supplements hereto. 

Once this Base Prospectus (together with any supplements hereto as at such time) has 

been so filed and published in accordance with the FinSA, this Base Prospectus 

(together with any supplements hereto subsequently published from time to time, which 

supplements, once approved by the Swedish FSA, will be filed with the relevant Swiss 

Review Body and published in accordance with the FinSA) may be used, subject to any 

other applicable requirements under the FinSA or the Swiss Financial Services 

Ordinance of 6 November 2019, as amended (the “FinSO”), for any public offering of 

Securities in Switzerland and/or application for the admission to trading of Securities on 

the SIX Swiss Exchange or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading 

facility) in Switzerland. In such case, the applicable Final Terms will be filed with the 

relevant Swiss Review Body and published in accordance with the FinSA. The Final 

Terms for any such Securities will not be reviewed or approved by such Swiss Review 

Body. The Swedish FSA is not the competent authority and will neither approve nor 

review the Final Terms in respect of such Securities. 

Certain offers of the Securities may also be made where there is an exemption available 

under Article 3.2 of the EU Prospectus Regulation to the requirement to publish a 

Prospectus. 

No representations No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation 

other than those contained in this Base Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms in 

connection with the issue or sale of the Securities and, if given or made, such information 

or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or 

any of the Arranger, the Trustee or any of their respective affiliates. Neither the delivery 

of this Base Prospectus nor any sale of Securities made in connection therewith shall, 

under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the 

affairs of the Issuer since the date of this Base Prospectus or the date upon which this 

Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has 

been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date of this Base 

Prospectus or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently 

amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the 
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Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if 

different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. 

Neither the Arranger nor the Trustee nor any of their respective affiliates has separately 

verified the information contained in this Base Prospectus. Except as described above 

with respect to Third Party Information in respect of such party, neither the Arranger nor 

the Trustee nor any of their respective affiliates makes any representation, express or 

implied, or, to the fullest extent permitted by law, accepts any responsibility, with respect 

to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Base Prospectus or for 

any other statement made or purported to be made by the Arranger, the Trustee or any 

of their respective affiliates or on behalf of any of them in connection with the Issuer or 

the issue and offering of the Securities. Each of the Arranger and the Trustee accordingly 

disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as 

referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Base Prospectus or 

any such statement. 

Risk factors Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section 

headed “Risk Factors” and, in particular, to the limited recourse nature of the Securities 

and the fact that the Issuer is a special purpose vehicle. This Base Prospectus does not 

describe all of the risks of an investment in the Securities and there may be other reasons 

why the Issuer is unable to pay amounts due in respect of the Securities and/or why 

amounts payable in respect of the Securities may be reduced. 

The risk factors identified in this Base Prospectus are provided as general information 

only and the Arranger and the Trustee disclaim any responsibility to advise purchasers 

of Securities of the risks and investment considerations associated therewith as may 

exist at the date hereof or from time to time. 

No Investment 

Advice 

The directors of the Issuer have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the facts stated 

in this Base Prospectus are true and accurate in all material respects, and that there are 

no other facts, the omission of which would make misleading any statement in this Base 

Prospectus, whether of facts or of opinion. All the directors accept responsibility 

accordingly. Nothing in this document or anything communicated to holders or potential 

holders of Securities or other obligations by the Issuer is intended to constitute or should 

be construed as advice on the merits of the purchase or subscription for the Securities 

or the exercise of any rights attached thereto for the purposes of the Financial Services 

Law. 

The Issuer makes no representations as to: 

• the suitability of any Securities for any particular investor; 

• the appropriate accounting treatment or possible tax consequences of an 

investment in any Securities; or 

• the expected performance of any Securities, either in absolute terms of relative 

to competing investments. 

Independent 

review/investor 

suitability 

Independent review and investment advice 

Each prospective investor in the Securities must determine, based on its own 

independent review and such professional advice as it deems appropriate under the 

circumstances, that its acquisition of the Securities is fully consistent with its financial 

needs, objectives and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment 

policies and restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it, 

notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the 

Securities. 
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To determine whether an investment in the Securities is appropriate, each prospective 

investor must consider its own assessment of the financial condition and affairs and the 

creditworthiness of the Issuer and such professional advice (including, without limitation, 

any tax, accounting, business, legal and regulatory advice) as it deems appropriate to 

assess the economic and political condition of the country in which such obligor is 

located. 

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms is intended to provide the basis of any 

credit or other evaluation or should be considered as a recommendation or as constituting 

an invitation or offer that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms should 

purchase any of the Securities. Prospective investors should read the information set out 

in this Base Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms, and reach their own conclusions 

prior to making a decision in respect of any investment. The Trustee and the Arranger 

expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition, creditworthiness or affairs of 

the Issuer or any other relevant obligor(s) during the life of the arrangements 

contemplated by this Base Prospectus or the term of any Securities issued nor to advise 

any investor or potential investor in the Securities of any information coming to the 

attention of any of the Arranger, the Trustee or any of their respective affiliates. 

Investor suitability for complex products 

Prospective purchasers of Securities should conduct such independent investigation and 

analysis regarding the Issuer, the security arrangements and the Securities as they deem 

appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Securities. 

Prospective purchasers of Securities should have sufficient knowledge and experience 

in financial and business matters, and access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical 

resources, to evaluate the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the 

applicable Final Terms and the merits and risks of investing in the Securities in the context 

of their financial position and circumstances. 

Sufficient financial resources 

Each prospective investor in the Securities should have sufficient financial resources and 

liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Securities. This includes 

the risk of where principal and interest may reduce as a result of the occurrence of 

different events whether related to the creditworthiness of any entity or otherwise or 

changes in particular rates, values, prices or indices, or where the currency for principal 

or interest payments is different from the prospective investor’s currency. 

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuer, the Arranger, or the Trustee or any of 

their respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its 

acquisition of the Securities or as to the other matters referred to above. 

Applicable Laws 

Investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, 

or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective investor should therefore 

consult its professional advisers to determine whether and to what extent: 

• the Securities are legal investments for it; and/or 

• other restrictions apply to its purchase of any Securities. 

Financial institutions should consult their professional advisers or the appropriate 

regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Securities under any applicable risk-

based capital or similar rules. 
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No advisory or fiduciary obligations 

None of the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the other Transaction Parties or any of their 

respective affiliates is acting as an investment adviser or as adviser in any other capacity. 

None of them (other than the Trustee under the Trust Deed) assumes any fiduciary 

obligation to any purchaser of Securities or any other party, including the Issuer. 

No representations 

None of the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the other Transaction Parties makes any 

representation or warranty, express or implied, in respect of: 

• any Underlying Cryptoasset; or 

• any information contained in any documents prepared, provided or filed in 

respect of such Underlying Cryptoasset with any exchange, governmental, 

supervisory or self-regulatory authority or any other person. 

None of the Arranger or any of the other Transaction Parties makes any representation 

or warranty, express or implied, in respect of the Issuer or in respect of any information 

contained in any documents prepared, provided or filed by or on behalf of the Issuer. 

The risk factors identified in this Base Prospectus are provided as general information 

only and the Arranger and the Trustee disclaim any responsibility to advise purchasers 

of Securities of the risks and investment considerations associated therewith as they may 

exist at the date hereof or as they may from time to time alter. 

Non-Exempt Offers This Base Prospectus has been prepared on a basis that permits offers that are not made 

within an exemption from the requirement to publish a prospectus under Article 1(4) of 

the EU Prospectus Regulation (a “Non-Exempt Offer”) in Sweden, Austria, Germany, 

Finland, Denmark, Netherlands and Norway and, subject to completion of relevant 

notification measures, any other Member State within the EEA that is specified as a Non-

Exempt Offer Jurisdiction in the applicable Final Terms (each a “Non-Exempt Offer 

Jurisdiction” and together, the “Non-Exempt Offer Jurisdictions”). Any person making 

or intending to make a Non-Exempt Offer of Securities on the basis of this Base 

Prospectus must only do so with the Issuer’s consent – see “Consent to use this Base 

Prospectus” below. 

Consent to use 

this Base 

Prospectus 

In the context of any Non-Exempt Offer of Securities, the Issuer accepts responsibility, 

in each of the Non-Exempt Offer Jurisdictions, for the content of this Base Prospectus in 

relation to any prospective investor who purchases any Securities in a Non-Exempt Offer 

made by the Issuer or an Authorised Offeror (as defined below) where that offer is made 

during the Offer Period (as defined below) for which the consent is given and in 

compliance with the other conditions attached to the giving of the consent, all as set forth 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

Except in the circumstances described below, the Issuer has not authorised the making 

of any offer by any offeror and the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Base 

Prospectus by any other person in connection with any offer of the Securities in any 

jurisdiction. Any offer made without the consent of the Issuer is unauthorised and neither 

the Issuer not, for the avoidance of doubt, the Arranger accepts any responsibility or 

liability in relation to such offer or for the actions of the persons making any such 

unauthorised offer. 

If, in the context of a Non-Exempt Offer, a prospective investor is offered Securities by a 

person which is not an Authorised Offeror, the prospective investor should check with 

such person whether anyone is responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purpose of 

the relevant Non-Exempt Offer and, if so, who that person is. If a prospective investor is 
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in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible 

for its contents, the prospective investor should take legal advice. 

If so specified in the Final Terms in respect of any particular Series of Securities, the 

Issuer consents to the use of this Base Prospectus (as supplemented at the relevant 

time, if applicable) in connection with any Non-Exempt Offer of a Tranche of Securities 

in any of the Non-Exempt Offer Jurisdictions specified in the Final Terms during the Offer 

Period specified in the Final Terms which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated 

market for the purposes of MiFID II and/or are to be offered to the public in the European 

Economic Area, by: 

• the financial intermediary/ies specified in the applicable Final Terms (each, an 

“Authorised Offeror”); and 

• any other financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final 

Terms and whose name is published on the Issuer’s Website and identified as 

an Authorised Offeror in respect of the relevant Non-Exempt Offer, 

in each case subject to the relevant conditions as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

It shall be a condition of such consent that this Base Prospectus may only be used by 

the relevant Authorised Offeror(s) to make offerings of any Series of Securities in the 

Non-Exempt Offer Jurisdiction. The Securities may be made available to retail investors. 

The Issuer may (i) give consent to one or more additional Authorised Offerors after the 

date of the applicable Final Terms, (ii) discontinue or change the offer period, and/or (iii) 

remove or add conditions and, if it does so, such information in relation to the relevant 

Securities will be published on the Issuer’s Website. The consent relates only to offer 

periods occurring within the maximum period of 12 months from the date of this Base 

Prospectus. 

A prospective investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Securities from an 

Authorised Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of the Securities to such 

prospective investor by an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with 

any terms and other arrangements in place between such Authorised Offeror and 

the prospectus investor including as to price, allocations and settlement 

arrangements (the “Terms and Conditions of the Non-Exempt Offer”). The Issuer 

will not be a party to any such arrangements with such prospectus investor and, 

accordingly, this Base Prospectus does not, and any Final Terms will not, contain 

such information. The Terms and Conditions of the Non-Exempt Offer shall be 

provided to such prospective investor by that Authorised Offeror at the time the 

offer is made. None of the Issuer or, for the avoidance of doubt, the Arranger or 

other Authorised Offerors has any responsibility of liability for such information. 

Each Authorised Offeror using this Base Prospectus shall state on its website that 

it uses this Base Prospectus in accordance with the consent and conditions 

attached hereto. 

Distribution The distribution of this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering or sale of 

the Securities in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. In particular, no action has 

been or will be taken by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Trustee or any of their respective 

affiliates (save as specified in the applicable Final Terms) which is intended to permit a 

public offering of the Securities or distribution of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms 

in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Securities 

may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor 

any Final Terms nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or 

published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance 
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with any Applicable Laws. None of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Trustee represents 

that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Securities may be 

lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in 

any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any 

responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. Persons into whose 

possession this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms comes are required by the Issuer, 

the Arranger and the Trustee to inform themselves about and to observe any such 

restriction. 

The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 

1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or the securities laws of any of the states of 

the United States and include Securities that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. 

Securities may not at any time be offered, sold, pledged, delivered directly or indirectly 

or otherwise transferred within the United States or to or for the account or benefit of any 

(i) “U.S. persons” (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), (ii) “U.S. persons” 

(as defined in the final risk retention rules promulgated under Section 15G of the U.S. 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) or (iii) a person 

who comes within any definition of “U.S. person” for the purposes of the U.S. Commodity 

Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the “CEA”), or any rule, guidance or order proposed 

or issued by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”) thereunder 

(including but not limited to any person who is not a “Non-United States person” under 

CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv) and also including but not limited to a “U.S. person” as described 

in and for the purposes of the CFTC’s Interpretive Guidance and Policy Statement 

Regarding Compliance with Certain Swap Regulations, 78 Fed Reg. 45292 (July 26, 

2013) as amended from time to time). For a description of certain restrictions on offers 

and sales of Securities and on distribution of this Base Prospectus in the United States 

and the European Economic Area, see the section headed “Subscription and Sale”. 

Prohibition of 

sales to EEA retail 

investors 

If the Final Terms in respect of any Securities includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of 

Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Securities are not intended to be offered, sold or 

otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available 

to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a 

retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point 

(11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); (ii) a customer within 

the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution 

Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in 

point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation 

(EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “EU Prospectus Regulation”. Consequently no key 

information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the 

“PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them 

available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling 

the Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may 

be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation. 

Prohibition of 

sales to UK retail 

investors 

The Securities are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and 

should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United 

Kingdom (the “UK”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or 

more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Commission Delegated 

Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European 

Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as amended or supplemented in the UK thereafter; (ii) 

a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets 

Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA which were 

relied on immediately before exit day to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that 

customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) 
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of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European 

Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as amended or supplemented in the UK thereafter; or 

(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the Public Offers 

and Admissions to Trading Regulations (SI 2024/105) (the “POATRs”). Consequently no 

key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of 

the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and 

as amended or supplemented in the UK thereafter (as amended, the “UK PRIIPs 

Regulation”) for offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them available to 

retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the 

Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be 

unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation. 

In addition, notwithstanding any listing of the Securities on any UK market, under no 

circumstances shall the Securities be sold or distributed to a “retail client” (as defined in 

the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (“COBS”)) in the United Kingdom, 

nor marketed (including “communicating” and/or “approving a financial promotion”, as 

such terms are defined in COBS) if such marketing is addressed to or disseminated in 

such a way that it is likely to be received by such a retail client. Similarly, no key 

information document required by the UK PRIIPs Regulation for offering or selling the 

Securities or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been 

prepared and therefore offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them 

available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs 

Regulation. 

MiFID II Product 

Governance/Target 

Market 

The Final Terms in respect of any Series of Securities may include a legend entitled 

“MiFID II Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect 

of the Securities and which channels for distribution of the Securities are appropriate. 

Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Securities (a 

“distributor”) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a 

distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market 

assessment in respect of the Securities (by either adopting or refining the target market 

assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. The target market 

assessment in respect of the Securities may be retail investors. 

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of 

the MiFID II Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the 

“MiFID II Product Governance Rules”), any person subscribing for any Securities is a 

manufacturer in respect of such Securities, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor any 

of its affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID II Product Governance 

Rules. 

UK MiFIR Product 

Governance/Target 

Market 

The Final Terms in respect of any Series of Securities may include a legend entitled “UK 

MiFIR Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect 

of the Securities and which channels for distribution of the Securities are appropriate. 

Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Securities (a 

“distributor”) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a 

distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance 

Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is responsible for 

undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Securities (by either 

adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate 

distribution channels. The target market assessment in respect of the Securities may be 

retail investors. 

A determination will be made in relation to each relevant issue about whether, for the 

purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any person subscribing for any 
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Securities is a manufacturer in respect of such Securities, but otherwise neither the 

Arranger nor any of its affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR 

Product Governance Rules. 

STS While the Issuer is established as a special purpose vehicle for the issuance of the 

Securities as described in this Base Prospectus, no notification has been or is intended 

to be communicated to the European Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) in 

relation to the Simple, Transparent and Standardised (STS) criteria set out in Regulation 

(EU) 2017/2402. 

Money Laundering 

Regulations 

The verification of identity requirements of Jersey’s anti-money laundering laws and 

regulations and/or any subsequent equivalent legislation will apply to the Programme 

and verification of the identity of the (i) Authorised Participants or (ii) following a relevant 

announcement by the Issuer through a notice permitting non-Authorised Participants to 

deal with the Issuer, non-Authorised Participants, for Securities may be required. 

The anti-money laundering laws and regulations of other jurisdictions may also apply to 

the Programme and verification of the identity of the Authorised Participants or non-

Authorised Participants (as applicable). 

By lodging an Application Form, each Authorised Participant or non-Authorised 

Participants (as applicable) confirms that it is subject to the Money Laundering (Jersey) 

Order 2008 (as amended from time to time) (in relation to Jersey), the Money Laundering 

Regulations 2007 (in relation to the UK) and/or any other applicable anti-money 

laundering laws and regulations and/or undertakes to provide such other evidence of 

identity as is required by the Issuer at the time of lodging the Application Form, or, at the 

absolute discretion of the Issuer, at such specified time thereafter as may be requested 

to ensure compliance with the Money Laundering (Jersey) Order 2008, the Money 

Laundering Regulations 2007 and/or any other applicable legislation. 

The Issuer is entitled, in its absolute discretion, to determine whether the verification of 

identity requirements apply to any Authorised Participant or non-Authorised Participants 

(as applicable) and whether such requirements have been satisfied, the Issuer shall not 

be responsible or liable to any person for any loss or damage suffered as a result of the 

exercise of their discretion hereunder. 

No application will be accepted by the Issuer unless evidence of such Authorised 

Participant's or non-Authorised Participant's (as applicable) identity satisfactory to the 

Issuer and its agents is provided. 
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

Conflicts of interest may arise between the various parties involved in the issuance of Securities 

The Arranger and other Transaction Parties may act in multiple capacities in connection with any Series of 

Securities. The Arranger and other Transaction Parties have only the duties and responsibilities expressly agreed 

to in the relevant capacity and will not be deemed to have other duties or responsibilities or be deemed to be subject 

to a standard of care other than as may be expressly provided with respect to the relevant capacity. The Arranger 

and other Transaction Parties may enter into business dealings relating to the Securities or the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) without any duty to account for such revenues or profits. The Arranger and other Transaction Parties 

may purchase and hold Securities of any Series. 

The Arranger’s group and its personnel, including its sales and trading, investment research and investment 

management personnel, regularly make investment recommendations, or publish or express independent views in 

respect of a wide range of markets, issuers, securities and instruments. They regularly implement, or recommend, 

various investment strategies relating to these markets, issuers, securities and instruments. These strategies 

include, for example, buying or selling credit protection against a default or other event involving an entity or financial 

instruments. Any of these recommendations and views may be negative with respect to the Issuer or the Securities 

or other securities or instruments similar to the Securities or result in trading strategies that have a negative impact 

on the market for any such securities or instruments, particularly in illiquid markets. Securityholders should expect 

that personnel in the trading and investing businesses of the Arranger’s group will have independent views of the 

Issuer or other market trends which may not be aligned with the views and objectives of Securityholders. 

The Arranger’s group and other Transaction Parties may at any time be an active and significant participant in or 

act as market maker in relation to a wide range of markets for currencies, instruments relating to currencies, 

securities and derivatives. Activities undertaken by the Arranger’s group and other Transaction Parties may be on 

such a scale as to affect, temporarily or on a long-term basis, the price of such currencies, securities relating to 

currencies, securities and derivatives or securities and derivatives based on, or relating to, the Securities or any 

Underlying Cryptoasset. Notwithstanding this, neither the Arranger nor other Transaction Parties necessarily have 

a duty or obligation to take into account the interests of any party in relation to any Securities when effecting 

transactions in such markets. 

The Trustee is required to have regard to the interests of the Securityholders as a class and not individually 

and does not assume any duty or responsibility to the Transaction Parties 

In connection with the exercise of its functions, the Trustee will have regard to the interests of the Securityholders 

as a class and is not required to have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Securityholders. 

The Trustee is not entitled to require, nor is any Securityholder entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification 

or payment in respect of any such exercise upon individual Securityholders. 

In acting as Trustee under the Trust Deed, the Trustee does not, in respect of Securities of any Series, assume any 

duty or responsibility to any of the Custodian, the Determination Agent, any of the Paying Agents, any other Secured 

Creditor or any other Transaction Party (other than to pay any such party any moneys received and payable to it 

and to act in accordance with the Conditions and the Trust Deed). The Trustee is not obliged to act on any directions 

of any Secured Creditor or Transaction Party other than where expressly provided otherwise in the Transaction 

Documents to which the Trustee is a party, including in circumstances where it is directed to enforce the security. 
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ECONOMIC OVERVIEW OF THE SECURITIES 

The Issuer from time to time may issue Securities under the Programme which are secured on the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) for such Series of Securities. Information specific to each Series of Securities will be specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

The assets backing the Securities, being the Underlying Cryptoassets held in the Custody Accounts, have 

characteristics that demonstrate capacity to produce funds to service any payments due and payable on the 

Securities. In relation to each Series of Securities, the Issuer and the Trustee, as trustee for the Securityholders, 

will enter into a Security Document pursuant to which a Security over the Underlying Cryptoassets received as 

proceeds for subscribing for the Securities is created or perfected in favour of the Trustee, for its benefit and the 

benefit of the Securityholders. For the avoidance of doubt, at no time shall Underlying Cryptoassets include 

Prohibited Coins. 

The amount payable on the Securities will depend on the performance of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and the 

fees, costs and expenses charged in relation to the Securities. See the section of this Base Prospectus headed 

“Risk Factors”. 

APPLICATIONS FOR SECURITIES 

It is intended each Series of Securities will be subject to a continual and ongoing subscription and redemption 

mechanism. Authorised Participants may make an order for subscription of Securities (a “Subscription Order”) for 

the application of new Securities. Authorised Participants (or in certain circumstances, a Securityholder who is not 

an Authorised Participant) may submit a Redemption Order for the redemption of existing Securities. The minimum 

initial investment in Securities which must be made by an Authorised Participant is US $100,000. 

Subscriptions 

The process for the application for subscription of Securities by Authorised Participants is as follows. The process 

regarding Index-Linked Securities remains the same but references to the “Underlying Cryptoasset(s)” refer to the 

Underlying Cryptoasset Pool: 

1. Authorised Participants may make a Subscription Order for Securities in accordance with the Authorised 

Participant Agreement approximately two Business Days prior to delivery of the Securities by the Issuer; 

2. Following receipt of a valid order, the Issuer will confirm the application to the Authorised Participant; 

3. The Authorised Participant delivers either: 

a. in the case of physical applications, a quantity of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the 

Custodian equal to the Coin Entitlement for the Securities to which the Subscription Order relates, 

as required under the Conditions; or 

b. in the case of cash applications, cash in the Base Currency to the Issuer equal to the Coin 

Entitlement for the Securities to which the Subscription Order relates, as required under the 

Conditions, which the Issuer will then apply to acquire the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

an amount required under the Conditions; 

4. In respect of physical applications, the Custodian confirms to the Issuer that it has received the relevant 

quantity of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) as required under the Conditions; 

5. The Issuer issues the new Tranche of Securities and notifies the Issuing and Paying Agent; 

6. Upon the satisfactory completion of steps 1 to 5, the Issuer delivers the Securities to the relevant account of 

the Authorised Participant via the Relevant Clearing System (such as CREST) approximately two Business 

Days following receipt of the Subscription Order from the Authorised Participant; 

7. Following delivery of the Securities by the Issuer, the Issuer makes the application for the Securities to be 

admitted to trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange applicable for the Series; and 

8. The Authorised Participant may then sell the Securities on the Relevant Stock Exchange, sell the Securities 

in OTC transactions or hold the Securities. 

A diagrammatic overview of the process of application for the Securities by Authorised Participants is set out below. 

The Issuer may charge the Authorised Participant fees in respect of the subscription of Securities, as agreed 

between the Issuer and the Authorised Participant. In the event that the Issuer is holding cash or Underlying 



Economic Overview of the Securities 

 

 54  

 

Cryptoasset(s) in respect of a Subscription Order which does not satisfy the requirements set out in the Conditions 

and the Authorised Participant Agreement, or such order fails to settle in accordance with the Conditions and the 

Authorised Participant Agreement, the Issuer will notify the Authorised Participant forthwith and arrange for such 

cash or Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to be returned to the Authorised Participant as soon as reasonably possible. 

 

Redemptions 

An Authorised Participant (or in certain circumstances, a Securityholder who is not an Authorised Participant) may 

require the Issuer to redeem Securities. This is done by the submission of a Redemption Order which, to be valid, 

must: 

• specify the number and Series of Securities to be redeemed; 

• relate to only one Series of Securities; 

• be signed by, or by an authorised signatory on behalf of, the Authorised Participant or Securityholder (as 

applicable); 

• provide all forms of documentation required for the purposes of any compliance and identification checks; 

• comply with any additional requirements specified in any notice given by the Issuer; 

• specify a digital wallet (or bank account) into which the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (or net cash proceeds) 

are to be deposited, to the extent that it is not already specified in the relevant Authorised Participant 

Agreement; and 

• where submitted by a Securityholder who is not an Authorised Participant, elect the Physical Redemption 

Procedures or the Cash Redemption Procedures and contain any additional information as the Issuer 

(acting reasonably) determines is required to satisfy any application “know-your-customer” requirements, 

including (without limitation) that such Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder. 

In addition, where the Redemption Order is submitted by a Securityholder who is not an Authorised Participant, the 

redemption will be conditional upon payment by the Securityholder of the relevant Redemption Fee (as well as 

satisfaction of all relevant AML and KYC checks), which will be notified to the Securityholder by the Issuer following 

receipt of the Redemption Order. 

The process for the redemption of Securities is as follows: 

 

1. The Authorised Participant submits a valid Redemption Order in accordance with the Conditions; 
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2. The Issuer confirms the Redemption Order delivered by the Authorised Participant; 

3. The Authorised Participant makes an Acceptable Delivery of Securities to the Issuer; 

4. The Issuer circulates a Redemption Notice to the Transaction Parties, including to each of the Custodian 

and the Registrar and the Issuing and Paying Agent; 

5. On the relevant date, the Issuer: 

a. in the case of cash redemption, arranges a sale of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

respect of the Securities subject to redemption; or 

b. in the case of physical redemption, instructs the Custodian to transfer to the Securityholder the 

relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of the Securities subject to redemption; 

6. In relation to the redemption of the Securities: 

a. in the case of cash redemption, the Issuer arranges a sale of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and 

delivers an amount in the Base Currency equal to the Redemption Amount to the Securityholder 

via the Authorised Participant; or 

b. in the case of physical redemption, the Custodian delivers a quantity of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) equal to the Redemption Amount to the Securityholder via the Authorised 

Participant; and 

7. The Authorised Participant onward transfers the Redemption Amount to the Securityholder. 

8. The Issuing and Paying Agent cancels the Securities in the Issuer’s clearing account. 

 

The above summarises the subscription process by which Authorised Participants subscribes for Securities and 

redeems Securities directly from the Issuer. Prospective investors may purchase or sell Securities directly with the 

Authorised Participants or on the Relevant Stock Exchange on which such Securities are admitted to trading. 

Prospective investors should note that they may incur fees in respect of such purchases or sales of Securities in 

the secondary market, charged either by Authorised Participants, intermediaries or brokers or by the Relevant Stock 

Exchange on which such Securities are listed. 
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REDEMPTION EVENTS 

Optional Redemption 

Securityholders who are Authorised Participants (and, in certain circumstances, Securityholders who are not 

Authorised Participants) may request redemption of Securities through submission of a valid Redemption Order. 

Compulsory Redemption 

The Securities may also redeem automatically on the occurrence of the following events: 

• At the discretion of the Issuer on giving 30 calendar days’ notice; 

• The occurrence of an Issuer Insolvency Event; 

• In the absolute discretion of the Issuer where, following a written notice delivered by the Issuer to a 

Securityholder requiring that Securityholder to provide, within 10 Business Days of such notice, an executed 

certificate and evidence satisfactory to the Issuer that such Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder; 

o that Securityholder certifies that it is a Prohibited Securityholder; or 

o that Securityholder fails to provide an executed certificate in the form and manner required under the 

Conditions as to its status as a Prohibited Securityholder within 10 Business Days from the date of 

the Issuer’s notice; 

• The Issuer determining (acting reasonably) that it is illegal or impossible for the Issuer to issue or deal with 

such Securities or to hold or deal with the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of such Securities; or 

• An Event of Default occurs. 

Disruption and suspension 

In certain circumstances, the subscription or redemption of the Securities may be disrupted or suspended. These 

include: 

• The Determination Agent determining that the prevailing market value of the Coin Entitlement is less than 

100 per cent. of the principal amount of the Security; 

• Trading and/or settlement in the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is suspended or limited or any primary 

trading venue on which such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) trades is not open or has permanently discontinued; 

• In the case of Index-Linked Securities, a cancellation or disruption affecting the relevant Index or a 

modification to the methodology for calculating such Index, or any other event which results in the Issuer 

being unable to publish the Coin Entitlement in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities; 

• Resignation of all Custodian(s) in respect of the relevant Series of Securities without a replacement having 

been appointed; 

• The Secured Property in respect of a Series of Securities having been lost or is inaccessible; 

• In respect of redemptions only, in circumstances where the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of the 

Securities subject to redemption are staked by the Issuer; and/or 

• In respect of subscriptions only, at any time in the sole discretion of the Issuer. 

See the section headed “Redemption Events”. 

REDEMPTION PROCESS AND REDEMPTION AMOUNT 

On redemption the Securityholder will receive a cash amount in the Base Currency (where the Securities are 

redeemed in accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures) or a quantity of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

(whether the Securities are redeemed in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures) equal to the 

Redemption Amount on the relevant Settlement Date. The Securities do not bear interest. 
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The process for redemption of the Securities and the Redemption Amount will depend on whether the Securities 

are redeemed in accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures or the Physical Redemption Procedures. 

Cash Redemption Procedures 

On the Instruction Date, the Issuer shall arrange for the sale of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). The Redemption 

Amount will be transferred to the Securityholder (via the Authorised Participant) through the Relevant Clearing 

System on the Settlement Date, being: 

• in the case of Optional Redemption, the second Payment Business Day following the date on which the 

Issuer has received in full cleared funds the proceeds of sale of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

respect of the Securities; or 

• in the case of Compulsory Redemption, the Payment Business Day following the Instruction Date, or such 

other date as the Issuer may determine (acting reasonably) to facilitate an orderly redemption. 

On cash redemption the Securityholders will be entitled to a portion of the actual net proceeds realised on sale of 

the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), minus a portion of the Redemption Deductions for the Series. The Cash Redemption 

Amount is calculated as follows: 

(A) the quotient of: 

o the net proceeds actually realised from the sale of an amount of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) equal to the 

Coin Entitlement for such Series; divided by 

o the proportion that the Securities of such Series held by that Securityholder that are subject to redemption 

bears to the total number of Securities of such Series subject to redemption; 

minus 

 

(B) the Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions for the Series subject to redemption; 

Physical Redemption Procedures 

On the Instruction Date, the Issuer shall instruct the Custodian to transfer the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in an 

amount equal to the Redemption Amount to the account of the Securityholder. The Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will 

be delivered to the Securityholder on the Settlement Date, being: 

• in the case of Optional Redemption, the second Valuation Date after delivery of the Redemption Notice, or, 

where the Issuer determines (acting reasonably) that the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will not be deposited to 

the account of the Securityholder on such date, such later Valuation Date as the Issuer may determine; or 

• in the case of Compulsory Redemption, the Payment Business Day following the Instruction Date, or such 

other date as the Issuer may determine (acting reasonably) to facilitate an orderly redemption. 

On physical redemption the Securityholders will be entitled to a quantity of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) minus a 

portion of the Redemption Deductions for the Series. The Physical Redemption Amount is calculated as: 

• the product of: 

o the Coin Entitlement with respect to a Security of that Series; and 

o the number of Securities held by that Securityholder subject to redemption; 

minus 

• the Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions with respect to the Securityholder and the Securities of 

that Series held by that Securityholder. 
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Weight Adjustment Factor 

The Weight Adjustment Factor in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities is a value as determined by the 

Determination Agent and adjusted from time to time, without notice, to reflect the change to the composition, 

quantities and weightings of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) comprising the Coin Entitlement in respect of a Series of 

Index-Linked Securities during a Rebalancing Period. This Weight Adjustment Factor will also incorporate the 

outcome of the rebalancing trades, including execution fees and slippage. The Weight Adjustment Factor for any 

Series of Index-Linked Securities shall be zero on any day other than a Rebalancing Date. The Weight Adjustment 

Factor in respect of any Series of Securities that are not Index-Linked Securities shall always be zero. 

Coin Entitlement 

Each Series of Securities has a Coin Entitlement. The Coin Entitlement is a quantity of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

which is used to calculate the Redemption Amount for the Series of Securities. The initial Coin Entitlement is 

specified in the applicable Final Terms and will be published each Business Day on the Issuer’s Website. In certain 

circumstances, the publication of the Coin Entitlement for a Series of Index-Linked Securities may be postponed or 

delayed. This may occur, for example, if a Calculation Disruption occurs during a Rebalancing Period which 

prevents the Issuer or the Determination Agent on its behalf from being able to determine the Weight Adjustment 

Factor for such Rebalancing Date. 

The Coin Entitlement is calculated in accordance with the following formula and reduces on a daily basis to reflect 

the accrued Arranger Fee payable in respect of the Securities. 

𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑡) = 𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑡−1) 𝑥 (1 − 𝐴𝐹(𝑖,𝑡)) 1/𝑁  +  𝑊𝐴(𝑖, 𝑗, 𝑡 − 1)  

 

where: 

i  means the relevant Series of Security; 

j  refers to each digital currency comprising the Coin Entitlement in respect of that Class 

of Securities on day t; 

t  means the applicable day (with t-1 being the previous day); 

𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑡)  means the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Security for day t; 

𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑡−1)  means the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Security on the day prior to day t; 

𝐴𝐹(𝑖,𝑡) means the per annum Arranger Fee applicable to that Series of Security on day t, 

expressed as a decimal (for example, an annual fee of 98 basis points per annum is 

expressed as 0.0098); and 

N  means the number of days in the calendar year, being 365 or 366. 

WA(i,j, t-1) is the Weight Adjustment Factor applicable in respect of each Cryptoasset comprising 

the Coin Entitlement in respect of that Series of Securities on day t (which shall always 

be zero in respect of all Securities that are not Index-Linked Securities and which shall 

be zero on any day that is not a Rebalancing Date in respect of any Index-Linked 

Securities). 

Arranger Fee 

The Arranger Fee for each Series of Securities is the amount paid by the Issuer to the Arranger for the administrative 

and operational services provided by the Arranger to the Issuer in respect of the Programme. The Arranger Fee 

accrues on a daily basis and is deducted from the Coin Entitlement. 

The Arranger Fee for a Series of Securities is specified in the applicable Final Terms and may be varied by the 

Issuer from time to time. If the Arranger Fee is varied, the Securityholders will be notified and the varied Arranger 

Fee will not take effect for a period of 5 Business Days from the date of such notice. 
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Worked example of Coin Entitlement 

Consider on day 1 the Coin Entitlement is specified in the applicable Final Terms as 0.02 and the Arranger Fee for 

the Series of Securities is 0.0098 per cent per annum. On day 2 the Coin Entitlement would be reduced to take 

account for the daily amount of the annual Arranger Fee charged for that day. This would be calculated as follows. 

𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑡) = 0.02 𝑥 (1 − 0.0098) 
1

365 = 0.02 𝑥 (0.999973) = 0.01999946 

On day three, the Coin Entitlement would reduce further to reflect another days’ worth of accrued Arranger Fee 

payable. This would be calculated as follows. 

𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑡) = 0.01999946 𝑥 (1 − 0.0098) 
1

365 = 0.0.01999946 𝑥 (0.0.999973 )

= 0.01999892 

As demonstrated above, the Coin Entitlement reduces on a daily basis to take account for the daily accrual of the 

Arranger Fee payable by the Issuer. 

Redemption Deductions and Coin Equivalent 

The Redemption Deductions are deducted at redemption as part of the calculation of the Redemption Amount. The 

Redemption Deductions is primarily made up of the Execution Fee, which reflects the necessary costs of the Issuer 

actually incurred in connection with the sale or transfer of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

The Redemption Deductions may be incurred by the Issuer in fiat currency. This amount is transferred into the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) using the concept of the Coin Equivalent. The Coin Equivalent is the amount of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) determined by the Determination Agent (in good faith) equal to the amount of 

Redemption Deductions incurred by the Issuer in fiat currency. 

The Redemption Deductions will be notified to the relevant Securityholders at the time of redemption and are 

deducted from the Coin Entitlement to calculate the Redemption Amount. 

Converting the Coin Entitlement into an indicative market value 

Securityholders should be aware that, as at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer intends for all subscriptions 

(and redemptions) for any Series of Securities to be effected physically through delivery by the Authorised 

Participant (or to the Authorised Participant) of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s). Therefore the Issuer will only 

issue Securities once it has received the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) into the account held with the Custodian, and 

will only settle redemption of the Securities by delivering the relevant amount of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the 

Authorised Participant (or, in certain circumstances, the Securityholder). 

There are multiple indicative prices publicly available for Underlying Cryptoasset(s) that may be used by 

Securityholders to determine an indicative market value price for the Securities which it holds on any given day. 

Each Security that is held by a Securityholder contains an entitlement on redemption to the Redemption Amount 

which is calculated by reference to the Coin Entitlement. Securityholders or prospective investors may convert that 

Coin Entitlement into an indicative market value for Securities by using the following formula: 

Coin Entitlement x Indicative Price = Indicative Market Value 

There may be multiple indicative prices for the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) available which may be used by 

Securityholders for this purpose. The Issuer intends to use the price for the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) published by 

Coinmetrics on https://charts.coinmetrics.io/network-data/ to provide an indicative market value for Securities on a 

daily basis. Information about the past and future performance of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) and their volatility 

can be obtained at the Pricing Source. 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/charts.coinmetrics.io/network-data/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6OTc3MTpiZGY4YzQyMTQ2MzBkYzNkOTc5ZWZlZjhmZGRkZjkxNjI0Yzg3MzMzYTA4MzFhYWY0MWFlOGI3MjcxN2M1MzcxOnA6VDpO
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For example, consider a Securityholder holds Bitcoin-linked Securities on 31 December 2025 with a Coin 

Entitlement of 0.000985762483. The closing price for Bitcoin published by Coinmetrics on 31 December 2025 was 

$87,516.98. The indicative market value for such Securities would therefore be calculated as follows: 

0.000985762483 x $87,516.98 = $86.27 

Trading at premium or discount 

In the event that a class of Security trades at a significant premium or discount (i.e. +/- 2 per cent. or more for seven 

consecutive trading days) to the expected price for such Security based on prevailing market prices for the specified 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s), the Issuer will make disclosure of such premium or discount on the Issuer’s Website and 

provide a discussion of the factors that are reasonably believed to have materially contributed to the premium or 

discount (as applicable). 

Although the Issuer relies solely on the Coin Entitlement for purposes of the application and redemption process, 

potential investors can look to external sources for real time prices of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). Those sources 

include dedicated trading venues for digital assets, such as those listed under the heading ‘Exchanges and liquidity’ 

above and more traditional indexes and reference prices provided by index providers such as Bloomberg Index 

Services, CF Benchmarks and FTSE Russell Indices. See the section headed “Converting the Coin Entitlement into 

an indicative market value” above. The list is not exhaustive, and the Issuer takes no responsibility for the reliability 

or the accuracy of prices published by trading venues or index providers. 

Worked examples 

The three examples below show how an investors holding of the Securities may be impacted by a change in the 

market value of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) over the period of one year. These examples are for illustrative 

purposes only and do not indicate or represent actual or future performance of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 

Note this excludes any fees which may be incurred by Securityholders in relation to the purchase and sale of the 

Securities on the Relevant Stock Exchange on which such Securities are admitted to trading and any custody fees. 

The below also excludes any Redemption Deductions which may be charged in relation to the redemption of the 

Securities, which would reduce the amount received by Securityholders. 

  Example 1 – increase 

in price of Underlying 

Cryptoasset 

 Example 2 – neutral 

price of Underlying 

Cryptoasset 

 Example 3 – decrease in 

price of Underlying 

Cryptoasset 

Acquisition 

price 

 $100  $100  $100 

Price of 

Underlying 

Cryptoasset 

 $1,000  $1,000  $1,000 

Coin 

Entitlement 

 0.02  0.02  0.02 

Arranger Fee  0.0098  0.0098  0.0098 

Period of 

investment 

 365 days  365 days  365 days 

Fees charged 

during period of 

investment 

 $0.3145   $0.1966   $0.0786 

Movement in 

price of 

 + $600 

(60% increase) 

 +/- $0 

(neutral) 

 - $600 

(60% decrease) 
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Underlying 

Cryptoasset 

Sale Price  $100  $100  $100 

Gain / Loss  +$59.69   -$0.20   -$60.08 

Index-Linked Securities 

The three hypothetical scenarios in this section show some possible outcomes of an investment in Index-Linked 

Securities. These scenarios are not indicators of the actual future performance of the Securities and are for 

illustration purposes only. The following assumptions have been made: 

1. An investor invests for one full calendar year. 

2. One Index-Linked Security is purchased from a broker at a price of $100. 

3. The relevant Index referenced by that Security is comprised of two Cryptoassets and accordingly, the Coin 

Entitlement for that Security is comprised of two Cryptoassets. The price of one Cryptoasset (Cryptoasset 

1) is $10,000 when the relevant Index-Linked Security is purchased and the price of the second digital 

currency (Cryptoasset 2) is $10,000 when the relevant Index-Linked Security is purchased. 

4. The Individual Coin Entitlement of Cryptoasset 1 is 0.005 x Cryptoasset 1 and the Individual Coin 

Entitlement of Cryptoasset 2 is 0.005 x Cryptoasset 2. The Coin Entitlement for the relevant Index-Linked 

Security when it was purchased was therefore 0.005 x Cryptoasset 1 and 0.005 x Cryptoasset 2. 

5. The annual level of fees are 0.95 per cent., for which a dollar value has been given in the scenarios below. 

6. There are no changes in the level of fees charged on the Index-Linked Security during the investment 

period. 

7. All transaction fees (including any commission) of the investor's broker and investment adviser for the sale 

and purchase of the Index-Linked Security and the custody fees of the investors bank are excluded. 

8. No Rebalancing occurs in respect of the relevant Index or the Index-Linked Security during the investment 

period. 

Scenario 1: The price of Cryptoasset 1 decreases and the price of Cryptoasset 2 remains the same  

• One Index-Linked Security is purchased from a broker at a price of $100. 

• The price of Cryptoasset 1 reduces by 75% to $2,500 a year later. 

• The price of the Cryptoasset 2 remains the same one year later. 

• The sum of the fees charged during this time would be $0.59375 per Index-Linked Security. 

• No Rebalancing occurs during the investment period. 

• The price of the Index-Linked Security has decreased to $61.91. The investor sells the Index-Linked Security 

and has lost $38.09 from his/her initial investment of $100 a year ago. 

Scenario 2: The price of Cryptoasset 1 increases and the price of Cryptoasset 2 remains the same  

• One Index-Linked Security is purchased from a broker at a price of $100. 

• The price of Cryptoasset 1 increases by 75% to $17,500 one year later. 

• The price of the Cryptoasset 2 remains the same one year later. 

• The sum of the fees charged during this time would be $1.30625 per Index-Linked Security. 
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• The price of the Index-Linked Security has increased to $136.19. 

• The investor sells the Index-Linked Security and has gained $36.19 from his/her initial investment of $100 a 

year ago. 

Scenario 3: The price of each Cryptoasset remains the same 

• One Index-Linked Security is purchased from a broker at a price of $100. 

• The price of each Cryptoasset remains the same one year later. 

• The sum of the fees charged during this time would be $0.95 per Index-Linked Security. 

• The price of the Index-Linked Security has decreased to $99.05. The investor sells the Index-Linked Security 

and has lost $0.95 from his/her initial investment of $100 a year ago. 

Taxation 

All payments or deliveries in respect of the Securities shall be made subject to any deduction or withholding for or 

on account of any present or future tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar nature (including 

any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same) imposed 

by any authority of any jurisdiction. If any such withholding or deduction is required, no additional amounts will be 

paid by the Issuer or any Agent in respect of such withholding or deduction. 

Investors should also consult with their local tax advisor regarding their specific investment and circumstances to 

identify any tax implications of investing in Securities. Each investor is solely responsible for all taxes which may be 

applied to the Securities. 

Investors should consider and have due regard for the tax treatment of the Securities in the relevant jurisdiction 

prior to their investment. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE UNDERLYING CRYPTOASSET MARKET AND INDICES 

The single Underlying Cryptoasset for a Series of Securities that are not Index-Linked Securities will be AAVE, 

Bitcoin, Chainlink, Ethereum or Uniswap as set out in the Final Terms. For Index-Linked Securities, the relevant 

Index will be as set out in the Final Terms. Descriptions of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s), Indices, cryptocurrencies 

generally and the relevant market in the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are set out below. 

The information provided below does not purport to be a complete summary of information relating to the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) and prospective investors are advised to conduct their own independent investigation of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) or consult with their relevant advisors as to the prospects and consequences of an 

investment in the Securities. 

The following information has been extracted from the sources identified below. The Issuer confirms that such 

information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from published 

information, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

Introduction 

Cryptocurrencies are not issued by any government, bank or central organisation in the same way as fiat currencies 

or traditional assets such as bonds or equities. Cryptocurrencies are not insured or subject to insurance policies 

and are not backed by any physical assets or credit. Cryptocurrencies are “decentralised” and exist on an online, 

peer-to-peer network that hosts a public record of each transaction in that cryptocurrency. 

For purposes of this section, the Issuer defines a cryptocurrency as a store of value that can only be transferred 

electronically and is cryptographically stored, verified and recorded on a blockchain or other form of distributed 

ledger. 

Mining 

Cryptocurrencies are secured through the use of technology called cryptography. Cryptography involves the 

encryption and decryption of information using two sets of keys (which are essentially unique large numbers) – a 

“private key” and a “public key”. The private key is a randomly allocated unique large number, and the public key is 

a unique large number which is calculated by solving a complex computer algorithm to the private key. Whilst the 

public key can be calculated using the private key, the private key cannot be calculated using the public key. 

When a cryptocurrency transaction occurs (e.g. the transfer of Bitcoin from one digital wallet to another digital wallet) 

it is electronically signed by the owner and the public key for that transaction is then broadcast to the users of peer-

to-peer network. Network participants known as “miners” use cryptography to encrypt the owner of the 

cryptocurrency and verify if the transaction is valid. They do this by solving the computer algorithm and calculating 

the private key from the public key. This process is known as “mining”. 

The transaction is only deemed as valid if it is accepted by the majority of nodes on the network, which is achieved 

through solving the computer algorithm back to the earliest transaction on the public ledger. Only then will the 

transaction be verified and an additional transaction recorded, which adds an additional “block” to the “chain”. The 

public ledger of all transactions on the network is therefore known as the “blockchain”, as new blocks are only added 

where the transaction is solved back to the earliest “block”, creating a continuous chain which has been verified by 

the network participants. 

Once validated, the cryptocurrency is transferred to the digital wallet or address associated to the private key, and 

can only be transferred onwards using that private key. This means the ownership the private key controls ownership 

of the cryptocurrency, similar to a bearer instrument. The miner is rewarded with a fixed amount of a newly created 

cryptocurrency for successfully solving the computer algorithm to validate the transaction. 
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Mining is known as “proof of work” and through a combination of factors (there being only one unique solution to 

the algorithm, the transaction only being validated if accepted by the majority of nodes, “miners” competing to solve 

the algorithm based on the earliest “block” and the addition of new “blocks” being irreversible) ensures the legitimacy 

of the relevant blockchain and the cryptocurrency to which it relates. 

Staking 

The mining process uses a large amount of computational power and energy to validate transactions. Some 

blockchains therefore rely on a process known as “staking”. Rather than mining, this involves participants validating 

transactions by “staking” existing cryptocurrencies. Transactions are recorded (and blocks added to the chain) 

based on the proportion of cryptocurrency “staked” by the participant relative to the total amount of cryptocurrency 

outstanding for that blockchain. This is known as “proof-of-stake”. 

The key difference between staking and mining is that staking (proof-of-stake) allows participants to use existing 

cryptocurrencies to validate new transactions, whereas mining (proof of work) rewards participants who expend the 

most computational power to solve algorithms to validate new transactions. 

Trading venues and liquidity 

The trading of cryptocurrencies works in the same way as foreign exchange trading, whereby market participants 

can buy and sell cryptocurrencies in exchange for fiat currencies or other cryptocurrencies on trading venues. 

Trading of cryptocurrencies generally occurs as follows: (i) trading venues which connect buyers and sellers and 

the price is determined by transactions in the market, with transaction fees charged per trade; (ii) trading venues 

which allow direct peer-to-peer trading and allow buyers and sellers to set prices; and (iii) brokerages which set the 

price of the cryptocurrencies traded on their websites. 

Before buying or selling cryptocurrencies directly, each buyer and seller must obtain a digital “wallet” to store the 

cryptocurrency. The “wallet” is a software programme with a unique address and verification system including a 

linked “public key” and “private key” to facilitate transfer of cryptocurrencies. 

There are multiple trading venues globally which permit trading of cryptocurrencies and publish market prices for 

cryptocurrencies linked to fiat currencies such as USD, EUR or GBP as well as other cryptocurrencies. Many of 

these trade cryptocurrencies 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year. Popular cryptocurrency trading 

venues include Coinbase, Binance, Kraken, Gemini and Bitfinex. 

Further information on the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) including information on the past performance of 

cryptocurrencies is available free of charge in a variety of places, including https://www.coinbase.com/price, 

https://coinmarketcap.com/ and https://www.cryptocompare.com/. 

The Issuer takes no responsibility for the content of these websites and they are not incorporated by reference into 

this Base Prospectus. 

Pricing and volatility 

Cryptocurrencies are extremely volatile when compared to fiat currencies and most (if not all) traditional asset 

classes. Due to the peer-to-peer nature of cryptocurrencies and the fact they can be traded continuously, price is 

heavily influenced by supply and demand. The price of a cryptocurrency can increase or decrease significantly in a 

matter of hours or even minutes, often caused by short term trading. 

In the event that any Series of Securities trades at a significant premium or discount (i.e. +/- 2 per cent. or more for 

seven consecutive trading days) to the expected price for such Series based on prevailing market prices for the 

specified Underlying Cryptoasset(s), the Issuer will make disclosure of such premium or discount on the Issuer’s 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/www.coinbase.com/price___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6ZTIyOToxMDIzZGYxYWUyOTgxYmU2OTBkNzUyNTU5ZGIzOGJmNjU3MDAzZmY0NmNiNTUxYzQyNTYzMTI3N2E2NzIzNDA2OnA6VDpO
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/coinmarketcap.com/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6NGE2Yzo0YWFlMzcxMzMyYzZjYzBmODQxN2IzZmY3YTY4NDhlMWYxOThiOWVjMzgzYjBlODg5ODA4MjgyMjgwMmNkYjExOnA6VDpO
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/www.cryptocompare.com/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6NTc1NTpkYjljNzUzYWRjMTM0ZjM1MThmNTc0OGU2NWY3MjRkMmM0NmY0MDBjY2MxYzQ5MDZhNjk2MmE5YTk0ZjAwMWRjOnA6VDpO
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Website and provide a discussion of the factors that are reasonably believed to have materially contributed to the 

premium or discount (as applicable). 

Although the Issuer relies solely on the Coin Entitlement for purposes of the application and redemption process, 

potential investors can look to external sources for real time prices of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). Those sources 

include dedicated trading venues for digital assets, such as those listed under the heading 'Exchanges and liquidity' 

above and more traditional indexes and reference prices provided by index providers such as Bloomberg Index 

Services, CF Benchmarks and FTSE Russell Indices. See the section headed “Converting the Coin Entitlement into 

an indicative market value”. The list is not exhaustive, and the Issuer takes no responsibility for the reliability or the 

accuracy of prices published by trading venues or index providers. 

Storage 

Cryptocurrencies are stored in digital wallets online and protected by the private key, which is held only by the owner 

of the cryptoasset. As the control of the private key dictates ownership of the cryptoasset, the key function of the 

storage arrangement is to protect the private key. 

Storage of the private key can either be “hot” or “cold”. “Hot” storage involves the private key being maintained only 

online in a digital wallet that can be accessed by the owner using a software application. “Cold” storage involves a 

physical version of the private key being stored in a vault, in a similar way to storage of gold or other precious 

metals. 

Types of cryptocurrencies 

Securities issued under the Programme that are not stated to be an “Index-Linked Security” in the applicable Final 

Terms may only be linked to a single crypto asset. Such single-tracking products currently are linked to AAVE, 

Bitcoin, Chainlink, Ethereum and Uniswap. On the Issue Date of the relevant Series of Securities the Underlying 

Cryptoasset with respect to such Series of Securities will not comprise a Prohibited Coin. There are various other 

cryptocurrencies on the market including, but not limited to: XRP, Litecoin, Bitcoin Cash, Binance Coin, Tether, 

EOS, Polkadot and Cardano (and those other cryptocurrencies mentioned below). Securities issued under the 

Programme that are stated to be an “Index-Linked Security” in the applicable Final Terms will be linked to an Index 

that may track the performance of one or more of the above-mentioned cryptocurrencies (amongst others). Due to 

the open-source nature of blockchain technology, new cryptocurrencies are regularly launched and over time, new 

cryptocurrencies may replace those named above as the most popular and largest cryptocurrencies by market 

capitalisation.  

As at 31 December 2025, according to popular cryptocurrency website www.coinmarketcap.com, the total market 

capitalisation of all cryptocurrencies exceeded $2.96 trillion. 

0x 

0x is a decentralised exchange for trading ERC 20 tokens and other assets on the Ethereum blockchain. ZRX is an 

ERC-20 token which is the native governance and staking token of 0x. 

1inch Network 

The 1inch Network unites its decentralised protocols which aims to enable fast, secure and profitable operations in 

the decentralised finance space. This space includes decentralised exchange, liquidity, order protocol and wallet. 

AAVE 

AAVE is a decentralised finance (DeFi) platform running on the Ethereum blockchain, where users can borrow a 

range of cryptocurrencies, as well as lend assets in exchange for interest payments, all without needing an 

intermediary. 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/coinmarketcap.com/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6NGE2Yzo0YWFlMzcxMzMyYzZjYzBmODQxN2IzZmY3YTY4NDhlMWYxOThiOWVjMzgzYjBlODg5ODA4MjgyMjgwMmNkYjExOnA6VDpO
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Algorand 

Algorand is a layer-1 decentralised blockchain which supports smart contracts. This blockchain uses proof-of-stake 

consensus mechanism and aims to be scalable and minimize the risks of smart contracts. ALGO is the native token 

of Algorand platform. 

AMP 

AMP is a digital collateral Ethereum token which aims to collateralize payment and verify collateralization through 

a system of collateral partitions and collateral managers. Users stake AMP via the Flexa Network so as to provide 

collateralization across the platform. 

Anchor protocol 

Anchor Protocol is a lending and borrowing protocol offering attractive yields on stablecoin deposits. Lenders 

deposit UST and earn attractive rates on their investments while borrowers can turn their LUNA collateral into 

productive assets without giving up control of it. 

Ankr 

Ankr is a decentralised blockchain infrastructure which aims to facilitate the adoption of Web3 by creating a platform 

where the users can deploy nodes on proof-of-stake blockchains, access decentralised finance application and 

stake their tokens. ANKR coin is a native utility token which is needed for payments and transactions for several 

Ankr’s services. 

ApeCoin 

ApeCoin is an ERC-20 governance and utility token used within the APE Ecosystem to empower and incentivise a 

decentralised community building at the forefront of web3. 

Aptos 

Aptos is a layer-1 blockchain which employs smart contract programming language called Move. 

Arbitrum 

Arbitrum is an Ethereum layer-two scaling solution which aims to improve cost-efficiency, scalability and speed on 

Ethereum. Arbitrum’s native token is called ARB and is used for governance. 

Arweave 

Arweave is a decentralised protocol which aims to store global information securely and permanently. 

Avalanche 

Avalanche is a decentralised blockchain with smart contract functionality which aims to be eco-friendly have low 

costs and enable fast transactions. AVAX is the native token of Avalanche platform. 

Bancor 

Bancor is a blockchain protocol that allows users to convert between different tokens directly as opposed to 

exchanging them on cryptocurrency markets. A key characteristic of the protocol is that it doesn’t call for an 

exchange of tokens with a second party, as in the case of cryptocurrency exchanges. Instead, it employs Smart 

https://coinmarketcap.com/currencies/anchor-protocol/
https://coinmarketcap.com/alexandria/glossary/stablecoin
https://coinmarketcap.com/currencies/terrausd/
https://coinmarketcap.com/currencies/terra-luna/


Overview of the Underlying Cryptoasset Market 

 

 67  

 

Tokens to convert between different ERC-20 tokens internally. Bancor Network Token (BNT) is a protocol token 

used on the network which helps to provide some liquidity for the pool available on the network. 

Basic Attention Token 

The Basic Attention Token (BAT) is a decentralised blockchain built on Ethereum which aims to be a digital 

advertising platform that makes a better experience for its customers and is more tailored to their interests without 

disclosing their data privacy rights. 

Binance Coin 

Binance exchange is a cryptocurrency exchange that supports several traded cryptocurrencies and provides a 

crypto wallet for traders to store their cryptocurrencies. Binance Coin (BNB) is the native coin of the Binance chain, 

which underpins a lot of the services provided by Binance. BNB can be used, amongst others, to (i) reduce trading 

fees on the platform, (ii) convert residual crypto balances, and (iii) use some Binance DeFi services. 

Bitcoin 

Bitcoin is widely considered as the first cryptocurrency. It was created following a paper published in 2008 by 

“Satoshi Nakamoto” (a pseudonym for an individual or group of individuals) which described a decentralised, digital 

currency which allowed for peer-to-peer secure transfer of value without the oversight of a central authority. The 

first 50 Bitcoins were mined in January 2009 which created the “genesis block” of the Bitcoin blockchain. 

The code behind the Bitcoin blockchain is open-source, which means individuals are able to use its code to create 

a new blockchain which is originally based on the Bitcoin blockchain. This is known as a “fork”, as it creates a fork 

in the original blockchain. Since its launch, Bitcoin has faced pressure over its scalability, which has led to two 

notable forks: 

• In 2011, Charlie Lee changed some key parameters of the Bitcoin code including an increase the total supply 

of the currency to a maximum of 84 million (increased from 21 million for Bitcoin) and to reduce the confirmation 

time to 2.5 minutes. This created Litecoin.  

• In 2017, a group of developers created a replica of the blockchain on which Bitcoin was based to resolve 

perceived issues with the scalability of Bitcoin. The primary change was to expand the block size from 1 

megabyte to 8 megabytes. This created Bitcoin Cash. 

Bitcoin is established as the most widely held and biggest Cryptoasset and has a market capitalisation of $1.75 

trillion as at 31 December 2025 (according to https://coinmarketcap.com/currencies/bitcoin/). The cryptocurrency of 

the Bitcoin blockchain is Bitcoin or BTC.  

Bitcoin Cash 

Bitcoin Cash is a cryptocurrency created from a Bitcoin hard fork occurring in August 2018. Bitcoin Cash has been 

designed to improve stability, allow more transactions into a single block and allow, at the same time more 

transactions to be processed. Bitcoin Cash uses the same consensus mechanism as Bitcoin and has a supply cap 

of 21 million coins. 

BitDao 

BitDao is a decentralised autonomous organization which focuses on decentralised finance. It is managed by the 

holders of BIT tokens. 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/coinmarketcap.com/currencies/bitcoin/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6MzdiNTpjMjBjYjg4ZTcxNDhjMzdiYjMxMjMxNGRlOTA1ZTBlNDBlOTI0OGVmNGNiMGFhMGZiZTJjNTZhNDFmY2ZlOGQzOnA6VDpO
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Bittensor 

Bittensor is an open-source protocol that powers a decentralised, blockchain-based machine learning network. The 

native currency is TAO and offer both reward and access token on the network. 

Cardano 

Cardano is a decentralised blockchain platform. The primary cryptocurrency of Cardano is called ADA. Cardano 

can be used to store value, build smart contracts, create decentralised applications and so on. The Cardano 

blockchain runs on the Ouroboros consensus protocol which is a proof-of-stake protocol. 

Celestia 

Celestia is the first modular blockchain network that enables anyone to easily deploy their own blockchain with 

minimal overheads. TIA is a native token of the Celestia network. 

Chainlink 

Chainlink is a decentralised blockchain oracle network built on Ethereum. The network is intended to be used to 

facilitate the transfer of tamper-proof data from off-chain sources to on-chain smart contracts and connect the real-

world datasets such as payment methods, data feeds etc, to the blockchains. It allows smart contracts to securely 

access real-world data information. Several mechanisms in the Chainlink protocol ensure the accuracy of the data. 

Compound 

Compound is a decentralised blockchain which supports lending and borrowing cryptocurrency transaction. COMP 

is the native token of Compound platform. 

Convex Finance 

Convex Finance is a decentralised finance (DeFi) protocol which aims to reward curve liquidity providers and stakers 

with additional yields. Curve Finance is a decentralised exchange. 

Cosmos 

Cosmos is a decentralised network of independent parallel blockchains which has been created in February 2021. 

It has been designed to allow any blockchain to communicate and transact with each other. The native tokens of 

the Cosmos network are called ATOMs. ATOMs give to the holder the ability to validate the blocks, vote on the 

governance issues, pay for the transaction fees and so on. 

Cronos 

Cronos is a decentralised blockchain which has been created by the Crypto.com payment, trading and financial 

services company. Crypto.com is a centralised cryptocurrency exchange that supports trading, staking, investing 

and so on. Cronos (CRO) is the native token of the Cronos chain. 

Curve DAO Token 

Curve DAO Token is the native token that supports a decentralised finance platform called Curve Finance. Curve 

Finance is a decentralised exchange that uses an automated market maker. 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___http:/Crypto.com___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6ZmQzOTpmZjc2OTYzOGFiYmQ1ZTkzYmNmNTExZDY0YTU1MDc4NjgxYmVmOThiZGQwNTQ0ZjgxOTU1MGU3NjBlYTUxYTEwOnA6VDpO
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___http:/company.Crypto.com___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6YjNhMjphYTc3Y2Q1NGE3NTc1ZDMyMzZkYmQ3YTgxYTA3MDRiMWY5MWRmNDcyYTc4OTk1ZDJmYjU3YzcxM2YyY2VmNzc3OnA6VDpO
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EOS 

EOS is decentralised blockchain which allows the development of decentralised applications. EOS enables secure 

communication and access between DApps and the internet. It can process fast and free transactions. The EOS 

ecosystem is composed of 2 key parts: EOS.IO which is system architecture and EOS token which is network's 

cryptocurrency. 

Ethereum 

Ethereum was first conceived as a project in 2013 by developers Vitalik Buterin and Gavin Wood and the Ethereum 

blockchain was released in July 2014. 

Whereas the Bitcoin blockchain is used to record transactions in Bitcoin, the Ethereum blockchain enables 

developers to build and deploy applications that are decentralised. This means the applications are not controlled 

by an individual or company, so third parties cannot change the data on the application. 

Ethereum is established as the second most widely held and biggest cryptocurrency and with a market capitalisation 

of $358.11 billion as at 31 December 2025 (according to https://coinmarketcap.com/currencies/ethereum/). The 

cryptocurrency of the Ethereum blockchain is Ether or ETH. 

Ethereum Classic 

Ethereum Classic is decentralised blockchain which is a result of the Ethereum blockchain split in 2016. It is an 

open source blockchain and runs smart contracts offering decentralised governance. 

Fantom 

Fantom is a layer-1 decentralised smart contract platform which provides decentralised finance (DeFi) services. 

FTM token is the governance token of Fantom platform. 

Filecoin 

Filecoin is a decentralised blockchain which has been designed as a peer-to-peer digital storage marketplace. It 

allows users to rent out spare storage space on their computer. Filecoin network has a token called FIL. 

Flow 

Flow is a decentralised blockchain which aims to develop non-fungible token games, decentralised applications, 

and payment tools. 

Hedera 

Hedera is a public blockchain which aims to allow individuals and businesses to create powerful decentralised 

applications. The HBAR is the token of Hedera public network. 

Injective 

Injective is the first and only blockchain built for finance. It is an open, interoperable layer-one blockchain powering 

next-generation finance applications, including DeFi, RWAs, AI, decentralised exchanges, prediction markets, 

lending protocols, and more. 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___http:/EOS.IO___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6ZmEzYjpjN2ZjNjU0ODdmYzU1YjVjNzNlMzRkMmU5MjIyOTI5NGJjMGFmYzIyY2M0NjIyYjVhYzE3NTIyNTk4MjFjNjM5OnA6VDpO
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/coinmarketcap.com/currencies/ethereum/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6YjBkODphNTYwZDAxNWZhNjg4NmUyZDFiZGMzYmYxNWM4OWI0NjlkNjZiOWU5N2JlYWRhMDQwZjZjYTM1YjBmOWNmOGQ5OnA6VDpO
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Internet computer 

The Internet Computer is a blockchain that allows companies to build almost any online system or service, including 

demanding web social media, without need for traditional IT such as cloud computing services. As such it can 

enable full end-to-end decentralisation. 

Iota 

Iota is a distributed ledger which has been built to execute and record transactions between devices and machines 

on the Internet of Things ecosystem. The network's distributed ledger is called the Tangle. IOTA users are also 

validators and miners whose connected devices passively support Tangle. The ledger uses a cryptocurrency called 

MIOTA to account for transactions in its network. 

JUST 

JUST is a decentralised finance ecosystem built for the TRON blockchain. JST is the token for DApp governance 

and various protocols in the JUST ecosystem. 

Kaspa 

Kaspa is a proof-of-work (PoW) cryptocurrency which implements the GHOSTDAG protocol. It supports smart 

contracts and decentralised finance applications on its network. 

Kava 

Kava is a layer-1 decentralised blockchain which aims to combine the interoperability and speed of Cosmos. The 

Kava Network features a native governance and utility token, KAVA. 

Kusama 

Kusama is a decentralised blockchain which aims to allow the developers to test new blockchains or decentralised 

applications before deploying it on Polkadot. The KSM token is the native cryptocurrency of the Kusama network. 

Lido DAO 

Lido DAO (LDO) is a staking solution for proof-of-stake blockchain which aims to allow the users to stake while 

avoiding conditions such as asset locking requirements. 

Litecoin 

Litecoin is a peer-to-peer cryptocurrency created in October 2011 and it is a fork of Bitcoin. Litecoin is an open-

source global payment network without any central authority. It has been designed to have faster block generation 

rate than Bitcoin and uses script in its proof-of-work algorithm. 

Loopring 

Loopring is a layer-2 decentralised protocol for building decentralised crypto exchanges. LRC is the Ethereum-

based cryptocurrency token of Loopring. 

Mantle 

Mantle is a decentralised network that allows for the exchange of value and data across different blockchain 

networks. MNT supports the payment of gas fees, governance and growing the ecosystem. 

https://coinmarketcap.com/alexandria/glossary/proof-of-work-pow
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NEAR Protocol 

NEAR protocol is a layer-1 developer friendly, decentralised blockchain which supports smart contracts and aims 

to ease the creation of decentralised applications. 

Neo 

Neo is a decentralised blockchain which uses easily programmable smart contracts to smooth trust-less trades of 

real-world assets through the blockchain. It has been designed to allow the development of digital assets and smart 

contracts. There are two native cryptocurrencies on its blockchain: NEO which has been designed for voting on 

protocol changes and GAS which is used to pay for computation on the network. 

OKB 

OKB is a utility token which is issued by OK Blockchain Foundation. OK Blockchain Foundation is a token economy 

system which has been designed to connect several products and services available to OKEx users as well as 

professional investors. 

Optimism 

Optimism is a layer-two blockchain on top of Ethereum which aims to help scale the Ethereum ecosystem. 

PancakeSwap 

PancakeSwap is a decentralised exchange on the Binance blockchain using an automated market-making model. 

The native crypto token of PancakeSwap is CAKE. 

Polkadot 

Polkadot (DOT) is a blockchain protocol connecting multiple specialized blockchains into one unified network. 

Polkadot can operate in two different types of blockchains. Polkadot can operate many transactions on different 

chains in parallel, eliminating the need to do transactions one-by-one. 

Polygon 

Polygon is an open source Ethereum layer-2 protocol which has been designed to transact faster and cheaper on 

the Ethereum blockchain. It is a scaling framework for building Ethereum-compatible blockchains. Polygon token is 

MATIC which has several goals in the Polygon ecosystem such as voting, paying gas fees and so on. 

Quant 

Quant (QNT) network aims to connect blockchains and network on a global scale without reducing the efficiency 

and interoperability of the network. It is designed to act as a gateway for any blockchain-based project to access all 

other blockchains. 

Ripple 

Ripple is a technology which is used for payment settlement systems and digital payment networks for financial 

transactions. Ripple is the name of the blockchain and the relevant cryptocurrency token is XRP. It has been 

designed to serve as an intermediate mechanism of exchange between two currencies or networks. 
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Solana 

Solana is a crypto blockchain that has been founded in 2017. It uses smart contract, proof-of-stake and proof-of-

history consensus to secure its blockchain. It has been built to be resilient to censorship and allows fast transaction 

settlement. SOL is Solana’s native cryptocurrency, which works as a utility token. 

Solar 

Solar is an API platform which has been designed to allow the users to convert between cryptocurrencies, fiat 

currencies and stablecoins. It aims to create global payment cards powered by its native SXP token which is used 

for paying transaction fees and securing Solar Network. SXP is the relevant token. 

Stacks 

Stacks (STX) is a Bitcoin layer for smart contracts which aims to enable decentralised applications and smart 

contracts to use Bitcoin as an asset and settle transaction on the Bitcoin blockchain. 

Stellar 

Stellar is a decentralised crypto blockchain. It is a payment protocol based on distributed ledger technology. It has 

been designed to transfer digital currency to fiat money across borders and domestically. The Stellar blockchain's 

cryptocurrency is called the lumen (XLM). 

SushiSwap 

SushiSwap is a decentralised exchange on the Ethereum blockchain using an automated market-making model. 

SushiSwap (SUSHI) is the relevant token of SushiSwap. 

Swipe 

Swipe is an API platform designed to allow users to convert between cryptocurrencies, fiat currencies and 

stablecoins. It aims to create a global card payments powered by its native SXP token which is used for paying 

transaction fees and securing Solar Network. 

Synthetix 

Synthetix is a decentralised finance protocol based on the Ethereum blockchain which aims to provide on-chain 

exposure to several crypto and non-crypto assets. SNX tokens are used as a collateral for the synthetic assets that 

are minted, that is, whenever synths are issued, SNX tokens are locked up in a smart contract. SNX is also used to 

earn: (i) exchange rewards and (ii) staking rewards. 

Tezos 

Tezos is a decentralised platform to build decentralised applications. The network’s on-chain governance allows 

holders of Tezos native coin called XTZ to vote on the network’s future direction. 

The Graph 

The Graph is a decentralised protocol for indexing and querying data from blockchains. GRT is the native token of 

The Graph. 
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Theta 

Theta is peer-to-peer decentralised blockchain which has been designed to decentralize video delivery network by 

encouraging the sharing of bandwidth. Indeed, users can contribute their excess bandwidth and computing 

resources in exchange for token rewards. Theta network has two native tokens: TFUEL and THETA. Theta Network 

users who facilitate share video content as edge nodes are rewarded for the data they stream with TFUEL. THETA 

is a governance token which has been built to facilitate the managing of the blockchain and its future development. 

THETA has a fixed supply of 1 billion coins. 

THORChain 

THORChain (RUNE) is a decentralised liquidity protocol which aims to allow the users to exchange cryptocurrency 

assets across a range of networks without losing full custody of their assets in the process. 

Toncoin 

Toncoin (TON) is a decentralised layer-1 blockchain which has a multi-level structure built on the principle of 

sharding or segmentation. 

Tron 

Tron is a decentralised blockchain which was created in 2017. It has been designed to share digital content for free 

with distributed storage technology. This blockchain allows the creation of the decentralised applications and the 

sharing of media content. Tron network has a utility token called TRX which facilitates easy transactions across the 

blockchain. 

Uniswap 

Uniswap (UNI) is a cryptocurrency exchange which uses a decentralised network protocol that runs on the Ethereum 

blockchain and was built in 2018. It is compatible with ERC-20 tokens and is designed to enable users to swap 

ERC-20 tokens. Uniswap pools tokens into smart contracts and users can trade against these liquidity tools. Anyone 

can swap tokens, add tokens to a pool to earn fees, or list a token on a Uniswap. 

UNUS SED LEO 

UNUS SED LEO (LEO) is a utility token which is used across the iFinex (parent company of Bitfinex) ecosystem. 

One of the goals is to allow Bitfinex users to save money on trading fees. 

VeChain 

VeChain is a crypto blockchain platform which has been designed to improve supply chain management by using 

distributed ledger technology. It has been built to simplify the processes and information from complex supply 

chains. VeChain makes use of two tokens: VeChain token (VET) as a value layer and VeChain Thor Energy (VTHO) 

as a smart contract layer. 

Waves 

Waves (WAVES) is a decentralised blockchain that supports decentralised applications (DApps) and smart 

contracts. It has been designed to allow the users to create, among other things, a smart contract solution and a 

custom token. 
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Yearn.finance 

Yearn.finance is a decentralised protocol which aims to provide services such as yield farming, lending and 

insurance. YFI is the native crypto token of the Yearn.finance protocol. 

THE INDICES 

Certain of the Securities may be Index-Linked Securities. Index-Linked Securities aim to replicate the performance 

of an Index. Prospective investors should note that the Coin Entitlement of the Index-Linked Securities (and 

therefore the value of the Index-Linked Securities) is linked to the composition of the Index (and the weighting of 

each Cryptoasset therein) specified in the Final Terms. The composition and weighting of each Cryptoasset 

comprised in the relevant Index may be adjusted from time to time following a rebalancing of the Index. For the 

avoidance of doubt, no Prohibited Coin shall be eligible to form a constituent part of any Index to be used in 

connection with the Index-Linked Securities. A rebalancing of the Index will trigger a Rebalancing under the 

Conditions, which will result in adjustments being made to the Coin Entitlement for any affected Index-Linked 

Securities. Prospective investors in Index-Linked Securities should be aware that the composition of the Coin 

Entitlement (and the respective amounts and weights of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool comprised therein) may 

not directly reflect the composition of the relevant Index. Prospective investors should also be aware that there may 

be additional rebalancing related costs which may feed into the Weight Adjustment Factor and the Coin Entitlement. 

Prospective investors should review the index description, rules and disclosure published by the relevant Index 

Sponsor on the relevant website and as set out in the Final Terms. 

Prospective investors should carry out their own detailed review of the composition and calculation of the applicable 

Index and the rules relating thereto and ensure that they understand them. 

Accordingly, before investing in any Index-Linked Securities, prospective investors should carefully consider 

whether an investment based on the performance of the applicable Index is suitable for them and in all cases an 

investor in Index-Linked Securities should carry out its own detailed review of the applicable Index and the rules 

relating thereto. 

Description of the Indices 

The information in this section of the Base Prospectus has been extracted from the websites set out below and has 

been reproduced on the basis of information available to the Issuer. Such information has been accurately 

reproduced and, as far as the Issuer is able to ascertain from such information, no facts have been omitted which 

would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The websites set out below do not form part of 

this Base Prospectus and have not been scrutinised or approved by the Swedish FSA. The delivery of this Base 

Prospectus at any time does not imply any representation on the part of the Issuer, the Authorised Participants, the 

Trustee, the Custodian or any other person that any information contained therein is correct at any time subsequent 

to the date of this Base Prospectus. 

Purchasers of Index-Linked Securities should conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the 

Indices, the relevant index sponsors and all other parties connected to the Indices from time to time as they deem 

appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Index-Linked Securities. 

Potential investors should note that the Coin Entitlement for an Index-Linked Security is not a benchmark subject 

to the Benchmark Regulation. The Issuer is not an administrator included in the register referred to in Article 36 of 

the Benchmark Regulation. Nor is any administrator registered in said register participating in the calculation of the 

Coin Entitlement or any other value or amount made pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Index-Linked 

Securities. 
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PROGRAMME STRUCTURE 

The Programme is established on the basis of programme level documents and issue level documents. The 

programme level documents set out the base terms and conditions of the Securities and document the terms of the 

agreements on which the various parties involved in the Series of Securities are appointed. 

For each Series of Securities there are documents required for the issuance itself (the “Issue Level Documents”) 

which apply the master programme level documents (the “Master Programme Level Documents”). Certain 

programme level documents apply to all Series of Securities issued under the Programme (the “Core Programme 

Documents”). 

Issue Level Documents 

When the Issuer is to issue a Series of Securities, it will enter into a single “Constituting Document”. 

Pursuant to the Constituting Document, the Master Trust Terms (which include the terms and conditions applicable 

to each Series of Securities (the “Conditions”)) and the other Master Programme Level Documents relevant to that 

Series will be incorporated by reference and adopted for that Series, as amended and supplemented to the extent 

necessary to reflect the particular features of that Series. This means that one single document constitutes all the 

main contractual documents which are to apply to a Series of Securities.  

Master Programme Level Documents 

The Master Programme Level Documents that exist as at the date of this Base Prospectus are set out in the diagram 

below: 

 

Set out below is a summary of each of the key documents and its function. 

Trust and agency documents 

Trust Deed (including the Constituting Document) 

The Master Trust Terms contain the provisions relating to the creation of security in favour of the Trustee and the 

terms of appointment of the Trustee. These terms will, together with the Constituting Document (as amended and/or 

supplemented from time to time) relating to a Series of Securities, comprise the Trust Deed for that Series. The 

Master Trust Terms include the Conditions for any Securities issued by the Issuer (being those included in this Base 

Prospectus) and which (as amended and supplemented by the relevant Constituting Document) are adopted as the 

“Conditions” of the relevant Series of Securities pursuant to the relevant Constituting Document. 
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Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement 

The Luxembourg law governed pledge agreement (the “Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement””) entered into 

between the Issuer and the Trustee contains the provisions relating to the creation of a Luxembourg law governed 

pledge. The Luxembourg law governed pledge is granted by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee, acting in its own 

name and for the benefit of itself and the other Secured Creditors for the relevant Series of Securities, with respect 

to all assets, rights, claims and distributions of the Issuer under the relevant Custody Account held by the Custodian 

in Luxembourg. 

Master Definitions and Construction Terms 

The Master Definitions and Construction Terms define the terms used in the various Programme Level Documents 

and Issue Level Documents, and certain of the Core Programme Documents. 

Core Programme Documents 

The Core Programme Documents (as may be amended, modified and/or supplemented from time to time) apply to 

all Series of Securities issued under the Programme. Set out below is a summary of each of the key documents 

and its function. 

Administration and Determination Agency Agreement 

The Administration and Determination Agency Agreement contains the terms on which (i) the Administrator is 

appointed to provide certain administration services to the Issuer in respect of all Series of Securities issued under 

the Programme and (ii) the Determination Agent is appointed to act on behalf of the Issuer in respect of a Series of 

Securities, including making certain determinations required under the terms of all Series of Securities. 

Custody Agreement 

The Custody Agreement, as may be amended, modified and / or supplemented from time to time, contains the 

terms on which the on which the Custodian is appointed to act on behalf of the Issuer to hold the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) in respect of each Series of Securities on behalf of the Issuer. 

Registrar Agreement 

The Registrar Agreement contains the terms on which (i) the Issuing and Paying Agent will be appointed to provide 

certain services in connection with subscriptions and redemptions of the Securities; and (ii) the Registrar is 

appointed to maintain the register and records of the Securities and provide registrar services on behalf of the Issuer 

in respect of all Series of Securities issued under the Programme. 

Arrangement Agreement 

The Arrangement Agreement contains the terms on which the Arranger agrees to provide certain administrative 

and operational services to the Issuer in respect of all Series of Securities issued under the Programme. 
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CONDITIONS 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the 

meanings set out below: 

“Acceptable Delivery” means: 

(A) in respect of Registered Securities, delivery of the certificates in respect of such Securities to the 

Issuer or an affiliate of the Issuer (as directed by the Issuer) accompanied by such duly executed 

instruments of transfer and accompanying documentation as the Issuer may specify; and 

(B) in respect of Uncertificated Securities, deposit of such Uncertificated Securities into an account 

at the Relevant Clearing System (as directed by the Issuer), together with correct delivery free of 

payment instructions in the Relevant Clearing System, 

or otherwise by delivery of such Securities to the Issuer or an affiliate of the Issuer in such manner as may 

be agreed with the Issuer; 

“Adjustment Event” means: 

(A) a Fork Event; 

(B) an Airdrop Event; 

(C) any change to the market for transacting in Underlying Cryptoasset(s) or holding Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) in custody; 

(D) any change to the legal or regulatory status of any Underlying Cryptoasset; or 

(E) in relation to Index-Linked Securities only, an Index Disruption Event (other than when a 

Rebalancing Index Disruption Event occurs); 

“Administration and Determination Agency Agreement” means the administration and determination 

agency agreement entered into between the Issuer, the Arranger and the Administrator; 

“Administrator” means the entity specified as such in the Administration and Determination Agency 

Agreement or any successor thereto or replacement Administrator appointed by the Issuer, in each case 

at its Specified Office; 

“Agency Agreement” means the Administration and Determination Agency Agreement, the Custody 

Agreement, the Registrar Agreement, any Paying Agency Agreement and any other agreement in respect 

of the Securities where the Issuer appoints an agent in relation to any Series of Securities; 

“Agent” means the Determination Agent, the Custodian, the Paying Agent(s) and/or the Registrar or any 

of them and such other agent(s) as may be appointed from time to time in respect of any Series of 

Securities and, in each case, any successor or replacement agent; 

“Airdrop Event” means any event or circumstance in which any Incompatible Cryptoasset is allocated or 

distributed to holders of an Underlying Cryptoasset in addition to its ownership of such Underlying 

Cryptoasset, whether or not such allocation or distribution is subject to conditions; 

“Applicable Law” means any law or regulation of any jurisdiction, including but not limited to: 

(A) any statute or regulation of any jurisdiction; 

(B) any rule or practice of any authority by which any party is bound or with which it is accustomed 

to comply; 
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(C) any agreement entered into by any party and any authority or between two or more authorities; 

and 

(D) FATCA; 

“Arrangement Agreement” means the arrangement agreement entered into between the Issuer and the 

Arranger in respect of the Programme; 

“Arranger” means Global X Digital Assets, LLC or any successor thereto or replacement Arranger 

appointed by the Issuer; 

“Arranger Fee” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, the fee specified in the Final Terms payable 

by the Issuer to the Arranger in consideration for the provision of all administrative and operational services 

to the Issuer; 

“Authorised Participant” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, any Eligible Authorised Participant 

that has entered into an Authorised Participant Agreement with the Issuer; 

“Authorised Participant Agreement” means an agreement entered into with an Authorised Participant 

in, or substantially in, the form of agreement entered into between the Issuer and the initial Authorised 

Participant(s); 

“Base Currency” means the currency specified as such in the Final Terms;  

“Base Currency Equivalent” means: 

(A) in respect of any amount denominated in the Base Currency, such Base Currency amount; and 

(B) in respect of any amount denominated in a currency other than the Base Currency (the “Non-

Base Currency”), an amount determined by the Determination Agent (in good faith) as being 

required to purchase such amount of such Non-Base Currency with the Base Currency as at the 

date of calculation at the rate equal to the spot rate of exchange (or spot price in the case of a 

Cryptoasset) for the purchase of the Non-Base Currency with the Base Currency available to the 

Determination Agent from a foreign exchange broker (if the Non-Base Currency is not a 

Cryptoasset) or Cryptoasset broker (if the Non-Base Currency is a Cryptoasset) selected by the 

Determination Agent in good faith; 

“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday or a public holiday in England) on which 

commercial banks generally are open for the transaction of business in London and in Jersey;  

“Cash Redemption Amount” means, in respect of a Series of Securities: 

(A) the quotient of: 

(1) the Base Currency Equivalent of the net proceeds actually realised from the sale of an 

amount of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) attributable to or forming part of the Secured 

Property equal to the aggregate Coin Entitlement for such Series which are subject to 

redemption; and 

(2) the proportion that the Securities of such Series held by that Securityholder that are subject 

to redemption bears to the total number of Securities of such Series subject to redemption; 

minus 

(B) the Base Currency Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions with respect to the Securityholder 

and the Securities of that Series held by that Securityholder, 

in each case, calculated as at the Settlement Date and to the Delivery Precision Level; 

“Certificates” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 2.2(A); 
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“Coin Entitlement” means the entitlement per Series of Security as calculated in accordance with 

Condition 5 (Coin Entitlement), subject to Condition 13 (Rebalancing of Index-Linked Securities) and 

Condition 14 (Further Index-Linked Securities; other Pools; Transfers to New Pools); 

“Coin Entitlement Precision Level” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, the level specified in the 

Final Terms; 

“Coin Equivalent” means: 

(A) in respect of any amount denominated in an Underlying Cryptoasset, such Underlying 

Cryptoasset amount; and 

(B) in respect of any amount denominated in a currency (including a Cryptoasset) other than an 

Underlying Cryptoasset (a “Non-Coin Asset”), an amount determined by the Determination 

Agent (in good faith) as being required to purchase such amount of such Non-Coin Asset with 

the Underlying Cryptoasset as at the date of calculation at the rate equal to the spot price for the 

purchase of the Non-Coin Asset with the Underlying Cryptoasset available to the Determination 

Agent from a Cryptoasset broker selected by the Determination Agent in good faith; 

“Compulsory Redemption” means any redemption of the Securities in accordance with Condition 9 

(Compulsory Redemption); 

“Compulsory Redemption Event” means any event which may lead to redemption of the Securities as 

set out in Condition 9(Compulsory Redemption); 

“Compulsory Redemption Notice” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 9.6(Notice of 

Compulsory Redemption Event); 

“Compulsory Redemption Settlement Date” means the Payment Business Day following the Instruction 

Date, or such other date as the Issuer may determine (acting reasonably) to facilitate an orderly 

redemption; 

“Conditions” means these terms and conditions; 

“Constituting Document” means, in relation to a Series of Securities, the document which is executed to 

constitute such Series in such form as may be approved by the Trustee in writing (which approval shall be 

deemed to be given by execution of such document by the Trustee); 

“Crypto Trading Disruption” means the occurrence of any event described in Condition 12.3(A); 

“Cryptoasset” means money, scrip or other representation of value or contractual rights that can only be 

exchanged electronically on a Distributed Ledger; 

“Currency Business Day” means in respect of a Series of Securities, a day on which commercial banks 

and foreign exchange markets are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and 

foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the Base Currency or, in the case of euros, a 

TARGET Settlement Day; 

“Custodian” means the entity specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor thereto or 

replacement Custodian appointed by the Issuer which shall be an Eligible Custodian, in each case at its 

Specified Office; 

“Custody Agreement” means, in respect of each Series of Securities, the custody agreement entered 

into between the Issuer, the Custodian, the Arranger and the Trustee in the form of the master terms 

agreed between the Issuer, the Custodian, the Arranger and the Trustee (as may be amended, modified 

and / or supplemented from time to time); 

“Delivery Precision Level” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, the level specified in the Final 

Terms; 
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“Determination Agent” means the entity specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor thereto or 

replacement Determination Agent appointed by the Issuer, in each case at its Specified Office; 

“Digital Wallet” means the digital wallet of the Securityholder or the Authorised Participant (as applicable) 

in the name of the Securityholder or the Authorised Participant (as applicable) which will be used to send 

or receive Underlying Cryptoasset(s); 

“Distributed Ledger” means a single, sequenced, standardised and cryptographically secured record of 

activity to be shared among and acted upon by multiple participants; 

“Electronic Consent” means, where the Securities are held by or on behalf of a Relevant Clearing 

System, approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer or the Trustee (as the case may be) given by way 

of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the Relevant 

Clearing System(s) in accordance with its operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders 

of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate number of the Securities then outstanding; 

“Eligible Authorised Participant” means any reputable bank or financial services institution experienced 

in dealing in or brokering transactions in Cryptoassets or assets that are similar to Cryptoassets subject to 

the appropriate regulation to carry out such activity in: 

(A) the European Union; 

(B) Jersey; 

(C) the United Kingdom; and/or 

(D) any other jurisdiction that is not a country or territory identified as presenting higher risks in the 

AML/CFT Handbook for regulated financial services business published by the Jersey Financial 

Services Commission from time to time; 

“Eligible Underlying Cryptoasset Pool Cryptoasset(s)” means each of the following: 0x, 1inch Network, 

AAVE, Algorand, AMP, Anchor protocol, Ankr, ApeCoin, Aptos, Arbitrum, Arweave, Avalanche, Bancor, 

Basic Attention Token, Binance Coin, Bitcoin, Bitcoin Cash, BitDao, Bittensor, Cardano, Celestia, 

Chainlink, Compound, Convex Finance, Cosmos, Cronos, Curve DAO Token, EOS, Ethereum, Ethereum 

Classic, Fantom, Filecoin, Flow, Hedera, Injective, Internet computer, Iota, JUST, Kaspa, Kava, Kusama, 

Lido DAO Token, Litecoin, Loopring, Mantle, NEAR Protocol, Neo, OKB, Optimism, PancakeSwap, 

Polkadot, Polygon, Quant, Ripple, Solana, Solar, Stacks, Stellar, SushiSwap, Swipe, Synthetix, Tezos, 

The Graph, Theta, THORChain, Toncoin, Tron, Uniswap, UNUS SED LEO, VeChain, Waves, 

Yearn.finance and any other cryptoasset(s), cryptocurrency or cryptocurrencies that are included in this 

definition from time to time pursuant to a base prospectus in relation to the Issuer’s crypto ETP programme 

as amended, supplemented, updated, restated or replaced from time to time; 

“Eligible Custodian” means any reputable entity experienced in holding assets that are similar to the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (including in the case of Index-Linked Securities, the Underlying Cryptoasset 

Pool) as custodian subject to the appropriate regulation (if any) to carry out such activity in: 

(A) the European Union; 

(B) Jersey; 

(C) the United Kingdom; and/or 

(D) any other jurisdiction that is not a country or territory identified as presenting higher risks in the 

AML/CFT Handbook for regulated financial services business published by the Jersey Financial 

Services Commission from time to time; 

“English Proceedings” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 30.2(A)(Jurisdiction); 

“English Secured Property” means all Secured Property subject to the English Transaction Security; 
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“English Transaction Security” means all Transaction Security located in England and/or governed by 

English law; 

“Event of Default” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 17.1 (Events of Default); 

“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 60 calendar days after the date on which the notice 

requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the Specified 

Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent is located; 

“Execution Fee” means a sum that may be charged by the Issuer reflecting the necessary costs, expenses 

or fees actually incurred by the Issuer in connection with a sale or the transfer of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s), which may include, without limitation: 

(A) the costs of enquiries under Condition 16 (Enquiries as to status of Securityholders); 

(B) the cost of giving notices under Condition 9 (Compulsory Redemption), being not greater than 

$500; 

(C) any costs incurred by the Issuer, the Custodian(s) or any of the Issuer’s agents as part of a sale 

or purchase of Underlying Cryptoasset(s); 

(D) any banking fees or costs incurred as part of transfer of cash or Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

accounts of the Issuer and/or any Securityholder; 

(E) costs incurred as part of currency conversions which may be necessary to facilitate redemption; 

(F) Blockchain network fees which are incurred as part of transfer of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) from 

one Digital Wallet to another Digital Wallet; 

(G) any costs, fees and expenses of the Trustee incurred in relation to enforcing its security and 

taking any steps required as a part of a sale, a purchase or the transfer of Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s); 

(H) any costs determined by the Determination Agent to be part of Execution Fees; 

(I) any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, 

assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld 

or assessed by or on behalf of any relevant jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof or any 

authority thereof having power to tax; 

(J) any amounts that the Issuer may incur in connection with Condition 23.3 (Staking); 

(K) any Redemption Fee payable by a Securityholder; or 

(L) such other amounts as may be notified to Securityholders; 

“Extraordinary Resolution” means a resolution of Securityholders passed (i) at a meeting duly convened 

and held in accordance with the Trust Deed by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast, (ii) by 

a Written Resolution, or (iii) by Electronic Consent; 

“FATCA” means: 

(A) sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code; 

(B) any similar or successor legislation to (A); 

(C) any agreement described in section 1471(b) of the Code; 

(D) any regulations or guidance pursuant to any of the foregoing; 

(E) any official interpretations of any of the foregoing; 
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(F) any intergovernmental agreement to facilitate the implementation of any of the foregoing (an 

“IGA”); or 

(G) any law implementing an IGA; 

“Final Terms” means the final terms completed by the Issuer in respect of a particular Series of Securities; 

“Fork Event” means the splitting of the code base underlying the Distributed Ledger applicable to an 

Underlying Cryptoasset, potentially creating two or more Distributed Ledgers which may or may not be 

incompatible with each other, one in respect of the Underlying Cryptoasset and one or more in respect of 

an Incompatible Cryptoasset; 

“Global Registered Certificate” means a certificate in permanent global form representing some or all of 

the Securities of a Series in registered form, substantially in the form set out in the Master Trust Terms; 

“Incompatible Cryptoasset” means a Cryptoasset created pursuant to a Fork Event and/or made 

available pursuant to an Airdrop Event which is not identifiable as the Underlying Cryptoasset in respect 

of the Securities; 

"Index" means, in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the Index specified for the Securities in 

the Final Terms; 

"Index Cancellation" means in respect of an Index, the Index Sponsor in respect of that Index 

permanently cancels such Index; 

"Index Disruption" means in respect of an Index on any Valuation Date, the Index Sponsor fails to 

calculate and announce such Index; 

"Index Disruption Event" means an Index Cancellation, Index Disruption and/or Index Modification; 

"Index Modification" means in respect of an Index that the Index Sponsor announces that it shall make 

a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating that Index or in any other way materially 

modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain that Index 

in the event of changes in constituent digital assets and capitalisation and other routine events); 

"Index-Linked Security" means any Series of Securities for which "Index-Linked Security" is stated to be 

"Applicable" in the Final Terms relating to such Series of Securities; 

"Index Sponsor" means, in respect of an Index and a Series of Index-Linked Securities, the Index Sponsor 

specified as such in the Final Terms relating to a Series of Securities; 

“Initial Coin Entitlement” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, the Coin Entitlement on the Issue 

Date as specified in the Final Terms; 

“Instruction Date” means: 

(A) in the case of Optional Redemption, the date on which the Issuer receives a valid Redemption 

Order and confirmation that Acceptable Delivery in respect of such Securities has been effected 

by the relevant Securityholder; 

(B) in the case of Compulsory Redemption pursuant to Condition 9.1 (Termination by the Issuer), the 

second Valuation Date following the Final Trading Date; 

(C) in the case of Compulsory Redemption pursuant to Conditions 9.2 (Issuer Insolvency Event), 9.3 

(Cause), 9.4 (Illegality or impossibility) or 9.5 (Event of Default), the date of the Compulsory 

Redemption Notice; or 

(D) such other date as may otherwise be determined by the Issuer (acting reasonably) to facilitate an 

orderly redemption; 
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“Irish Act” means the Land and Conveyancing Law Reform Act 2009 of Ireland (as amended from time to 

time); 

“Irish Law Provisions” means Clause 5.2 (Irish Transaction Security), Clause 5.6(B)(3) (Realisation of 

Transaction Security), Clause 5.9 (Appointment and powers of receiver in respect of Irish Transaction 

Security), Clause 5.10 (Enforcement of the Irish Transaction Security), Clause 5.11 (Right of 

appropriation), Clause 5.15(B) (Attorney), Clause 5.18(B) (Additional Powers), Clause 5.19(B) (No duty to 

enquire), and Clause 5.23 (Role of Trustee in Irish Transaction Security) of the Master Trust Terms, as 

contained in the Trust Deed; 

“Irish Proceedings” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 30.2(B)(Jurisdiction); 

“Irish Receiver” means a receiver, receiver and manager or, where permitted by law, an administrative 

receiver and shall include any appointee made under a joint or several appointment in connection with any 

Irish Transaction Security; 

“Irish Secured Property” means any Secured Property subject to the Irish Transaction Security; 

“Irish Transaction Security” means all Transaction Security located in Ireland and/or governed by Irish 

law; 

“Issue Date” means the date specified as such in the Final Terms; 

“Issuer” means Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited; 

“Issuer Insolvency Event” means the Issuer: 

(A) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); 

(B) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing its inability generally 

to pay its debts as they become due; 

(C) makes a general assignment, scheme, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its 

creditors, including, without limitation, a compromise or arrangement of the type referred to in 

Article 125 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991; 

(D) institutes or has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy 

(for the purposes of this definition, including (without limitation) “bankruptcy” as defined under 

Article 8 of the Interpretation (Jersey) Law 1954) or any other relief under any bankruptcy or 

insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is presented for its 

winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any such proceeding or petition instituted or 

presented against it, such proceeding or petition (A) results in a judgment of insolvency or 

bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or 

liquidation or (B) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within 30 days 

of the institution or presentation thereof; 

(E) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other than pursuant 

to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger), including, without limitation, any procedure or 

process referred to in Part 21 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991; 

(F) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, 

conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all 

its assets; 

(G) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, 

execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against 

all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such 

process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 30 days thereafter; 
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(H) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the Applicable Laws of any 

jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in paragraphs (A) to (G) 

(inclusive); or 

(I) takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, 

any of the foregoing acts; 

“Issuer Technical Amendment” means any amendment, variation or modification to these Conditions, 

any Trust Deed and/or any Transaction Document which is made: 

(A) in connection with the accession of an Authorised Participant in respect of the Securities; 

(B) in connection with the entry into of an additional Custody Agreement in respect of a new Series 

of Securities or the agreement of revised fees under or in respect of any Custody Agreement; or 

(C) as a consequence of the occurrence of an Adjustment Event; 

“Issuer’s Website” means https://globalxetfs.eu/; 

“Issuing and Paying Agent” means the entity specified as such in the Registrar Agreement or any 

successor thereto or replacement Registrar appointed by the Issuer, in each case at its Specified Office; 

“Listing” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, the admission of that Series of Securities to trading 

on a Relevant Stock Exchange (including, in the case of the SIX Swiss Exchange, provisional admission 

to trading) becoming effective; 

“Master Definitions and Construction Terms” means, in relation to a Series of Securities, the Master 

Definition and Construction Terms (February 2026 Edition, or such other edition as specified in the 

Constituting Document relating to such Series); 

“Master Trust Terms” means, in relation to a Series of Securities, the Master Trust Terms (February 2026 

Edition), or such other edition as specified in the Constituting Document relating to such Series); 

“Non-Base Currency” has the meaning given to that term in paragraph (B) of the definition of “Base 

Currency Equivalent”; 

“Non-Coin Asset” has the meaning given to that term in paragraph (B) of the definition of “Coin 

Equivalent”; 

“Non-Disrupted Day” means each day that is a Business Day or Payment Business Day and is not a 

Suspended Day or a day which falls within a Suspension Period; 

“OECD” means the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 

“Optional Redemption” means any redemption of the Securities in accordance with Condition 8(Optional 

Redemption); 

“Optional Redemption Event” means any event which may lead to redemption of the Securities as set 

out in Condition 8 (Optional Redemption); 

“Optional Redemption Notice” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 8.4(Redemption 

Obligations); 

“Optional Redemption Settlement Date” means: 

(A) in the case of physical redemption, the second Valuation Date following the Optional Redemption 

Notice provided that, if the Issuer determines (acting reasonably) that the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) will not be deposited in the Relevant Account on such date, such later date which 

is a Valuation Date as the Issuer may determine; 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/globalxetfs.eu/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6MTY0NjpiYmM0ZTdlOWJiZmI1Nzc0Mzc3YmFmYTFjMzg4MDNjODliMGViMWQwY2QyYjkxZmY4MGFiZDA3NTI5MjkzYzQyOnA6VDpO
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(B) in the case of cash redemption, the second Payment Business Day following the date on which 

the Issuer has received in full cleared funds the proceeds of sale of the relevant Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) in respect of the Securities; 

“outstanding” means, in relation to the Securities, on the Issue Date any such Securities issued on such 

date and, on any Valuation Date thereafter, all Securities issued on or prior to such Valuation Date except 

Securities: 

(A) that have been redeemed in accordance with these Conditions; 

(B) that have been cancelled for any reason; 

(C) in respect of which the date for redemption has occurred and the redemption moneys have been 

duly paid to the Trustee, or to the Issuing and Paying Agent, and which remain available for 

payment in accordance with these Conditions; 

(D) that have become void or in respect of which claims have become prescribed; 

(E) which have been issued and which are pending settlement to an Authorised Participant but in 

respect of which the relevant Authorised Participant(s) has not paid in full the relevant 

subscription amount under the Authorised Participant Agreement; and 

(F) that have been purchased, settled and cancelled, 

provided that for the purposes of: 

(1) ascertaining the right to attend and vote at any meeting of the Securityholders or to 

participate in any Written Resolution or Electronic Consent; 

(2) the determination of how many Securities are outstanding for the purposes of Conditions 

6(Security), 17 (Events of Default) and 22 (Meetings of Securityholders, Modification, 

Waiver and Substitution) and Schedule 5 (Meetings of Securityholders) of the Master Trust 

Terms, as contained in the Trust Deed; and 

(3) the exercise of any discretion, power or authority that the Trustee is required, expressly or 

impliedly, to exercise in or by reference to the interests of the Securityholders, 

those Securities that are beneficially held by or on behalf of the Issuer and not cancelled shall 

(unless no longer so held) be deemed not to remain outstanding. For the avoidance of doubt, 

Securities (if any) which the Issuer has agreed on or prior to such Valuation Date to issue but in 

respect of which payment of the relevant subscription amount has not been received in full from 

the relevant Authorised Participant(s) and settlement to such relevant Authorised Participant(s) 

has not yet occurred shall not be deemed to be "outstanding" on such Valuation Date; 

“Paying Agency Agreement” means any agreement entered into between the Issuer and any Paying 

Agent (other than the Issuing and Paying Agent) specified in the Final Terms; 

“Paying Agent(s)” means the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Swiss Paying Agent (if any) and any entity 

or entities specified as an Additional Paying Agent in the Final Terms or any successor thereto or 

replacement Paying Agent appointed by the Issuer, in each case at its Specified Office; 

“Payment Business Day” means any day which is a Business Day, a Currency Business Day and a 

Relevant Clearing System Business Day; 

“Physical Redemption Amount” means, in respect of a Series of Securities: 

(A) the product of: 

(1) the Coin Entitlement with respect to a Security of that Series; and 

(2) the number of Securities held by that Securityholder subject to redemption; 
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minus 

(B) the Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions with respect to the Securityholder and the 

Securities of that Series held by that Securityholder, 

in each case, calculated at the Settlement Date and to the Delivery Precision Level; 

“Potential Event of Default” means an event or circumstance that could, with the giving of notice, lapse 

of time, issue of a certificate and/or the fulfilment of any other requirement become an Event of Default; 

“Principal Amount” means, in respect of any Security, the amount specified in the Final Terms; 

“Proceedings” means English Proceedings or Irish Proceedings, as applicable; 

“Prohibited Benefit Plan Investor” means any “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of section 3(3) 

of the United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), subtitle 

B of Title I of ERISA, any “plan” to which section 4975 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 

(the “Code”) applies (collectively, “Plans”), any entity whose underlying assets include “plan assets” of 

any of the foregoing Plans within the meaning of 29 C.F.R. Section 2510.3 101 or section 3(42) of ERISA, 

as they may be modified, by reason of a Plan’s investment in such entity, any governmental or church plan 

that is subject to any U.S. Federal, state or local law that is similar to the prohibited transaction provisions 

of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or any person who holds Securities on behalf of, for the benefit of 

or with any assets of any such Plan or entity; 

“Prohibited Coin” means any Cryptoasset which, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, falls within any 

of the following categories, in each case as determined by the Issuer on the Issue Date of the relevant 

Series of Securities: 

(A) any stable coin (including asset-referenced tokens and electronic money tokens) where the 

relevant protocols and rules governing such stable coin do not provide for prudent 

collateralisation requirements; 

(B) any Cryptoasset which rules and protocols hide or obscure transactions on its blockchain by way 

of anonymising the origin and destination of transacted coins or tokens, the amount transacted 

and/or balances of wallet addresses; 

(C) any Cryptoasset which is regarded as a "meme coin", and which has all of the following 

characteristics: (i) such Cryptoasset being considered by the broad investment community to be 

a "meme coin"; (ii) being associated with comical or animated memes; and (iii) having no intrinsic 

utility or functionality; and/or 

(D) any Cryptoasset which is regarded as a non-fungible token (NFT). 

“Prohibited Securityholder” means a Prohibited Benefit Plan Investor or a Restricted Securityholder; 

"Rebalancing" means an adjustment to the Coin Entitlement of a Series of Index-Linked Securities, in 

accordance with Condition 13 (Rebalancing of Index-Linked Securities); 

"Rebalancing Date" means: 

(A) In respect of a Required Rebalancing, the date(s) on which the Index rebalances in accordance 

with its methodology, or if such date is not a Valuation Date, the following Valuation Date; and 

(B) in respect of a Voluntary Rebalancing, the date(s) so notified to Securityholders by the Issuer, 

and the period during which such Rebalancing takes place, being the "Rebalancing Period"; 

"Rebalancing Index Disruption Event" means the occurrence of an Index Disruption Event that the 

Issuer or the Determination Agent on its behalf determines necessitates an adjustment to the Coin 

Entitlement in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities pursuant to a Voluntary Rebalancing in 

accordance with Condition 13 (Rebalancing of Index-Linked Securities); 
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“Redemption Amount” means the Physical Redemption Amount or the Cash Redemption Amount, as 

applicable; 

“Redemption Deductions” means the Execution Fee and/or any other applicable fees in connection with 

the redemption of the Securities in accordance with these Conditions; 

“Redemption Fee” means the fee notified by the Issuer to a Securityholder on receipt of a valid 

Redemption Order by a Securityholder in connection with a request for redemption of Securities by that 

Securityholder following an announcement by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 8.8(A)(1); 

“Redemption Notice” means an Optional Redemption Notice, a Compulsory Redemption Notice or an 

Event of Default Redemption Notice, as applicable; 

“Redemption Order” means an order in the applicable form prescribed from time to time by the Issuer for 

requesting redemption of Securities, which may include a Redemption Order generated automatically 

through the system for requesting redemptions; 

“Redemption Suspension Event” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 12.1; 

“Relevant Stock Exchange” means Xetra, the SIX Swiss Exchange, and/or any other stock exchange on 

which the Securities may be listed, as specified in the Final Terms; 

“Register” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 2.4; 

“Registered Securities” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 2.1(A); 

“Registrar” means the entity specified as such in the Registrar Agreement or any successor thereto or 

replacement Registrar appointed by the Issuer, in each case at its Specified Office; 

“Registrar Agreement” means the registrar agreement entered into between the Issuer, the Arranger, the 

Registrar, the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Trustee; 

“Relevant Account” means (in respect of redemption in accordance with the Physical Redemption 

Procedures) a Digital Wallet and (in respect of redemption in accordance with the Cash Redemption 

Procedures) an account in the currency of the Base Currency; 

“Relevant Clearing System” means: 

(A) CREST; 

(B) Euroclear; 

(C) Clearstream, Frankfurt; 

(D) Clearstream, Luxembourg; or 

(E) any other recognised clearing system in which Securities may be cleared; 

"Required Rebalancing" means, with respect to an Index-Linked Security, a Rebalancing necessitated 

by and carried out in conjunction with a rebalancing of the Index; 

“Restricted Securityholder” means any Securityholder that, through its holding of the Securities, is, in 

the opinion of the Issuer (acting reasonably), in breach of any law or regulation or would risk exposing any 

Transaction Party to a breach of any law or regulation; 

“RIS” means a regulated information service for the purposes of giving information relating to the 

Securities, under the rules of the relevant stock exchange chosen by the Issuer from time to time; 

“Secured Accounts Disruption” means the occurrence of any event described in Condition 12.3(C); 

“Secured Creditors” means, in respect of each Series of Securities, the Trustee and the Securityholders 

for that Series, in each case which are entitled to the benefit of Secured Payment Obligations; 
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“Secured Payment Obligations” means any payment or delivery obligations of the Issuer to the Trustee 

and the Securityholders under the Transaction Documents and each Security; 

“Secured Property” means, in respect of a Series of Securities, the assets subject to the Transaction 

Security; 

“Securities” means the non-interest bearing, undated, secured, limited recourse debt obligations of the 

Issuer constituted by the Trust Deed; 

“Securityholders” means the person in whose name a Registered Security or Uncertificated Security is 

registered (as the case may be); 

“Security Document” means any security document relating to a Series of Securities pursuant to which 

the Transaction Security in respect of the Secured Property is created or perfected, and any other 

document designated as such by the Issuer and the Trustee, as such document may be amended, 

supplemented, novated and/or replaced from time to time; 

“Series” means a series of Securities issued by the Issuer comprised of one Tranche or of multiple 

Tranches, where each subsequent Tranche is expressed to form a single Series with each earlier Tranche; 

“Service Provider Disruption” means the occurrence of any event described in Condition 12.3(B); 

“Settlement Date” means the Optional Redemption Settlement Date or the Compulsory Redemption 

Settlement Date (as applicable)”; 

"Slashing Penalty” means any penalty or reduction applied to any Staked Coins as a result of any non-

compliance or alleged non-compliance with staking rules or procedures or unavailability or slow, incorrect, 

or malicious performance other than missed rewards or imperfect yields resulting from inefficient staking 

or inactive nodes or network-forced inactivity; 

“Specified Currency” means, in respect of a Security, the currency specified in the Final Terms; 

“Specified Denomination” means, in respect of a Security, the amount or amounts specified in the Final 

Terms; 

“Specified Office” means, in relation to a party, the office identified with its name in the Final Terms and/or 

the office identified with its name in the Constituting Document or any other office notified to 

Securityholders and the Trustee in accordance with the Trust Deed; 

“Staked Coins” means the digital currency of the underlying type applied for Staking“; 

"Staking” means the non-custodial contribution of digital currency associated with a given decentralised 

network to such network for the purpose of facilitating, validating and approving transactions on such 

network; 

“Staking Rewards” means the receipt of digital currency associated with a given decentralised network 

from such network as a reward for Staking on such network. 

"Staking Transaction“ means any application of digital currency of any type for Staking. 

“Substituted Issuer” has the meaning given to it in Condition 22.4(A); 

“Suspended Day” has the meaning given to it in Condition 12.5(B); 

“Suspension Period” has the meaning given to it in Condition 12.5(B); 

“Swiss Paying Agent” has the meaning given to it in Condition 20.3(B)(5); 

“TARGET Settlement Day” means a day on which the TARGET2 System is operating; 

“TARGET2 System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross settlement Express Transfer 

(TARGET2) system or any successor thereto; 
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“Tax” means any present or future tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar nature 

(including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any 

of the same) imposed by any authority of any jurisdiction; 

“Tax Deduction” means a deduction or withholding for or on account of Tax; 

“Tranche” means, a tranche of Securities which form part of the same Series as Securities comprised in 

another Tranche; 

“Transaction Document” means, in respect of each Series of Securities, each of the Security 

Document(s), each Agency Agreement, the Custody Agreement, the Authorised Participant Agreement(s), 

the Constituting Document and any other agreement specified as such in the Final Terms; 

“Transaction Party” means each party to a Transaction Document other than the Issuer and any other 

person specified as a Transaction Party in the Final Terms; 

“Transaction Security” means, in respect of a Series of Securities: 

(A) a first fixed charge over the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (including the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool 

in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities and including, on a Rebalancing of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset Pool, any new Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for the Underlying Cryptoasset 

Pool) and all property, income, sums and assets derived therefrom from time to time; 

(B) an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer’s rights, title and interest attaching to or in 

respect of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (including the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool in respect 

of a Series of Index-Linked Securities and including, on a Rebalancing of the Underlying 

Cryptoasset Pool, any new Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool) and 

all property, income, sums or other assets derived therefrom, including, without limitation, any 

right to delivery thereof or to an equivalent number or nominal value thereof which arises in 

connection with any such assets being held in a clearing system or through a financial 

intermediary; 

(C) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and interest under the Custody 

Agreement; 

(D) a first fixed charge over the Issuer’s interest in any bank accounts (present and future) opened in 

respect of such Series of Securities (“Additional Accounts”) maintained with any account bank 

or custodian and any sums relating to such Series of Securities standing to the credit of such 

Additional Accounts from time to time; 

(E) an assignment by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and interest under any agreement 

(present or future) with any account bank or custodian in respect of any Additional Accounts; 

(F) a first fixed charge over all sums held by any Paying Agent and/or the Custodian to meet 

payments due in respect of any Secured Payment Obligation; and 

(G) any other security constituted by the Trust Deed and any other Security Document for such 

Series, 

and, in each case, the rights, title and interest of the Issuer in any other assets, property, income, rights 

and/or agreements of the Issuer (other than the Issuer’s share capital) from time to time charged or 

assigned or otherwise made subject to the security created by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee pursuant 

to the Security Documents, as the case may be, in each case securing the Secured Payment Obligations 

and includes, where the context permits, any part of that Transaction Security; 

“Trustee” means The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. or such other entity named in the 

Constituting Document as trustee, but which definition shall include all persons for the time being acting 

as the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed; 
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“Trust Deed” means the trust deed constituted by the relevant Constituting Document between the Issuer 

and the Trustee as trustee for the Securityholders in the form of the Master Trust Terms, as amended by 

the relevant Constituting Document; 

“Uncertificated Regulations” means the Companies (Uncertificated Securities) (Jersey) Order 1999, as 

amended; 

“Uncertificated Securities” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 2.1(A); 

“Underlying Cryptoasset(s) ” means, in respect of any Series of Securities, the Cryptoasset(s) specified 

in the Final Terms (including the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool in respect of a Series of Index-Linked 

Securities and as adjusted on a Rebalancing); provided, however, that each cryptoasset or cryptocurrency 

included at any time in an Underlying Cryptoasset Pool must be an Eligible Underlying Cryptoasset Pool 

Cryptoasset; 

“Underlying Cryptoasset Pool ” means, the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for a Series of Index-Linked 

Securities; 

“Valuation Date” means, with respect to a Series of Securities, a day which is a (i) Business Day; (ii) 

Relevant Clearing System Business Day; and (iii) a day on which the relevant Custodian is open for 

dealings in the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), or a day which may otherwise be set out on the Issuer’s 

Website; 

"Voluntary Rebalancing" means a Rebalancing other than a Required Rebalancing, which may be 

triggered (without limitation) (i) upon the Determination Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially 

reasonable manner, determining that a Rebalancing is desirable to help reduce tracking error with the 

Index; or (ii) following the occurrence of a Rebalancing Index Disruption Event; 

“Weight Adjustment Factor” means, in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities and a relevant day, 

a value determined by the Determination Agent that represents a change in the Coin Entitlement per 

Securityholder for an Underlying Cryptoasset comprised in the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Index-

Linked Securities to reflect the quantities of such Underlying Cryptoasset held in respect of the Securities 

following a Rebalancing (as described in Condition 13 (Rebalancing of Index-Linked Securities)) (which 

includes execution costs, slippage and other costs involved in the Rebalancing), which shall be zero on 

any day other than a Rebalancing Date. The Weight Adjustment Factor for any Series of Securities that 

are not Index-Linked Securities shall always be zero. 

"Weighting" means, for a Required Rebalancing and Voluntary Rebalancing, the effective percentage 

weighting of the Cryptoassets in the Index derived by the Determination Agent for the purposes of that 

Required Rebalancing or Voluntary Rebalancing; 

“Written Resolution” means a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 

75 per cent. of the aggregate number of the Securities of the relevant Series who for the time being are 

entitled to receive notice of a meeting held in accordance with the Trust Deed; and 

“Xetra” means Deutsche Börse Xetra. 

1.2 Interpretation 

To the extent of any inconsistency between the terms defined in the Trust Deed, these Conditions and/or 

the Final Terms, the document ranking the highest in the following order of priority shall prevail: 

(A) the Final Terms; 

(B) the Constituting Document; and 

(C) these Conditions. 

In addition: 
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(A) “notice”, “notified” or “notification” means any notice given in accordance with Condition 28 

(Notices); 

2. FORM AND TITLE 

2.1 Form 

(A) The Securities may be issued in registered form (“Registered Securities”) or in dematerialised 

uncertificated form (“Uncertificated Securities”), in each case in the Specified Denomination(s) 

and the Base Currency specified in the Final Terms. 

(B) If it is stated in the Final Terms that the form of the Securities is: 

(1) “Registered”, such Securities are Registered Securities; or 

(2) “Uncertificated”, such Securities are Uncertificated Securities. 

(C) Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms, the form of all of the Securities of a particular Series 

will be the same. 

2.2 Registered Securities 

(A) Registered Securities may, as stated in the Final Terms, initially be represented by registered 

certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in Condition 3(Exchange and Transfer), each 

Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Securities by the same holder, or may 

initially be represented by one or more Global Registered Certificates. 

(B) In respect of Registered Securities relating to a Series to be issued in global form, as stated in 

the Final Terms, the Global Registered Certificate in respect of such Registered Securities will be 

registered in the name of a nominee for, and shall be deposited on its issue date with a common 

depositary on behalf of, the Relevant Clearing Systems. 

(C) All Registered Securities shall have the same Specified Denomination. 

2.3 Uncertificated Securities 

(A) Uncertificated Securities shall be held in uncertificated registered form in accordance with the 

Uncertificated Regulations and as such are dematerialised and not constituted by any physical 

document of title. 

(B) Uncertificated Securities shall be cleared through a Relevant Clearing System and are 

participating securities for the purposes of the Uncertificated Regulations. 

(C) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions, for so long as the Uncertificated 

Securities are participating securities: 

(1) the Register shall be maintained in Jersey and at all times outside the United Kingdom; 

(2) the Uncertificated Securities may be issued in uncertificated form in accordance with, and 

subject to, the Uncertificated Regulations; and 

(3) these Conditions in respect of the Uncertificated Securities shall remain applicable 

notwithstanding that they are not endorsed on any certificate or document of title. 

2.4 Title 

Title to Registered Securities and Uncertificated Securities shall pass by registration in the register that 

the Issuer shall procure will be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Registrar 

Agreement (the “Register”). A copy of the Register will, upon written request from the Issuer, and promptly 

upon any changes made thereto, be sent by the Registrar to the Issuer, with the information contained in 
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such copy to be transcribed in a register held by the Issuer at its registered office to enable the Issuer to 

keep the register held at its registered office up-to-date, complete and correct. Where there are 

discrepancies between the Register and the register held by the Issuer at its registered office, the register 

held by the Issuer at its registered office will prevail. 

3. EXCHANGE AND TRANSFER 

3.1 Transfer of Registered Securities in definitive form 

One or more Registered Securities may be transferred upon the surrender (at the Specified Office of the 

Issuing and Paying Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Securities to be transferred, 

together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate, (or another form of transfer substantially 

in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise 

agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Issuing and Paying 

Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Securities 

represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part 

transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be 

issued to the transferor. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of 

the Issuing and Paying Agent. A copy of the current regulations concerning the transfer of Registered 

Securities will be made available by the Issuing and Paying Agent to any holder upon request. 

3.2 Exercise of options or partial redemption in respect of Registered Securities 

In the case of an exercise of an Issuer's or a Securityholder’s option in respect of, or a redemption of a 

part of, a holding of Registered Securities represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be 

issued to the holder in respect of the balance of the holding not subject to the exercise of such option or, 

as the case may be, redeemed. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing 

Certificates to the Issuing and Paying Agent. 

3.3 Delivery of new Certificates 

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to this Condition 3 will be available for delivery within 5 

Business Days of surrender of the relevant Certificate and, if applicable, receipt of the relevant request for 

exchange, form of transfer or notice of exercise together with such other evidence (if any) as may be 

required pursuant to the relevant Condition. Delivery of new Certificate(s) shall be made at the Specified 

Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent to whom surrender of such Certificate and, if applicable, delivery 

of such request, form of transfer or notice of exercise shall have been made or, at the option of the holder 

making such delivery and surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, 

form of transfer, notice of exercise or otherwise in writing, shall be mailed at the risk of the holder entitled 

to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified. In this Condition 3.3 “business day” means 

a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the Specified 

Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent. 

3.4 Exchange and transfer free of charge 

Exchange and transfer of Securities in accordance with this Condition 3shall be effected without charge 

by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Issuing and Paying Agent, but upon payment by the relevant 

Securityholder (or the giving by the relevant Securityholder of such indemnity as the Issuing and Paying 

Agent may require in respect thereof) of any Tax or other governmental charges which may be imposed 

in relation to it. 

3.5 Closed periods 

No Securityholder may require the transfer of a Registered Security to be registered: 

(A) during the period of 15 calendar days ending on the Settlement Date for that Security; 



Conditions 

 

 93  

 

(B) after a Redemption Notice in respect of such Series of Securities has been delivered; or 

(C) during the period of 7 calendar days ending on (and including) the Relevant Clearing System 

Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment on such Security. 

3.6 Exchange of Uncertificated Securities 

(A) All transactions in respect of Uncertificated Securities must be effected through an account with 

CREST. All transfers of Uncertificated Securities shall be subject to and made in accordance with 

the Uncertificated Regulations and the rules, procedures and practices in effect of the Issuing and 

Paying Agent and the Relevant Clearing System. The Uncertificated Regulations and such rules, 

procedures and practices may change from time to time. No provision of these Conditions shall 

(notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein) apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any 

respect inconsistent with the holding or transfer of title to Uncertificated Securities or the 

Uncertificated Regulations. 

(B) If at any time Securities cease to be, or notice is received by or on behalf of the Issuer that the 

Securities will cease to be, held in uncertificated form and/or are accepted for clearance through 

CREST and/or CREST is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 calendar days (other 

than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or CREST announces an intention permanently 

to cease business or does in fact do so, the Securities shall continue to be in registered form and 

the Issuer, the Registrar, the Paying Agent(s) and any other relevant Transaction Party may agree 

such procedures as they determine necessary in relation to the transfer of Uncertificated 

Securities and shall as soon as reasonably practicable give notice thereof to the Securityholders. 

(C) Condition 3.6(B) applies equally to a Securityholder that ceases to be a Relevant Clearing System 

member, but for such purposes only the affected Securityholder will need to be notified of the 

procedures adopted. 

(D) If the rules and procedures of the Registrar (and/or, for so long as the Uncertificated Securities 

are held in CREST, the rules and procedures of CREST) include any closed period in which no 

Securityholder may require the transfer of a Security to be registered in the Register, such closed 

periods shall apply to Uncertificated Securities. Details of any such closed period are available 

from the Registrar. 

4. CONSTITUTION AND STATUS 

The Securities are constituted and secured by the Trust Deed. The Securities are non-interest bearing, 

undated, secured, limited recourse debt obligations of the Issuer, at all times ranking pari passu and 

without any preference among themselves and secured in the manner described in Condition 6 (Security) 

and recourse in respect of which is limited in the manner described in Conditions 18 (Application of 

Proceeds) and 19 (Limited Recourse and Non-Petition). 

5. COIN ENTITLEMENT 

(A) Each Series of Securities shall have a separate Coin Entitlement in accordance with this Condition 

5, subject to Condition 13 (Rebalancing of Index-Linked Securities) and Condition 14 (Further 

Index-Linked Securities; other Pools; Transfers to New Pools). 

(B) On any day following the Issue Date, subject to Condition 13 (Rebalancing of Index-Linked 

Securities) and Condition 14 (Further Index-Linked Securities; other Pools; Transfers to New 

Pools), the Initial Coin Entitlement of a Series of Securities will be specified in the Final Terms. 

(C) On any day following the Issue Date, the Coin Entitlement of a Series of Securities shall be 

calculated to the Coin Entitlement Precision Level, as may be provided in any notice published in 

accordance with Condition 23.3(B) (Fork Events, Airdrop Events and Staking - Staking) in 

accordance with the following formula: 
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𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑗,𝑡) = 𝐶𝐸(𝑖,𝑗,𝑡−1) 𝑥 (1 − 𝐴𝐹(𝑖,𝑡)) 1/𝑁 + WA(i,j, t-1) 

where: 

i means the relevant Series of Securities; 

j  refers to each Digital Currency comprising the Coin Entitlement in respect of that Class 

of Securities on day t; 

t means the applicable day (with t-1 being the previous day); 

CE(i,t) means the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Securities for day t; 

CE(i,t-1) means the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Securities on the day prior to day t; 

AF(i,t) means the per annum Arranger Fee applicable to that Series of Securities on day t, 

expressed as a decimal (for example, an annual fee of 98 basis points per annum is 

expressed as 0.0098); and 

N means the number of days in the calendar year, being 365 or 366. 

WA(i,j, t-1) is the Weight Adjustment Factor applicable in respect of each Cryptoasset comprising 

the Coin Entitlement in respect of that Series of Securities on day t (which shall always 

be zero in respect of all Securities that are not Index-Linked Securities and which shall 

be zero on any day that is not a Rebalancing Date in respect of any Index-Linked 

Securities). 

(D) On each Business Day, the Coin Entitlement for each Series of Securities will be published on 

the Issuer’s Website. 

(E) The Issuer may, with the agreement of the Arranger, vary the Arranger Fee. The Issuer will notify 

the Securityholders of any such variation and the varied Arranger Fee will not take effect for a 

period of 5 Business Days from the date of such notice. 

6. SECURITY 

6.1 Transaction Security 

(A) The Trust Deed provides that the Secured Payment Obligations are secured in favour of the 

Trustee for the benefit of itself and the other Secured Creditors, unless otherwise provided therein, 

by the Transaction Security. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Issuer may 

enter into Staking Transactions in accordance with the Conditions. 

(B) If the Custodian is replaced or an additional Custodian appointed in accordance with the terms of 

the Custody Agreement, then the security interests described above shall extend to all rights, title 

and interest of the Issuer against such replacement or additional Custodian under the Custody 

Agreement. 

(C) The Constituting Document may provide that different security arrangements apply to the 

Securities and/or that Secured Payment Obligations of the Issuer may be secured pursuant to a 

Security Document other than the Trust Deed. 

(D) As further provided in the Trust Deed, the Transaction Security shall be released automatically, 

without the need for any notice or other formalities, to the extent required for the Issuer to be able 

to duly make any payment or delivery in respect of the Securities and/or the other Transaction 

Documents which is due and payable or deliverable, or to the extent required in relation to a 

Rebalancing for Index-Linked Securities, or as otherwise provided for under these Conditions or 

the Transaction Documents in respect of the Securities. 
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6.2 Enforcement of security 

The Transaction Security in respect of each Series of the Securities shall become enforceable upon the 

occurrence of an Issuer Insolvency Event or an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 17 (Events of 

Default). 

6.3 Realisation of Transaction Security 

(A) At any time after the Transaction Security has become enforceable, the Trustee may, at its 

discretion, and shall, if so directed in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in number of the 

Securities of the relevant Series then outstanding or by an Extraordinary Resolution (a copy of 

which has been provided to the Trustee) of the Securityholders of such Series, in each case 

subject to its having been pre-funded and/or secured and/or indemnified to its satisfaction, 

enforce the Transaction Security. 

(B) To do this, the Trustee may, at its discretion: 

(1) enforce and/or terminate any Transaction Document relating to the Securities of such 

Series in accordance with its or their terms, and/or take action against the relevant 

Transaction Party; and/or 

(2) take possession of and/or realise all or part of the Secured Property and in its discretion, 

sell, call in, collect and convert into money all or part of such assets, in such manner, at 

such time and on such terms as it thinks fit, in each case without any liability as to the 

consequence of such action and without having regard to the effect of such action on 

individual Securityholders; and/or 

(3) without first appointing an Irish Receiver, exercise: 

(a) the power of sale; 

(b) all the powers or rights which may be exercisable by the registered holder of the 

Irish Secured Property including those set out herein; 

(c) all or any of the powers and rights conferred on mortgagees by the Irish Act as 

varied or extended herein; and 

(d) all the powers, authorities and discretions conferred by herein expressly or by 

implication on any Irish Receiver or otherwise conferred by statute or common law 

on mortgagees or receivers. 

(C) If the Transaction Security has become enforceable, the Trustee may, in writing, appoint (i) a 

receiver or receivers over all or part of the English Secured Property and/or (ii) appoint one or 

more persons to be an Irish Receiver over all or part of the Irish Secured Property, and may 

remove any such receiver or Irish receiver so appointed and appoint another in its place. No delay 

or waiver of the right to exercise these powers shall prejudice their future exercise. 

(D) Neither the Trustee nor any receiver nor any Irish Receiver appointed by it or any attorney or 

agent of the Trustee will, by reason of taking possession of any assets or any other reason and 

whether or not as mortgagee in possession, be liable to account for anything except actual 

receipts or be liable for any loss or damage arising from the realisation of such assets or from any 

act or omission to such assets or otherwise unless such loss or damage shall be caused by its 

own fraud, gross negligence or wilful default. 

(E) The Trustee shall not be required to take any action in relation to the Transaction Security which 

may: 

(1) be illegal or contrary to any applicable law or regulation; or 
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(2) cause it to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any liability (including any 

personal liability) in the performance of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights, 

powers and discretions, without first being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded 

to its satisfaction. 

6.4 Application of proceeds following enforcement 

Subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and/or any Security Document(s), with 

effect from the date on which any Event of Default Redemption Notice is delivered by the Trustee following 

the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall hold the proceeds of enforcement of the 

Transaction Security received by it under the Trust Deed and/or any Security Document(s) on trust for 

application in accordance with Condition 18 (Application of Proceeds). 

6.5 Issuer’s rights as beneficial owner of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

The Issuer shall not exercise any rights with respect to the Secured Property, except with the prior written 

consent of the Trustee or as instructed by an Extraordinary Resolution, provided that the Issuer may, at 

any time before the Transaction Security becomes enforceable, and without the consent of the 

Securityholders or the Trustee: 

(A) take such action in relation to the Secured Property in respect of a Series of Securities as may 

be required by the Transaction Documents; and 

(B) exercise any rights incidental to the ownership of the Secured Property in respect of a Series of 

Securities which are exercisable by the Issuer and, in particular (but, without limitation, and 

without responsibility for their exercise), all rights to enforce any such ownership interests in 

respect of such property, 

provided that the Issuer shall not exercise any rights with respect to such assets if it is directed to the 

contrary by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of a Series of Securityholders and, if such 

direction is given, the Issuer shall act only in accordance with such direction. 

7. RESTRICTIONS 

7.1 On the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series of Securities and all subsequent Tranches of 

that Series of Securities, the Underlying Asset with respect to such Series of Securities will not comprise 

a Prohibited Coin. 

7.2 The Issuer has agreed in the Trust Deed to certain restrictions on its activities and on the conduct of its 

business. These restrictions apply for so long as any Security remains outstanding, unless the prior 

consent in writing of the Trustee (which the Trustee may give if it is of the opinion that to give such consent 

would not be materially prejudicial to the interests of Securityholders) has been given, and except as 

provided for or contemplated in these Conditions or any Transaction Document. 

8. OPTIONAL REDEMPTION 

8.1 Redemption by Authorised Participants 

(A) A Securityholder who is an Authorised Participant may require the Issuer to redeem all or part of 

its Securities by submitting a valid Redemption Order to the Issuer and making an Acceptable 

Delivery of Securities. 

(B) Any redemption in accordance with this Condition 8.1 will be effected in accordance with the 

Physical Redemption Procedures, unless the Issuer has made an announcement referred to in 

Condition 8.8 (Issuer redemption announcements) and the Authorised Participant complies with 

any such conditions specified in such announcement. 
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8.2 Redemption by other Securityholders 

(A) A Securityholder who is not an Authorised Participant may require the Issuer to redeem all or part 

of its holding of Securities in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures or the Cash 

Redemption Procedures (as applicable) by submitting a valid Redemption Order to the Issuer and 

making an Acceptable Delivery of Securities, if, on the day the Securityholder submits such valid 

Redemption Order, either: 

(1) there are no Authorised Participants; or 

(2) the Issuer has given notice that redemptions by Securityholders that are not Authorised 

Participants are permitted in accordance with Condition 8.8 (Issuer redemption 

announcements) and such notice remains valid. 

(B) Any redemption in accordance with this Condition 8.2 will be effected in accordance with the 

Physical Redemption Procedures unless: 

(1) the Issuer has made an announcement referred to in Condition 8.8 (Issuer redemption 

announcements) permitting redemption under this Condition 8.2 in accordance with the 

Cash Redemption Procedures and the Securityholder complies with any conditions 

specified in such announcement; 

(2) the Securityholder in its Redemption Form certifies that it is prohibited for legal or 

regulatory reasons from owning or taking delivery of the applicable Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) upon redemption; and/or 

(3) the Issuer is prohibited for legal or regulatory reasons from effecting a delivery of the 

relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the Securityholder, 

in which case the redemption will be effected in accordance with the Cash Redemption 

Procedures. 

(C) Any redemption by Securityholders in connection with this Condition 8.2 will be conditional upon 

receipt by the Issuer of the relevant Redemption Fee. 

8.3 Redemption Order 

(A) A Redemption Order must: 

(1) specify the number and Series of Securities to be redeemed; 

(2) relate to only one Series of Securities; 

(3) be signed by, or by an authorised signatory on behalf of, the Authorised Participant or 

Securityholder (as applicable); 

(4) provide all forms of documentation required for the purposes of any compliance and 

identification checks; 

(5) comply with any additional requirements specified in any notice given by the Issuer 

including, without limitation, to any announcement or notice in relation to the matters 

described in Condition 8.8 (Issuer redemption announcements); 

(6) specify a Relevant Account, to the extent that it is not already specified in the relevant 

Authorised Participant Agreement; and 

(7) where submitted by a Securityholder who is not also an Authorised Participant, elect the 

Physical Redemption Procedures or the Cash Redemption Procedures and contain any 

additional information as the Issuer (acting reasonably) determines is required to satisfy 

any applicable anti-money laundering and “know-your-customer” checks, including 
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(without limitation) a certification that such Securityholder is not a Prohibited 

Securityholder. 

(B) A Redemption Order shall be invalid if: 

(1) it is submitted by a Securityholder who is not an Authorised Participant, unless the 

conditions in Condition 8.2(A) apply; 

(2) it does not satisfy each of the conditions in Condition (A); 

(3) it is received (or deemed to be received) on or after the date on which a Redemption Notice 

is given in accordance with Condition 9 (Compulsory Redemption); or 

(4) it is received (or deemed to be received) during any period when redemptions have been 

suspended or postponed pursuant to Condition 12 (Disruption and Suspension). 

(C) Save with the consent of the Issuer, any Redemption Order is irrevocable once it has been 

submitted to the Issuer. 

8.4 Redemption Obligations 

Upon receipt by the Issuer of a valid Redemption Order from a Securityholder in accordance with Condition 

8.3 (Redemption Order), the Issuer shall notify the Securityholder (such notification an “Optional 

Redemption Notice”) and do all things necessary to give effect to such Redemption Order in accordance 

with this Condition 8 and Condition 10 (Redemption Entitlement and Procedures). 

8.5 Consequences of invalid Redemption Order 

If the Issuer, in its sole discretion, considers that a Redemption Order is invalid, it shall notify the relevant 

Securityholder as soon as reasonably practicable and shall not be obliged to redeem the Securities subject 

to such Redemption Order. 

8.6 Late Redemption Order and Acceptable Delivery 

(A) A Redemption Order received by the Issuer after 16:30 (London time) on a Business Day shall 

be treated as being submitted on the immediately following Business Day. 

(B) An Acceptable Delivery of Securities received after 16:30 (London time) on a Business Day shall 

be treated as being received on the immediately following Business Day. 

8.7 Change or variation to redemption procedures 

The Issuer may, if agreed by the Trustee, without the consent of the Securityholders, change or vary the 

procedures for the submission of Redemption Orders in accordance with Condition 22.2 (Modification and 

Waiver) and these Conditions shall be modified in respect of redemptions to the extent of any such change 

or variation. 

8.8 Issuer redemption announcements 

(A) The Issuer may give notice to Securityholders and the Trustee that: 

(1) redemptions by Securityholders which are not Authorised Participants may be permitted; 

and/or 

(2) redemptions by Authorised Participants under Condition 8.1 (Redemption by Authorised 

Participants) and/or by Securityholders under Condition 8.2 (Redemption by other 

Securityholders) may be effected in accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures. 

(B) Any such announcements may relate to a specific Business Day, a specific period or until further 

notice is given by the Issuer and/or may be subject to certain conditions. 
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9. COMPULSORY REDEMPTION 

9.1 Termination by the Issuer 

(A) The Issuer may, on giving 30 calendar days’ notice to Securityholders and the Trustee, at any 

time in its discretion determine that any or all Securities are to be redeemed on the Settlement 

Date. 

(B) In such event the Issuer (subject to compliance with any applicable legal or regulatory 

requirements), will apply for the trading of such Securities on the Relevant Stock Exchange (and 

any other stock exchange or market on which they are then admitted to trading) to be suspended 

or cancelled and shall notify the Securityholders of the date on which such trading will be so 

suspended or cancelled (such date being the “Final Trading Date”). 

9.2 Issuer Insolvency Event 

If an Issuer Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee may at any time, at its discretion, 

and shall if so directed in writing by Securityholders holding not less than 25 per cent. of the number of the 

Securities then outstanding or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Securityholders, the Trustee having 

first been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction, give notice to the Issuer and 

the Securityholders that all the Securities outstanding shall be redeemed on the Settlement Date. 

9.3 Cause 

(A) The Issuer may, in its absolute discretion, at any time give written notice to a Securityholder that 

any Securities held by that Securityholder are to be redeemed on the Settlement Date if: 

(1) following a notification delivered in accordance with Condition 16 (Enquiries as to Status 

of Securityholders): 

(a) the Securityholder certified that it is a Prohibited Securityholder; 

(b) the Securityholder failed by to provide an executed certificate in the form and 

manner required by Condition 16 (Enquiries as to Status of Securityholders) by the 

Securityholder Certification Expiry Date; and/or 

(2) at any time, the Issuer considers (in its sole discretion): 

(a) that such Securities are or may be owned or held directly or beneficially by any 

person in breach of any law or requirement of any country or by virtue of which 

such person is not qualified to own those Securities; or 

(b) that the ownership or holding or continued ownership or holding of those Securities 

(whether on its own or in conjunction with any other circumstance appearing to the 

Issuer to be relevant) would, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, cause a 

pecuniary or tax disadvantage to the Issuer or any other Securityholders which it 

or they might not otherwise have suffered or incurred and/or expose any 

Transaction Party to a risk of violation of any law or regulation; 

(B) In respect of any Securityholder that has provided the certificate described in Condition (A)(1) or 

failed to provide the certificate described in Condition 9.3(A)(2), the Issuer’s notice under this 

Condition 9.3 shall relate only to those Securities (and not any other Securities held by that 

Securityholder). 

9.4 Illegality or impossibility 

(A) All or some Securities may be redeemed if the Issuer determines (acting reasonably) that it is 

illegal or impossible for the Issuer to issue or deal with such Securities or to hold or deal with the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of such Securities, in each case in accordance with these 
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Conditions and as a result of any law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decision of any 

governmental, legislative, administrative or judicial authority. 

(B) In such event, the Issuer shall give notice to the Securityholders and the Trustee that such 

Securities are to be redeemed on the Settlement Date. 

9.5 Event of Default 

If an Event of Default Redemption Notice has been issued by the Trustee, the Issuer will, as soon as 

reasonably practicable after receipt of such Event of Default Redemption Notice, give notice to the 

Securityholders and the Transaction Parties that the Securities are, and shall immediately become, due 

and payable at their Redemption Amount on the Settlement Date. 

9.6 Notice of Compulsory Redemption Event 

On occurrence of a Compulsory Redemption Event in accordance with this Condition 9, the Issuer shall, 

as soon as reasonably practicable, give notice to the relevant Securityholders and the Transaction Parties 

(such notice a “Compulsory Redemption Notice”). 

9.7 Compulsory Redemption 

(A) The Issuer shall not be required to give any reasons for any decision, determination or declaration 

taken or made in accordance with this Condition 9. 

(B) The exercise of the powers conferred by this Condition 9 shall not be questioned or invalidated 

in any case on the grounds that there was insufficient evidence of direct or beneficial ownership 

or holding of the Securities, or any other grounds save that such powers shall have been 

exercised in good faith. 

10. REDEMPTION ENTITLEMENT AND PROCEDURES 

10.1 Redemption Entitlement 

Each Security shall carry a right of Optional Redemption in accordance with Condition 8 (Optional 

Redemption) or Compulsory Redemption in accordance with Condition 9 (Compulsory Redemption) to: 

(A) where Physical Redemption applies, delivery of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in an amount equal 

to the Redemption Amount in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures; or 

(B) where Cash Redemption applies, payment of the Redemption Amount in the Base Currency in 

accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures, 

in each case on the applicable Settlement Date. 

10.2 Redemption Obligations 

Unless the Issuer has delivered an announcement under Condition 8.8 (Issuer redemption 

announcements) permitting redemption to be effected in accordance with the Cash Redemption 

Procedures, the Issuer’s obligations in respect of any redemption in accordance with Condition 8 (Optional 

Redemption) or Condition 9 (Compulsory Redemption) will be effected in accordance with the Physical 

Redemption Procedures in this Condition 10. 

10.3 Physical Redemption Procedures 

Where Securities are to be redeemed by physical delivery, the Issuer shall, on the Instruction Date, instruct 

the relevant Custodian to transfer the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) attributable to or forming part of 

the Secured Property in respect of such Securities in an amount equal to the Redemption Amount to the 

relevant Relevant Account, to be delivered to such account on the Settlement Date. 
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10.4 Cash Redemption Procedures 

(A) Where Securities are to be redeemed by cash redemption, the Issuer shall, on the Instruction 

Date, arrange for the sale of the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) attributable to or forming part 

of the Secured Property in respect of such Securities in an amount equal to the product of: 

(1) the Coin Entitlement for such Securities; and 

(2) the number of Securities subject to redemption. 

(B) The Issuer will transfer the aggregate Redemption Amount with respect to the Securities on the 

Settlement Date to the relevant Securityholder through a Relevant Clearing System or, in the 

case of Securities in certificated form, by cheque or warrant made payable to the Securityholder 

and sent by post at the risk of the Securityholder or any other method of payment notified by the 

Issuer to the Securityholder in accordance with Condition 28 (Notices). 

(C) The Issuer will only transfer the Redemption Amount to the Securityholder subject to such 

Securityholder having made Acceptable Delivery of Securities. 

10.5 Issuer obligations on redemption 

(A) The obligations of the Issuer in respect of Securities being redeemed shall be satisfied by 

transferring the Redemption Amount in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 10. 

(B) In connection with any redemption in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures or 

the Cash Redemption Procedures, each Securityholder acknowledges and agrees: 

(1) to accept the Redemption Amount in full settlement of the Issuer’s obligations in respect 

of such Securities; 

(2) that from the relevant Settlement Date, all title to and risks in the Redemption Amount in 

respect of such Security pass to the Securityholder; 

(3) that the Issuer and the Trustee make no representations or warranties as to the price at 

which the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will be sold or the amount of the proceeds 

of sale realised from the sale of such; and 

(4) that neither the Trustee nor the Issuer shall be responsible or liable for (and no Event of 

Default shall occur by virtue of) any failure by the Custodian to effect a delivery of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in accordance with the instructions of the Issuer and, in the 

event of such failure, the Issuer shall to the extent practicable procure the assignment to 

the redeeming Securityholder of its claims in relation to such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

satisfaction of all claims of such Securityholder in respect of the Securities to be redeemed 

and the Securityholder shall have no further claims against the Issuer, the Trustee or the 

Secured Property. 

10.6 Principal Amount in lieu of Redemption Amount 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 10.1 (Redemption Entitlement), each Securityholder may elect 

to receive on the Settlement Date an amount in the Base Currency equal to the Principal Amount of each 

Security held by it in lieu of the amount otherwise specified in this Condition. 

10.7 Settlement date 

In relation to any redemption pursuant to Condition 8 (Optional Redemption) or Condition 9 (Compulsory 

Redemption), the Securities shall be redeemed on the applicable Settlement Date. 
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11. REDEMPTION DEDUCTIONS 

On a redemption of any Securities, the Issuer shall notify (or cause to be notified) to the relevant 

Securityholders the amount of the Redemption Deductions in respect of such Securities and their allocation 

to particular Securities at the time of redemption. 

12. DISRUPTION AND SUSPENSION 

12.1 Suspension of redemptions 

If on any date the Determination Agent determines that, in respect of a Security, the prevailing market 

value of the Coin Entitlement is less than 100 per cent. of the Principal Amount of such Security (a 

“Redemption Suspension Event”), the Determination Agent shall notify the Issuer and the Issuer may, 

at any time thereafter, suspend the right to request redemption of such Securities for so long as the 

Determination Agent determines that the Redemption Suspension Event continues. 

12.2 Suspension of subscriptions or redemptions 

On any date the Issuer may, at any time in its sole discretion, suspend the right to request subscription or 

redemption of any Series of Securities. 

(A) Where the Issuer determines to suspend the right to request subscription or redemption: 

(1) it shall notify the Transaction Parties as soon as reasonably practicable, however the 

failure to give such notice shall not prevent such suspension; 

(2) any such suspension may continue for a period of up to 60 calendar days, at the discretion 

of the Issuer; and 

(3) any such suspension shall not affect any subscription or redemption pursuant to an 

application received (or deemed to have been received) on a date prior to the 

commencement of such suspension. 

(B) The Issuer may, at its discretion, terminate any suspension of redemptions made in accordance 

with this Condition 12.2 at any time. 

12.3 Disruption Events 

The Determination Agent (or, in the case of a Service Provider Disruption, the Issuer) may (but is not 

obliged to), with respect to any calendar day, determine that one or more of the following events has 

occurred or exists on such day with respect to a Series of Securities (a “Disruption Event”): 

(A) Crypto Trading Disruption 

Either: 

(1) trading and/or settlement in the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) is subject to a material 

suspension or material limitation on any primary exchange or trading facility for the trading 

of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s); or 

(2) any primary exchange or trading facility for the trading of the relevant Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) is not open for trading for any reason (including a scheduled closure); or 

(3) trading in the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) on any primary exchange or trading facility for the 

trading of such Underlying Cryptoasset(s) has been permanently discontinued or has 

disappeared; or 

(4) Calculation Disruption: in respect of Index-Linked Securities only, the Determination Agent 

acting in good faith is unable to calculate the Coin Entitlement for that Series of Index-
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Linked Securities (including, without limitation, if it is not possible to determine the Weight 

Adjustment Factor in respect of a Rebalancing Date). 

(B) Service Provider Disruption 

Save as otherwise provided for in the Transaction Documents, if all the Custodian(s) for a Series 

of Securities resigns or their appointment is terminated for any reason and a successor or 

replacement has not yet been appointed, for such time until a successor or replacement has been 

appointed or a Compulsory Redemption Notice has been given under Condition 9 (Compulsory 

Redemption); and/or 

(C) Secured Accounts Disruption 

Any Underlying Cryptoasset held as Secured Property with respect to a Series of Securities has 

been lost or is inaccessible, other than where permitted in accordance with these Conditions and 

the Transaction Documents. 

In determining whether a Disruption Event has occurred, the Determination Agent shall consider whether 

the relevant event would disrupt the actions required to be performed by the Issuer, any Authorised 

Participant and/or any other Transaction Party in connection with any redemption of the Securities. 

12.4 Determination of Disruption Events and Suspension 

If the Determination Agent determines that a Disruption Event has occurred or exists with respect to a 

Series of Securities on any day, it may (but shall not be obliged to) on the immediately following Business 

Day give notice of the postponement and/or suspension of: 

(A) any request for the redemption of the Series of Securities; 

(B) the settlement of any redemption of the Series of Securities; and/or 

(C) the Settlement Date and/or physical delivery of any relevant Underlying Cryptoasset in respect of 

such Series of Securities, or the payment of any amount in connection therewith, 

to the Issuer, the Authorised Participants, the Trustee, and the Custodian including the details required in 

Condition 12.5 (such notice a “Suspension Notice”). 

12.5 Content of Suspension Notice 

Any Suspension Notice delivered pursuant to Condition 12.4 must specify: 

(A) the Disruption Event which has occurred or is existing on the relevant day; 

(B) whether the suspension and/or postponement relating to such Disruption Event will be in respect 

of a single day (a “Suspended Day”) or for as long as the Disruption Event continues (a 

“Suspension Period”); and 

(C) which of the consequences in Condition 12.4(A) to 12.4(C) apply on such Suspended Day or 

during such Suspended Period, as applicable. 

12.6 Expiry of Suspension 

(A) If the Suspension Notice is in respect of a Suspension Period, such period will end when the 

Determination Agent notifies the Issuer, the Authorised Participants and the Trustee that such 

suspension and/or postponement is over. 

(B) The Determination Agent is not under any obligation to monitor whether or not a Disruption Event 

has occurred or is continuing with respect to a Series of Securities unless a Suspension Notice 

has been given in respect of a Suspension Period in which case the Determination Agent’s 

obligation to monitor the relevant Disruption Event will continue until it has determined that such 
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Disruption Event has ceased (following which it will give notification at the end of the Suspension 

Period in accordance with Condition 12.4). 

(C) The Determination Agent shall have no liability to the Issuer, the Trustee, any Custodian, any 

Securityholder, any Authorised Participant or any other person for any determination or non-

determination that it makes in respect of the occurrence or existence of a Disruption Event. 

(D) The Issuer shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt by it of a Suspension Notice, 

give notice thereof to the Securityholders. 

12.7 Postponement of redemptions 

(A) If, in respect of a Disruption Event, the Determination Agent has specified in the Suspension 

Notice that the Settlement Date shall be postponed, the Settlement Date shall be deemed to occur 

on the first day that is a Non-Disrupted Day (the “Disrupted Settlement Date”), provided that if 

no such Non-Disrupted Day has occurred on or prior to the 10th Business Day following the 

Disrupted Settlement Date, the Issuer (acting in good faith and in consultation with the 

Determination Agent) shall determine an appropriate method for redemption of the Securities, 

including the relevant Instruction Date and the Settlement Date of such Securities (an “Disrupted 

Redemption Method”). 

(B) For the avoidance of doubt, if any Settlement Date is postponed in accordance with this Condition 

12.7, then any other dates or periods determined by reference to such Settlement Date that have 

yet to occur or conclude as at the time of such postponement shall also be postponed or adjusted 

accordingly to reflect the Disrupted Settlement Date and/or Disrupted Redemption Method. 

(C) The Issuer shall, as soon as reasonably practicable following determination of any Disrupted 

Redemption Method, notify the Securityholders and each Transaction Party. 

(D) No additional amount shall be payable or deliverable to any Authorised Participant or any 

Securityholder in connection with any Disrupted Settlement Date and/or Disrupted Redemption 

Method. 

13. REBALANCING OF INDEX-LINKED SECURITIES 

13.1 In respect of Index-Linked Securities only, the Coin Entitlement shall be adjusted as provided in this 

Condition 13 (a Rebalancing). 

13.2 Subject to Condition 13.8 below, a Rebalancing will take place whenever the Index is rebalanced in 

accordance with its methodology (a Required Rebalancing), and may at the election of the Issuer take 

place on other occasions if the Determination Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable 

manner, determines that a Rebalancing is desirable to help reduce tracking error with the Index or following 

the occurrence of a Rebalancing Index Disruption Event (a Voluntary Rebalancing). 

13.3 The Issuer shall provide holders of Index-Linked Securities with notice of a Voluntary Rebalancing not less 

than 5 Business Days prior to the expected Rebalancing Date of that Voluntary Rebalancing. 

13.4 The Issuer shall on the Rebalancing Date(s) then instruct the Determination Agent to use reasonable 

endeavours to carry out such trading activities as are necessary to match (to the extent reasonably 

practicable) the proportions of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) held in respect of the relevant Index-Linked 

Security to the Weighting, which may include the addition of a new type of Cryptoasset subject to that 

Cryptoasset being accepted by the Custodian for custody under the relevant Custody Agreement. 

13.5 The Issuer shall accordingly adjust the Coin Entitlement of a Series of Index-Linked Securities in existence 

to correspond, to the extent possible, to the number, quantity and type of Cryptoasset(s) held in respect of 

such Series of Index-Linked Securities immediately following the Rebalancing by applying the Weight 

Adjustment Factor. If, for whatever reason, the Determination Agent is unable (in good faith) to calculate 

the Weight Adjustment Factor, such as in circumstances where the trading activities referenced in 
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Condition 13.4 above have not completed or settled in full, then the calculation of the Coin Entitlement may 

be postponed until the Weight Adjustment Factor is able to be calculated by the Determination Agent. 

13.6 No money shall be payable by the Issuer to Securityholders, or by Securityholders to the Issuer, in respect 

of a Rebalancing. 

13.7 Upon a Rebalancing and in accordance with the terms of the relevant Trust Deed, the Transaction Security 

over the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) being removed from the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool will be released 

to the extent required and the Transaction Security will apply to any new Cryptoasset(s) included in the 

Underlying Cryptoasset Pool (in addition to the remaining Cryptoasset(s) in the Underlying Cryptoasset 

Pool). 

13.8 The Underlying Cryptoasset Pool for any Series of Index-Linked Securities must only comprise Eligible 

Underlying Cryptoasset Pool Cryptoasset(s). A Rebalancing shall only be made to the extent that such 

Rebalancing does not result in the inclusion in the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool of any Cryptoasset(s), 

cryptocurrency or cryptocurrencies that is/are not Eligible Underlying Cryptoasset Pool Cryptoasset(s). 

14. FURTHER INDEX-LINKED SECURITIES; OTHER POOLS; TRANSFERS TO NEW POOLS 

In respect of Index-Linked Securities, the Issuer may at any time (without the consent of the 

Securityholders and without giving prior notice) determine to replace a Series of Index-Linked Securities 

(the “Existing Index-Linked Securities”) by allocating all of the Secured Property attributable to such 

Existing Index-Linked Securities to a new Series of Index-Linked Securities (the “New Index-Linked 

Securities”). If the Issuer determines to do so, the following provisions shall apply: 

(A) if the Existing Index-Linked Securities are being replaced in whole by the New Index-Linked 

Securities, the Issuer may only transfer all (and not merely some) of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

attributable to the Existing Index-Linked Securities; 

(B) prior to or on the transfer becoming effective, the Issuer shall create the New Index-Linked 

Securities on the same terms as the Existing Index-Linked Securities, each having a principal 

amount determined in accordance with Condition 14(C), being constituted by an instrument or 

deed on the same terms (mutatis mutandis) as the Trust Deed (for the avoidance of doubt, there 

shall be no obligation to procure a listing of the Securities) and on terms that such New Index-

Linked Securities shall have recourse only to the assets allocated to those New Index-Linked 

Securities, and (subject as provided in Condition 14(E) and (F)) shall issue such New Index-

Linked Securities to the Securityholders of the Existing Index-Linked Securities outstanding 

immediately prior to the transfer becoming effective on the basis of one New Index-Linked 

Security for each Existing Index-Linked Security. For this purpose (but subject as provided in 

Condition 14(E) and (F)) any Security in respect of which an Event of Default has occurred and 

is continuing shall be treated as outstanding; 

(C) the principal amount and Coin Entitlement of each New Index-Linked Security shall be the 

proportion of the principal amount and Coin Entitlement respectively of each Existing Index-

Linked Security outstanding immediately prior to the transfer becoming effective that the 

aggregate Base Currency Equivalent of each Cryptoasset to be transferred bears to the 

aggregate Base Currency Equivalent of the relevant Cryptoasset(s) attributable to the Existing 

Index-Linked Securities, and on the creation and issue of the New Index-Linked Securities 

becoming effective the principal amount and Coin Entitlement of each Existing Index-Linked 

Security shall be reduced accordingly. For the purposes of the calculations to be made in 

accordance with this paragraph: 

(1) Securities which are the subject of Redemption Orders shall be excluded, and the principal 

amounts and Coin Entitlements referred to therein shall be calculated as though all such 

Cryptoasset(s) had been transferred; and 
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(2) Cryptoasset(s) which have been received for the purposes of a Subscription Order that 

have not been completed by the issue of Securities shall be excluded, and the principal 

amounts and Coin Entitlement referred to therein shall be calculated as though all such 

Cryptoasset(s) had not been received; 

(D) the Issuer shall enter into a Trust Deed(s) with the Trustee in relation to the assets attributable to 

the New Index-Linked Securities, which shall be on the same terms (mutatis mutandis) as the 

Trust Deed(s) (the “Existing Trust Deed(s)”) in relation to the Existing Index-Linked Securities, 

and the Trustee shall be deemed to release automatically, without the need for any notice or other 

formalities, the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to be transferred from the Trust Deed(s); 

(E) any valid Redemption Order received or deemed received prior to (and being in respect of 

Securities which have not by then been redeemed and in respect of which the Redemption 

Amount has not been paid in accordance with Condition 9 (Compulsory Redemption)) the date 

on which such division becomes effective, and in each case being valid, shall have effect as if 

given in respect a proportional amount of both the Existing Index-Linked Securities and the New 

Index-Linked Securities for the purposes of the Redemption intended to be effected pursuant to 

such Redemption Order as determined in its absolute discretion by the Issuer; and 

(F) any valid Subscription Order received or deemed received prior to (and being in respect of 

Securities which have not been issued) the date on which such division becomes effective, and 

in each case being valid, shall have effect as if given in respect a proportional amount of both the 

Existing Index-Linked Securities and the New Index-Linked Securities for the purposes of the 

Subscription Order intended to be effected pursuant to such Subscription Order as determined in 

its absolute discretion by the Issuer. 

15. PRESCRIPTION 

Claims against the Issuer for payment or delivery in respect of the Securities shall be prescribed and 

become void unless made within 10 years from the date on which payment or delivery in respect of it first 

becomes due or (if any amount is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the 

amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date 7 calendar days after that on which notice is duly given 

to the Securityholders that, upon further presentation of the Security being made in accordance with these 

Conditions, such payment or delivery will be made, provided that payment or delivery is in fact made upon 

such presentation. 

16. ENQUIRIES AS TO STATUS OF SECURITYHOLDERS 

16.1 Enquiries of Securityholders 

The Issuer may at any time, without any requirement to state a reason, give notice to a Securityholder 

requiring that Securityholder to provide, no later than the date falling 10 Business Days after the date of 

the Issuer’s notice, an executed certificate (together with evidence satisfactory to the Issuer, acting 

reasonably) confirming that: 

(A) the Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder; or 

(B) the number and Series of Securities in respect of which it is a Prohibited Securityholder; 

16.2 Prohibited Securityholder 

The Issuer shall be entitled, save to the extent that it has made enquiry under this Condition 16, to assume 

that none of the Securities are held by a Prohibited Securityholder. 
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17. EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

17.1 Events of Default 

If any of the following events (each an “Event of Default”) occurs in respect of a Series of Securities, the 

Trustee at its discretion may, and if directed in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in number of the 

Securities of the relevant Series then outstanding or by an Extraordinary Resolution (a copy of which has 

been provided to the Trustee), shall (provided that in each case the Trustee shall have been indemnified 

and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer and each Transaction Party 

that the Securities of the relevant Series shall become immediately due and payable at their Redemption 

Amount in accordance with these Conditions (such notice an “Event of Default Redemption Notice”): 

(A) the Issuer defaults in payment of any sum or delivery due in respect of the Series of Securities 

for a period of 14 calendar days or more; 

(B) the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its material obligations under the 

Series of Securities or the Trust Deed or any Security Document, other than such obligations as 

may, with the passage of time, constitute an event under paragraph (A) above and (unless such 

default is in the opinion of the Trustee incapable of remedy) is not in the opinion of the Trustee 

remedied within 30 calendar days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer; 

(C) the Determination Agent in respect of the applicable Series of Securities resigns or its 

appointment is terminated for any reason and, at the time such termination takes effect, no 

successor or replacement Determination Agent has been appointed with respect to such Series; 

(D) any Custodian in respect of the applicable Series of Securities resigns or its appointment is 

terminated and, at time such termination takes effect, no successor Custodian has been 

appointed with respect to such Series; or 

(E) an Issuer Insolvency Event occurs. 

17.2 Event of Default Redemption Notice 

The Issuer will, as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of any Event of Default Redemption Notice, 

give notice thereof to the relevant Securityholders. 

17.3 Annual Certificate 

The Issuer has undertaken in the Trust Deed that: 

(A) (i) on each anniversary of the issue date of the first Securities issued by the Issuer, and (ii) within 

14 calendar days after any request by the Trustee, it will send to the Trustee a certificate signed 

by two directors of the Issuer to the effect that, having made all reasonable enquiries, to the best 

of the knowledge, information and belief of the Issuer as at a date as at a date not more than 5 

calendar days prior to the date of the certificate, no Event of Default, Potential Event of Default, 

Issuer Insolvency Event or event pursuant to which the Transaction Security has become 

enforceable has occurred since such date or, if such an event has occurred, giving details of it 

and confirming that, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Issuer, since the 

date of the last such certificate, complied with its obligations under the Trust Deed; and 

(B) as soon as practicable after being so requested by the Trustee, it will send to the Trustee a 

certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer stating the number of Securities held at the date 

of such certificate by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries. 

18. APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS 

Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, the Trustee will apply any amounts received or recovered under 

the applicable Trust Deed and the proceeds derived from the realisation of the Secured Property (whether 
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by way of liquidation or enforcement and after taking into account Taxes incurred or payable in respect of 

such realisation) as follows: 

(A) first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities, losses and other 

amounts properly incurred by, or payable in respect of the Securities to the Trustee, any Irish 

Receiver(s) or any receiver(s) under or pursuant to the Trust Deed or any Security Document, 

including, without limitation, any Taxes required to be paid by the Trustee (other than any income, 

corporation or similar Tax in respect of the Trustee’s remuneration), the costs of enforcing the 

Trust Deed and/or realising all or some of the Secured Property and the Trustee’s remuneration, 

and if the Secured Property is realised in respect of more than one Series of Securities 

simultaneously, any such fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities, losses and other amounts 

that are not attributable to a particular Series of Securities shall be applied across such Series 

pari passu and pro rata; 

(B) second, in or towards payment or satisfaction of the Redemption Amount to Securityholders; and 

(C) third, in payment of any balance to the Issuer for itself or as it may direct. 

19. LIMITED RECOURSE AND NON-PETITION 

19.1 Limited Recourse 

(A) The recourse of the Securityholders against the Issuer is limited to the Secured Property, subject 

to the Transaction Security, and they shall not have recourse to any other assets of the Issuer or 

the Issuer. 

(B) If the amounts realised from the Secured Property are not sufficient to make payment of all 

amounts due from the Issuer pursuant to the Trust Deed and the Securities, then no other assets 

of the Issuer shall be available to meet any resulting shortfall which shall be borne by the parties 

in accordance with the order of priority in Condition 18 (Application of Proceeds). Following 

realisation of the Secured Property and application of the proceeds in accordance with these 

Conditions, any outstanding claim, debt or other liability of the Issuer that remains shall be 

extinguished in full and no debt shall be owed by the Issuer in respect thereof. Failure by the 

Issuer to make payment in respect of any shortfall described in this Condition 19 shall in no 

circumstances constitute an Event of Default. 

19.2 Non-Petition 

None of the Transaction Parties, the Securityholders or any person acting on behalf of any of them may: 

(A) bring, institute, or join with any other person in bringing, instituting or joining any administration, 

bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, winding-up or other similar actions; or 

(B) join with any other person in bringing, instituting or joining any action or proceeding described in 

sub-paragraph (A) above; or 

(C) take any steps to recover any debts or amounts extinguished as described in Condition 19.1 

(Limited Recourse) from the Issuer and/or the Issuer or any shareholder, member, agent or 

director of the Issuer. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall be entitled to exercise its rights pursuant to the Trust 

Deed. 

19.3 Corporate obligation 

None of the Transaction Parties, the Securityholders or any person acting on behalf of any of them shall 

have any recourse against any director, shareholder, or officer of the Issuer or the Issuer in respect of any 
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obligations, covenant or agreement entered into or made by the Issuer pursuant to the terms of these 

Conditions, the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Documents. 

19.4 Survival 

The provisions of this Condition 19 shall survive notwithstanding any redemption of the Securities of any 

Series or the termination or expiration of any Transaction Document. 

20. AGENTS AND DETERMINATIONS 

20.1 Determinations 

(A) The Determination Agent will, as soon as reasonably practicable on such date and/or at such time 

as the Determination Agent is required to in accordance with the Administration and 

Determination Agency Agreement, these Conditions and any other Transaction Document to 

which it is a party (together, the “Relevant Provisions”), perform such duties and obligations as 

are required to be performed by it in accordance with the Relevant Provisions. 

(B) The determination by the Determination Agent of any amount, price, rate or value or the 

occurrence of any event required to be determined by it under the Relevant Provisions shall be 

made in good faith and shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding on the Issuer, 

the Securityholders and the Transaction Parties. 

20.2 Alternate agent 

(A) If, at any time after the Transaction Security has become enforceable pursuant to these 

Conditions, the Determination Agent fails to make any determination in relation the Redemption 

Amount when required, the Issuer will use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an alternative 

agent on its behalf to make such determination in place of the Determination Agent. 

(B) Any such determination shall for the purposes of these Conditions and the Transaction 

Documents be deemed to have been made by the Determination Agent. 

(C) In doing so, the appointed agent shall apply the Relevant Provisions, with any necessary 

consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and in all other respects 

it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem fair and reasonable in the circumstances. 

(D) The Trustee shall not be liable (whether directly or indirectly, in contract, in tort or otherwise) to 

the Issuer, the Securityholders or any Transaction Party for any determination (or any delay in 

making any determination) so made by the Determination Agent or any alternative agent and will 

not itself by required to make, have any responsibility for making, any such determination. 

20.3 Appointment of Agents 

(A) Save as provided below, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer. The Agents do not assume 

any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Securityholder. The Issuer reserves 

the right at any time with the prior written approval of the Trustee and in accordance with the 

provisions of the relevant Transaction Document to vary or terminate the appointment of any 

Agent and to appoint additional or other Agents. 

(B) The Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to at all times maintain: 

(1) a Registrar; 

(2) an Issuing and Paying Agent; 

(3) in respect of any Securities cleared on a Relevant Clearing System other than CREST, a 

Paying Agent other than the Issuing and Paying Agent; 
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(4) a Determination Agent; 

(5) in respect of any Securities admitted to trading and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, for 

so long as the Securities are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange and if then required by the 

regulations of the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Issuer shall maintain a Paying Agent in 

Switzerland (the “Swiss Paying Agent”), which agent shall have an office in Switzerland 

and be a bank or securities firm subject to supervision by the Swiss Financial Market 

Supervisory Authority FINMA, to perform the functions of a Swiss Paying Agent; and 

(6) such other agents as may be required by any stock exchange on which the Securities may 

be listed, 

in each case, as approved by the Trustee. 

(C) The Issuer shall promptly give notice to the Securityholders of any change of Agent or any change 

to the Specified Office of an Agent. 

(D) Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed, at any time after an Issuer Insolvency Event, an Event 

of Default or a Potential Event of Default has occurred in relation to the Securities and/or the 

Transaction Security has become enforceable, the Trustee may: 

(1) by notice in writing to the Issuer and the Agents, require any and all of such Agents, until 

notified by the Trustee to the contrary, so far as permitted by Applicable Law to: 

(a) act as agent of the Trustee under the Trust Deed and the Securities on the same 

terms as the relevant Transaction Document (with consequential amendments as 

necessary) except that the Trustee’s liability for the indemnification, remuneration 

and all other expenses of such Agents (if any) shall be limited to the amounts for 

the time being held by the Trustee in respect of the Securities on the terms of the 

Trust Deed and which are available (after application in accordance with the order 

of priority set out in these Conditions) to discharge such liability; or 

(b) deliver the Securities and all moneys, documents and records held by them in 

respect of the Securities to or to the order of the Trustee or as the Trustee directs 

in such notice, and 

(2) by notice in writing to the Issuer, require it to make all subsequent payments in respect of 

the Securities to or to the order of the Trustee and not to the Paying Agent(s), if applicable, 

and/or the Registrar (as the case may be) with effect from the receipt of any such notice 

by the Issuer. 

21. PAYMENTS 

21.1 Withholding or deductions on payments 

All payments or deliveries in respect of the Securities, including but not limited to payment or deliveries of 

the Redemption Amount, shall be made subject to any Tax Deduction that the Issuer or any Agent is 

required to make, by any Applicable Law. In that event, the Issuer or such Agent shall make such payment 

after such Tax Deduction has been made and shall account to the relevant authorities for the amount(s) 

of Tax so withheld or deducted. Neither the Issuer nor any Agent will be liable for, or otherwise obliged to 

make any additional payments to Securityholders in respect of, or in compensation for, any such Tax 

Deduction. 

21.2 Securities in definitive form 

Payments in respect of Securities in definitive form shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against 

presentation and surrender of the relevant Security at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside 

the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the 
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Securityholder, by transfer to, an account denominated in such currency with a Bank nominated by such 

Securityholder. 

For the purposes of this Condition 21.2, “Bank” means a bank in the principal financial centre for such 

currency or in the case of euro in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET2 System. 

21.3 Global Registered Certificates 

For as long as the Securities are represented by a Global Registered Certificate deposited with a Clearing 

System and held by the Relevant Clearing System or a common depository, common safekeeper or 

nominee, as applicable, on behalf of the Relevant Clearing System, the obligations of the Issuer under 

these Conditions to make payments in respect of the Securities will be discharged by payment to, or to 

the order of, the holder of the Global Registered Certificate, subject to and in accordance with the terms 

of such Global Registered Certificate. Each of the persons shown in the records of the Relevant Clearing 

System as owning Securities represented by such Global Registered Certificate must look solely to the 

Relevant Clearing System for its share of any payment made by the Issuer to or to the order of the holder 

of the Global Registered Certificate. Payments made to any person shown in the records of the Relevant 

Clearing System as owning any Security represented by a Global Registered Certificate shall be subject 

to and made in accordance with the rules of the Relevant Clearing System. 

21.4 Uncertificated Securities 

Payments in respect of Uncertificated Securities shall be made through CREST, subject to and made in 

accordance with the rules of CREST. 

21.5 FATCA and similar information 

(A) Each Securityholder and beneficial owner of Securities shall provide the Issuer and/or any agent 

acting on behalf of the Issuer and/or the Trustee with such documentation, information or waiver 

as may be requested by the Issuer and/or any agent acting on behalf of the Issuer and/or the 

Trustee in order for the Issuer, the Trustee or any such agent to comply with any obligations any 

such party may have in connection with the Securities under: 

(1) FATCA and under any agreement entered into by the Issuer and/or any agent acting on 

behalf of the Issuer pursuant to, or in respect of, FATCA; and 

(2) any other information reporting or exchange arrangements (including, without limitation, 

any legislation implementing EU Council Directive 2014/107/EU on the mandatory 

automatic exchange of information, which implements the OECD measures known as the 

‘Common Reporting Standard’). 

(B) Each Securityholder and beneficial owner of the Securities further agrees and consents that, in 

respect of FATCA, the Issuer may, but is not obliged and owes no duty to any person to, comply 

with the terms of any intergovernmental agreement between the United States of America and 

another jurisdiction with respect to FATCA or any legislation implementing such an 

intergovernmental agreement or enter into an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service 

in such form as may be required to avoid the imposition of any deduction or withholding pursuant 

to FATCA on payments made to the Issuer. In connection therewith, the Issuer may make such 

amendments to the Securities as are necessary to enable the Issuer to enter into, or comply with 

the terms of, any such agreement or legislation. The Trustee shall be bound to concur in any such 

amendments provided that doing so would not, in the opinion of the Trustee, impose more 

onerous obligations upon it or expose it to further liabilities or reduce its rights, powers or 

protections and any such amendment will be binding on the Securityholders. 
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22. MEETINGS OF SECURITYHOLDERS, MODIFICATION, WAIVER AND SUBSTITUTION 

22.1 Meetings of Securityholders 

(A) The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Securityholders of each Series 

(including by ways other than physical meetings) to consider any matter affecting their interests, 

including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions, 

any provisions of the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document and giving authority, 

direction or sanction required to be given by Extraordinary Resolution. Any Extraordinary 

Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Securityholders, whether or not they were present at 

or participated in the meeting at which such resolution was passed. 

(B) The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more 

Securityholders of the relevant Series of Securities or agents present in person holding or 

representing more than 50 per cent. in number of the Securities of such Series for the time being 

outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more Securityholders of the relevant Series of 

Securities or agents present in person being or representing Securityholders of such Series 

whatever the number of the Securities held or represented. 

(C) The holder of a Registered Security in global form representing all of the Securities of such Series 

for the time being outstanding will be treated as being two persons for the purposes of such 

quorum requirements. 

(D) If the Securities are held in global form, the holder of a Global Registered Certificate will be treated 

as having one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency represented 

by such Global Registered Certificate. 

22.2 Modification and Waiver 

(A) The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Securityholders, to: 

(1) any modification of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Transaction 

Documents that is in its opinion of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct 

a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law; or 

(2) any other modification and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach 

of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed and/or any 

Transaction Document that is, in the opinion of the Trustee, not materially prejudicial to 

the interests of any Series of Securityholders, 

provided that, in each case, the Trustee shall not do so in contravention of an express direction 

given by an Extraordinary Resolution. 

(B) Any such modification, authorisation or waiver as is made or given under this Condition 22.2 shall 

be binding on each Series of Securityholders and shall be notified to each Series of 

Securityholders as soon as is reasonably practicable. 

22.3 Issuer Technical Amendments 

(A) Subject to Condition 22.3(B), the Issuer may, without the consent of the Securityholders, make 

any Issuer Technical Amendment provided that the Issuer has certified in writing to the Trustee 

(upon which certification the Trustee may rely without any obligation to investigate or verify or 

form its own opinion) that such amendment, in the opinion of the Issuer: 

(1) is not materially prejudicial to the interests of any Series of Securityholders; 

(2) has been drafted solely for the purposes set out in paragraphs (A), (B) or (C) of the 

definition of “Issuer Technical Amendment”; 
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(3) does not result in a negative impact to the Coin Entitlement or Redemption Amount; and 

(4) has been approved by each affected Transaction Party (or will be approved by each 

affected Transaction Party) executing the document(s) effecting such amendment, 

(such certificate an “Issuer Technical Amendment Certificate”). 

(B) Subject to provision of an Issuer Technical Amendment Certificate, the Trustee shall be bound to 

concur with any such Issuer Technical Amendment, provided that the Trustee shall not be bound 

to concur with any Issuer Technical Amendment that would, in the opinion of the Trustee, impose 

more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to further liabilities or reduce its rights, powers or 

protections. 

(C) Any Issuer Technical Amendment made in accordance with this Condition 22.3 shall be notified 

to Securityholders and shall be binding on Securityholders, provided that such Issuer Technical 

Amendment shall not take effect until at least 3 calendar days after the date of such notice. 

22.4 Issuer substitution 

(A) The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree without consent of the 

Securityholders to the substitution of any company in the place of the Issuer, or of any previous 

substitute, as principal debtor under the Trust Deed, the other Transaction Documents and the 

Securities of each Series (such company being the “Substituted Issuer”) if the following 

conditions are met: 

(1) an instrument or deed is executed or undertaking given by the Substituted Issuer to the 

Trustee, in form and manner satisfactory to the Trustee, agreeing to be bound by the Trust 

Deed, any Security Document and the Securities of each Series (with such consequential 

amendments as the Trustee may deem appropriate) as if the Substituted Issuer had been 

named in the Trust Deed, any Security Document and the Securities as the principal debtor 

in place of the Issuer; 

(2) the Substituted Issuer assumes all rights, obligations and liabilities in relation to the 

Secured Property, acknowledges the Transaction Security created in respect thereof 

pursuant to the Trust Deed and any Security Document and takes all such action as the 

Trustee may require so that the Transaction Security and the Secured Property constitutes 

a valid mortgage, charge, assignment, pledge, lien or other security interest as was 

originally created by the Issuer for the obligations of the Substituted Issuer; 

(3) a director of the Substituted Issuer certifies that it will be solvent immediately after such 

substitution (in which case the Trustee need not have regard to the Substituted Issuer’s 

financial condition, profits or prospects or compare them with those of the Issuer); 

(4) the Trustee is satisfied (if it requires, by reference to legal opinions) that (i) all necessary 

governmental and regulatory approvals and consents necessary for or in connection with 

the assumption by the Substituted Issuer of liability as principal debtor in respect of, and 

of its obligations under, each Series of Securities and any Transaction Document have 

been obtained and (ii) such approvals and consents are at the time of substitution in full 

force and effect; 

(5) the Issuer and the Substituted Issuer will execute and the Issuer shall procure that any 

Transaction Party will execute such other deeds, documents and instruments (if any) as 

the Trustee may require in order that such substitution is fully effective; 

(6) the Issuer and the Substituted Issuer comply with such other requirements as the Trustee 

may direct in the interests of the Securityholders and/or in the interests of the Trustee; and 

(7) legal opinions satisfactory to the Trustee are provided concerning any proposed 

substitution. 
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(B) In connection with any proposed substitution of the Issuer, the Trustee may, without the consent 

of the Securityholders, agree to a change of the law from time to time governing the Securities, 

the Trust Deed and/or the Transaction Documents. 

(C) An agreement by the Trustee pursuant to this Condition 22.4 and the Trust Deed will, if so 

expressed, release the Issuer (or a previous substitute) from any or all of its obligations under the 

Trust Deed, the Securities and the other Transaction Documents. The Substituted Issuer shall 

give notice of the substitution to the Securityholders within 14 calendar days of the execution of 

such documents and compliance with such requirements. 

(D) On completion of the formalities set out in this Condition 22.4 and the Trust Deed, the Substituted 

Issuer shall be deemed to be named in these Conditions, the Trust Deed and the other 

Transaction Documents and the Securities as the principal debtor in place of the Issuer (or any 

previous substitute) and these Conditions, the Trust Deed and the other Transaction Documents 

and the Securities shall be deemed to be amended as necessary to give effect to such 

substitution. 

22.5 Regard to interests of Securityholders as a whole 

(A) In accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed, in connection with the exercise of its functions 

under the relevant Transaction Documents, the Trustee will have regard to the interests of the 

Securityholders as a whole and will not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for 

individual Securityholder of any individual Series, and the Trustee will not be entitled to require, 

nor shall any Securityholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment 

in respect of any Tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Securityholders of any 

individual Series. 

(B) So long as the Securities are in global form and such Global Registered Certificate is held by or 

on behalf of the Relevant Clearing System, in considering the interests of Securityholders, the 

Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by the Relevant Clearing System or its 

operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders or participants 

with entitlements to any such Global Registered Certificate and may consider such interests on 

the basis that such accountholders or participants were the holder(s) thereof. 

23. FORK EVENTS, AIRDROP EVENTS AND STAKING 

23.1 Amendments and adjustments on a Fork Event or Adjustment Event 

Without prejudice to the Issuer’s rights to effect changes to these Conditions and the Transaction 

Documents without the consent of the Securityholders pursuant to Condition 22 (Meetings of 

Securityholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution), in the event of a Fork Event or an Airdrop Event 

affecting the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) applicable to any Series of Securities (the “Original Series”), the 

Issuer may, to the extent such event is supported by the Custodian, in its absolute discretion: 

(A) adjust the rights of the Securities of the Original Series so that the Cryptoasset arising as a result 

of the Fork Event or Airdrop Event (the “Additional Underlying Cryptoasset”) shall be held by 

or for the Issuer in respect of the Securities of the Original Series and shall constitute an additional 

Underlying Cryptoasset in respect of the Securities of the Original Series; 

(B) create a new Series of Securities (“New Securities”) in respect of which the Additional Underlying 

Cryptoasset shall be the Underlying Cryptoasset, and to issue to Securityholders in respect of the 

Original Series a number of New Securities pro rata to their holdings of Securities of the Original 

Series; 

(C) reduce the Coin Entitlement for the Original Series in an equal proportion to the proportion of the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) which has been lost or converted into or replaced by an Additional 

Underlying Cryptoasset (if applicable); 
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(D) elect not to receive any Additional Underlying Cryptoasset, in which circumstances the 

Securityholders shall not be entitled to receive any value arising from such Additional Underlying 

Cryptoasset; 

(E) distribute the Additional Underlying Cryptoasset to the Securityholders in respect of the Original 

Series pro rata to their holdings of Securities of the Original Series; or 

(F) liquidate the Additional Underlying Cryptoasset and distribute the net realisation proceeds to the 

Securityholders in respect of the Original Series pro rata to their holdings of Securities of the 

Original Series. 

23.2 No obligation to monitor 

Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be obliged to assess or monitor whether an Airdrop Event or a 

Fork Event may have occurred. 

23.3 Staking 

(A) The Issuer may, in its absolute discretion, instruct the Custodian to stake or vote the Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) in respect of a Series of Securities in accordance with these Conditions and the 

Custody Agreement, if the Custodian supports staking in respect of such Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s). 

(B) The Issuer shall not enter into any Staking Transaction in respect of any Series of Securities 

unless it has in respect of such Series published a notice on a RIS specifying how Staking 

Rewards shall be applied (which may be in the form of an accretion, periodic or otherwise, to the 

Coin Entitlement of Securities of such class) and/or implementing a temporary or permanent 

reduction in the Execution Fee in relation to Securities of such class. The Issuer may retain for its 

own benefit all or part of such Staking Rewards but if it determines to retain all Staking Rewards 

in respect of any such class it shall implement a temporary or permanent reduction in the 

Execution Fee in relation to Securities of such class. Any such notice shall state the period for 

which such arrangements shall apply or that arrangements shall apply until a date to be specified 

in a further notice published on a RIS. 

(C) If: 

(1) any Securities are subject to redemption in accordance with these Conditions; 

(2) on the Instruction Date in respect of such redemption, the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

respect of such Securities have been staked in accordance with Condition 23.3(A); and 

(3) as a result of such staking, the Issuer determines that it will be unable to pay the 

Redemption Amount in respect of such Securities; 

then the Issuer may, in its sole discretion, either: (x) obtain short term financing from the 

Custodian (in the case of redemption in accordance with the Cash Redemption Procedures) or 

borrow an amount of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) from the Custodian (in the case of redemption 

in accordance with the Physical Redemption Procedures); or (y) delay the Settlement Date for 

such Securities to facilitate an orderly redemption. 

24. REPLACEMENT AND FURTHER ISSUES 

24.1 Replacement 

If a Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable 

laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at the Specified Office of the 

Issuing and Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent, as the case may be, as may, from time to time, be 

designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Securityholders, in 
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each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such 

terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced 

Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

24.2 Further Tranches and Series 

(A) The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Trustee or any Securityholder (but 

subject always to Condition 7 (Restrictions)) in accordance with the Trust Deed, these Conditions 

and the Authorised Participant Agreement(s), create and issue further Tranches of Securities so 

that such further Tranche shall be consolidated and form a single Class with the outstanding 

Securities of any Series upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue 

and/or incur further obligations relating to such Securities. 

(B) Any such further Securities shall only form a single Series with the Securities (unless otherwise 

sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution) if the Issuer provides additional assets (as security 

for such further Securities) which are fungible with, and have the same proportionate composition 

as, those forming part of the Secured Property for the Securities and in the same proportion as 

the proportion that the Principal Amount of such new Securities bears to the Securities and/or the 

Issuer. 

24.3 Consolidation and division of Tranches and Series 

(A) The Issuer may consolidate or divide all of the Securities into Securities of the same Series but 

with proportionately larger or smaller Principal Amount and Coin Entitlement (if applicable). Such 

consolidation or division shall be effected by a deed or instrument supplemental to the Trust Deed. 

(B) Whenever as a result of consolidation of Securities a Securityholder would become entitled to a 

fraction of a Security, the Issuer will redeem such fractional Security. 

25. LISTING 

The Issuer covenants in the Trust Deed to use its best endeavours to obtain and, for so long as any of the 

Securities maintain outstanding, maintain, a Listing for the Securities or, if it is unable to do so having used 

such best endeavours or if the Issuer certifies to the Trustee that in its opinion the maintenance of such 

Listing is unduly onerous, use its best endeavours to obtain and maintain a listing of the Securities on such 

other stock exchange as it may decide. 

26. REMOVAL, RETIREMENT AND REPLACEMENT OF TRUSTEE 

26.1 Trustee retirement 

The Trustee may retire at any time, without assigning any reason therefor and without being responsible 

for any costs incurred by reason of such retirement, upon giving not less than three months’ prior written 

notice to the Issuer. 

26.2 Trustee removal 

The relevant Series of Securityholders may by Extraordinary Resolution of such Series appoint or remove 

any trustee or trustees of that Series for the time being. 

26.3 Appointment of new Trustee 

The Issuer will use its reasonable endeavours to appoint a new Trustee as soon as reasonably practicable 

after the Trustee gives notice of its retirement or being removed by Extraordinary Resolution. The 

retirement or removal of any Trustee shall not become effective until a successor trustee is appointed. 
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26.4 Trustee power to appoint new Trustee 

If the Trustee gives notice of retirement or any Extraordinary Resolution is passed for its removal, the 

Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that a new trustee is appointed, but if it fails to do so 

before the expiry of the months’ notice period, the Trustee shall have the power to appoint a new trustee. 

27. RELEVANT CLEARING SYSTEM 

None of the Issuer, the Trustee or the Agents will have any responsibility for the performance by the 

Relevant Clearing System (or its participants or indirect participants) of any of their respective obligations 

under the rules and procedures governing their operations. 

28. NOTICES 

28.1 Notices to Securityholders 

All notices to Securityholders shall be validly given as follows: 

(A) if the Securities are in definitive registered form, the notice shall be, mailed to the Securityholders 

at their respective addresses in the Register and shall be deemed to have been given on the day 

it is delivered in the case of recorded delivery and 3 calendar days (excluding Saturdays and 

Sundays) in the case of inland post or 7 calendar days (excluding Saturdays and Sundays) in the 

case of overseas post after despatch or if earlier when delivered, save that for purposes only of 

determining any Settlement Date the relevant Redemption Order shall be deemed to have been 

given on the date despatched; 

(B) if the Securities are in global form and held on behalf of a Clearing System, the notice shall be 

delivered to the Relevant Clearing System, or otherwise to the holder of the Global Registered 

Certificate, rather than by publication as set out above and shall be deemed to be given on the 

Business Day immediately following the day on which the notice was given to the Relevant 

Clearing System; and 

(C) for all Securities, for so long as such Securities are listed on any Relevant Stock Exchange and 

the rules of such Relevant Stock Exchange so require, published on the website of one or more 

regulated information exchanges or other services approved for such purposes by the applicable 

Relevant Stock Exchange(s) and shall be conclusively presumed to have been received by the 

holders on the date of publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first 

date on which publication is made. 

28.2 Notices from Securityholders 

Where these Conditions provide for a notice to be given by one or more Securityholders to the Issuer, 

such notice shall be validly given as follows: 

(A) if the Securities are in definitive registered form, the notice shall be mailed to the Issuer at the 

postal address and marked for the attention of the person specified in the Constituting Document 

or to such other address or person as shall have been otherwise notified to Securityholders in 

accordance with Condition 28.1(Notices to Securityholders) and shall be deemed to have been 

given on the day it is delivered in the case of recorded delivery and 3 calendar days (excluding 

Saturdays and Sundays) in the case of inland post or 7 calendar days (excluding Saturdays and 

Sundays) in the case of overseas post after despatch or if earlier when delivered; or 

(B) if the Securities are in global form and held on behalf of a Relevant Clearing System, notice may 

be given to the Issuer by accountholders in the Relevant Clearing System with entitlements to the 

Global Registered Certificate, where the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of 

another person, acting on instruction by the person(s) for whom such entitlement is ultimately 
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beneficially held, whether such beneficiary holds directly with the accountholder or via one or 

more intermediaries. 

In order for such notice to be effective, the accountholder and/or beneficiary, as applicable, must take any 

reasonable steps requested by the Issuer and/or the Trustee to evidence the validity of their holding of 

Securities and to ensure that such holding does not alter following the giving of such notice and prior to 

the earlier of (a) the effecting of any matter that is the subject of such notice, and (b) a specified long stop 

date. Any notice given in accordance with this Condition 28.2(B) will be deemed to have been given when 

actually received by the Issuer. 

29. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Securities under the Contracts 

(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, except and to the extent (if any) that the Securities expressly provide 

for such Act to apply to any of their terms. 

30. GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION AND SERVICE OF PROCESS 

30.1 Governing law 

(A) The Trust Deed (other than the Irish Law Provisions), the Securities and any non-contractual 

obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in 

accordance with, English law. 

(B) The Irish Law Provisions and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with 

them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Irish law. 

30.2 Jurisdiction 

(A) The courts of England are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise 

out of or in connection with the Trust Deed (other than the Irish Law Provisions) and exclusive 

jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Securities and 

accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed 

(other than the Irish Law Provisions) and any Securities (“English Proceedings”) may be brought 

in such courts. The Issuer has in the Trust Deed irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such 

courts in respect of English Proceedings. 

(B) The courts of Ireland are to have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise 

out of or in connection with the Irish Law Provisions any accordingly any legal action or 

proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Irish Law Provisions (“Irish Proceedings”) 

may be brought in such courts. The Issuer has in the Trust Deed irrevocably submitted to the 

jurisdiction of such courts in respect of Irish Proceedings. 

30.3 Service of process 

The Issuer has irrevocably appointed an agent or agents in England and/or Ireland to receive, for it and 

on its behalf, service of process in any Proceedings in England and/or Ireland. 
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CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT 

Form of Securities 

Securities may be issued in Tranches or Series comprising either Registered Securities or Uncertificated Securities, 

as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Registered Securities may be represented by Certificates or by Global Registered Certificates. Uncertificated 

Securities will be issued in dematerialised uncertificated form in accordance with the Uncertificated Regulations. 

If the Global Registered Certificates are not to be held under the new safekeeping structure (“NSS”), upon 

registration of Registered Security in the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and 

delivery of the relevant Global Registered Certificate to the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Instruments equal to the nominal amount thereof 

for which it has subscribed and paid. 

If the Global Registered Certificates are to be held under the NSS, the Global Registered Certificates will be 

delivered on or prior to the issue date to a Common Safekeeper. 

Uncertificated Securities are issued in dematerialised form and are not constituted by any physical document of 

title. 

Relationship of accountholders with clearing systems 

Each of the persons shown in the records of the Relevant Clearing System as the holder of a Security must look 

solely to that Relevant Clearing System for its share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of such 

Global Registered Certificate, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Registered Certificates, 

subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of the Relevant Clearing System. Such 

persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Securities for so long as 

the Securities are represented by such Global Registered Certificate. 

Exchange and transfer 

Registered Securities 

Registered Securities may be transferred upon surrender at the Specified Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent 

of the Certificate representing such Registered Security, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such 

Certificate duly executed and completed and any other evidence as the Issuing and Paying Agent may reasonably 

require. 

In the case of transfer or redemption of part only of a holding of Registered Securities represented by one Certificate, 

a new Certificate shall be issued in respect of the part transferred (in the case of a transfer of part) and a further 

new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor (in the case 

of a transfer of part) or cancelled (in the case of redemption of part). 

Each new Certificate delivered will be available with 5 Business Days of surrender of the relevant Certificate. 

Uncertificated Securities 

All transactions in respect of Uncertificated Securities must be effected through an account with CREST subject to 

and in accordance with the Uncertificated Regulations and the rules, procedures and practices of the Issuing and 

Paying Agent and CREST. 

If at any time Securities cease to be, or notice is received by or on behalf of the Issuer that the Securities will cease 

to be, held in uncertificated form and/or accepted for clearance through CREST and/or CREST is closed for 

business for a continuous period of 14 calendar days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) 

and/or CREST announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so, the Securities shall 

continue to be in registered form and the Issuer, the Registrar, the Paying Agent(s) and any other relevant 

Transaction Party may agree such procedures as they determine necessary in relation to the transfer of 

Uncertificated Securities and shall as soon as reasonably practicable give notice thereof to the Securityholders. 
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The form and Relevant Clearing System for any Series of Securities will be set out in the applicable Final Terms for 

such Series. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer intends for all Securities to be issued as 

Uncertificated Securities and to be settled and cleared through CREST.
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CUSTODY ARRANGEMENTS 

Custodian 

Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. (the “Custodian”) is a public limited liability company (société anonyme) registered 

with the Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register under register number B292147. The registered office of the 

Custodian is 5, Place de la Gare, Luxembourg L-1616, Luxembourg. 

The Custodian serves as a European entity of the Coinbase group for the handling of cryptoassets. 

Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. provides custodial services to institutional customers and acts as custodian to the 

Issuer by holding the relevant Underlying Cryptoassets in respect of the Securities on behalf of the Issuer. 

Custody Agreement 

The Issuer has entered into a Custody Agreement (as may be amended, modified and / or supplemented from time 

to time) in respect of each Series of Securities with the Custodian and the Trustee on the terms of the master terms 

agreed between the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger and the Custodian. 

Coinbase Custody International Limited (“Coinbase Ireland”) was initially appointed as the Custodian with respect 

to each Series of Securities. In order to comply with Regulation (EU) 2023/1114 on markets in crypto-assets (as 

amended), Coinbase Ireland transferred and assigned all of its rights and obligations under the custody agreement 

dated 23 February 2022 between the Issuer and Coinbase Ireland to Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. pursuant to a 

transfer and amendment agreement. 

In connection with the appointment of Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. to act as Custodian with respect to each Series 

of Securities, the Issuer has entered into a Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement in respect of each Series of 

Securities. See the section headed “Security Arrangements” for further information. 

General 

The Custody Agreement provides that (unless otherwise directed by the Trustee) the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) will 

be held in safe custody on behalf of the Issuer by the Custodian in one or more segregated custody account(s) 

controlled and secured by the Custodian (the “Custody Account”). The Custody Account will be operated through 

an online portal provided by the Custodian and will be subject to the security granted to the Trustee in respect of 

the relevant Series of Securities. See “Security Arrangements”. 

In accordance with the terms of the Custody Agreement, the Custodian will comply with any instruction from 

authorised representatives of the Issuer to withdraw Underlying Cryptoasset(s) from, or deposit Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) into, the Custody Account. 

The Custodian will keep a substantial portion of the private keys associated with the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in 

“vault storage” or similarly secure technology. Vault storage is a safeguarding method with multiple layers of 

protections and protocols, by which the private key(s) corresponding to the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) are generated 

and subsequently require an offline key shard to be brought online in order for the private key to be used. Private 

keys are generated in offline computers that are not connected to the internet so that they are resistant to being 

hacked. 

Vault storage of private keys may involve keeping key shards on a non-networked computer or electronic device or 

storing the private key shards on a storage device (for example, a USB thumb drive) or printed medium and deleting 

the keys from all computers. The Custodian may receive deposits of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) but may not send 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s) without use of the corresponding private keys. In order to send Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

when the private keys are secured in a vault storage solution, multiple key shards that secure the private key must 

be utilized to reconstitute the wallet private key and sign the transaction. This multi-encryption approach and use of 

distributed operators helps to mitigate the risk of single points of compromise. At that point, the Custodian can 

transfer the Underlying Cryptoasset(s). 
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Staking 

The Issuer may, in its absolute discretion, instruct the Custodian to stake or vote the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), 

and the Custodian will, to the extent it supports staking or voting for such Underlying Cryptoasset(s), comply with 

such instruction. Any rewards which may be payable in respect of the staking or voting of an Underlying Cryptoasset 

will be paid by the underlying blockchain to the Issuer, and the Issuer and Custodian may agree from time to time 

regarding fees payable to the Custodian in connection with such staking. 

In circumstances where the Issuer is required to pay the Redemption Amount and the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

are staked, the Issuer may either obtain short term financing from the Custodian or delay payment of the 

Redemption Amount. 

Fork Events and Airdrop Events 

In the event of a Fork Event or an Airdrop Event affecting the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) applicable to any Series of 

Securities (the “Original Series”), the Issuer may, to the extent such event is supported by the Custodian, in its 

absolute discretion deal with the Cryptoasset arising as a result of such Fork Event or Airdrop Event in accordance 

with Condition 23 (Fork Events, Airdrop Events and Staking). Where such event is supported by the Custodian, the 

Custodian agrees to execute any transfer of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in accordance with the Issuer’s instructions. 

Termination 

The Issuer undertakes in the relevant Trust Deed, without prejudice to the provisions of automatic termination of 

any Custodian, to use reasonable endeavours to at all times maintain a Custodian in relation to the relevant Series 

of Securities. 

The Custodian’s appointment in respect of a Series of Securities may be terminated by the Issuer or the Custodian 

on the giving of not less than 90 calendar day’s prior written notice to the other party and, amongst others, the 

Trustee. 

Custodian replacement 

In addition, the Issuer may, on the giving of not less than 90 calendar day’s prior written notice to (amongst others) 

the Custodian, elect to terminate the appointment of the Custodian in respect of any Securities already in issue. 
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SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS 

Securities issued under the Programme will be secured obligations. The security interests described below and any 

additional security created in relation to a particular Series of Securities shall be known as the Transaction Security. 

This security is, in particular, granted under English law, Irish law and Luxembourg law in favour of the Trustee who 

will hold this on trust for itself and the other Secured Creditors in accordance with the Trust Deed and the 

Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement (as applicable). 

To the extent that the Secured Property is held by the Trustee on trust for itself and the other Secured Creditors 

and such trust is not recognised and/or enforceable in any applicable jurisdiction, the Trustee will hold such Secured 

Property in its own name for the benefit of itself and the other Secured Creditors. In such cases, any reference in 

this Base Prospectus to security or Secured Property being held by the Trustee on trust shall be construed 

accordingly. 

The enforcement of a claim as against any Transaction Security may only be exercised with respect to the 

Transaction Security relating to a particular Series of Securities and such enforcement shall not be with respect to 

the Transaction Security held in relation to any other Series of Securities. 

Transaction Security 

The various payment obligations of the Issuer in respect of each Series of Securities shall be secured, pursuant to 

the Trust Deed, over some or all of the following assets: 

• the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (including the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool in respect of a Series of Index-

Linked Securities and including, on a Rebalancing of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool, any new Underlying 

Cryptoasset(s) for the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool) and all property, income, sums or other assets derived 

therefrom; 

• all the Issuer’s rights, title and interest attaching to or in respect of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (including 

the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities and including, on a 

Rebalancing of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool, any new Underlying Cryptoasset(s) for the Underlying 

Cryptoasset Pool) and all property, income, sums or other assets derived therefrom; 

• the Issuer’s rights, title and interest under the Custody Agreement; 

• the Issuer’s interest in any bank accounts (present and future) opened in respect of such Series of Securities 

(“Additional Accounts”) maintained with any account bank or custodian and any sums relating to such Series 

of Securities standing to the credit of such Additional Accounts from time to time; 

• an assignment by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and interest under any agreement (present or 

future) with any account bank or custodian in respect of any Additional Accounts; 

• all sums held by any Paying Agent and/or the Custodian to meet payments due in respect of any Secured 

Payment Obligation; and 

• any other security constituted by the Trust Deed or any other Security Document for such Series, 

and, in each case, the rights, title and interest of the Issuer in any other assets, property, income, rights and/or 

agreements of the Issuer (other than the Issuer’s share capital). 

For a Series of Index-Linked Securities and in accordance with the terms of the relevant Trust Deed, the Transaction 

Security over the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) being removed from the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool will be released 

to the extent required on a rebalancing of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool and the Transaction Security will apply 

to any new Cryptoasset(s) included in the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool (in addition to the remaining Cryptoasset(s) 

in the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool) on a rebalancing of the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool. 
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Order of Priority 

The security constituted by the Trust Deed and/or any other Security Document for each Series of Securities shall 

be known as the Transaction Security. The order of priority in which the Secured Creditors will be paid if the 

Transaction Security is enforced is as follows, as further set out in the Conditions: 

• first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities, losses and other amounts due 

to the Trustee, any Irish Receiver or any receiver; 

• second, in or towards payment or satisfaction of the Redemption Amount to Securityholders; and 

• third, in payment of any balance to the Issuer for itself or as it may direct. 

Additional security interests 

Additionally, the Constituting Document may provide that different security arrangements apply to the Securities 

and/or that the Secured Payment Obligations of the Issuer may be secured pursuant to a document (which would 

be a Security Document) other than the Trust Deed. The existence of a Security Document (other than the Trust 

Deed) for a particular Series of Securities will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. A Security Document 

(other than the Trust Deed) will be entered into, for example, where there is a security interest to be created under 

a law other than English law or Irish law in respect of a particular asset for a Series of Securities. 

The Luxembourg Account Pledge Agreement entered into between the Issuer and the Trustee contains the 

provisions relating to the creation of a Luxembourg law governed pledge. The Luxembourg law governed pledge is 

granted by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee, acting in its own name and for the benefit of itself and the other 

Secured Creditors for the relevant Series of Securities, with respect to all assets, rights, claims and distributions of 

the Issuer under the relevant Custody Account held by the Custodian in Luxembourg. 
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REDEMPTION EVENTS 

A summary description of each of the Redemption Events is set out below: 

Optional Redemption 

The Securities may be redeemed at the option of a Securityholder who is an Authorised Participant by submitting 

a valid Redemption Order to the Issuer and making an Acceptable Delivery of Securities. 

Where there are no Authorised Participants, or the Issuer has announced that redemptions by Securityholders that 

are not Authorised Participants is permitted (and such announcement remains valid), a Securityholder that is not 

an Authorised Participant may require the Issuer to redeem its Securities by submitting a valid Redemption Order 

(which complies with any requirements specified in the Issuer’s announcement) and making an Acceptable Delivery 

of Securities. Any redemption of Securities directly with the Issuer will be conditional upon the payment by the 

Securityholder of the Redemption Fee. 

Compulsory Redemption 

The Securities may be compulsorily redeemed in the following circumstances: 

• At the discretion of the Issuer on giving 30 calendar days’ notice, the Issuer may determine the Securities will 

be redeemed, and apply for the trading of such Securities on the Relevant Stock Exchange to be suspended 

or cancelled (the date on which the trading is suspended or cancelled being the “Final Trading Date”); 

• Where an Issuer Insolvency Event has occurred, the Trustee may at its discretion (or shall if so directed in 

writing by Securityholders holding not less than 25 per cent. of the number of the Securities then outstanding 

or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Securityholders); 

• In the absolute discretion of the Issuer, at any time if: 

o following a written notice delivered by the Issuer to a Securityholder requiring that Securityholder to 

provide, within 10 Business Days of such notice, an executed certificate and evidence satisfactory to the 

Issuer that such Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder: 

▪ the Securityholder certifies that it is a Prohibited Securityholder; or 

▪ the Securityholder fails to provide an executed certificated in the form and manner required under 

the Conditions as to its status as a Prohibited Securityholder within 10 Business Days from the date 

of the Issuer’s notice; and/or 

o the Issuer considers (in its sole discretion) that the Securities may be: 

▪ owned or held directly or beneficially by any person in breach of any law or requirement of any 

country or by virtue of which such person is not qualified to own those Securities; or 

▪ that the ownership or holding or continued ownership or holding of those Securities (whether on its 

own or in conjunction with any other circumstance appearing to the Issuer to be relevant) would, in 

the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, cause a pecuniary or tax disadvantage to the Issuer or any 

other Securityholders which it or they might not otherwise have suffered or incurred and/or expose 

any Transaction Party to a risk of violation of any law or regulation; 

• If the Issuer determines (acting reasonably) that it is illegal or impossible for it to issue or deal with such 

Securities or to hold or deal with the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of such Securities; 

• Where an Event of Default occurs and the Trustee (either at its discretion or following a direction in writing by 

Securityholders holding not less than 25 per cent. of the number of the Securities then outstanding or by an 

Extraordinary Resolution) gives notice to the Issuer and each Transaction Party that all of the Securities shall 

become immediate due and payable (such notice an “Event of Default Redemption Notice”); 

“Prohibited Securityholder” means a Prohibited Benefit Plan Investor or a Restricted Securityholder; 
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“Prohibited Benefit Plan Investor” means any “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of section 3(3) of the 

United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), subtitle B of Title I of 

ERISA, any “plan” to which section 4975 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, (the “Code”) applies 

(collectively, “Plans”), any entity whose underlying assets include “plan assets” of any of the foregoing Plans within 

the meaning of 29 C.F.R. Section 2510.3 101 or section 3(42) of ERISA, as they may be modified, by reason of a 

Plan’s investment in such entity, any governmental or church plan that is subject to any U.S. Federal, state or local 

law that is similar to the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or any person who 

holds Securities on behalf of, for the benefit of or with any assets of any such Plan or entity. 

“Restricted Securityholder” means any Securityholder that, through its holding of the Securities, is, in the opinion 

of the Issuer (acting reasonably), in breach of any law or regulation or would risk exposing any Transaction Party 

to a breach of any law or regulation. 

On occurrence of a Redemption Event, the Issuer will as soon as reasonably practicable notify the Securityholders 

and the Transaction Parties. 

Suspension of redemptions 

If on any date the Determination Agent determines that the prevailing market value of the Coin Entitlement is less 

than 100 per cent. of the Principal Amount of such Security (a “Redemption Suspension Event”), the 

Determination Agent shall notify the Issuer and the Issuer may suspend the right to request redemptions for so long 

as the Determination Agent determines that the Redemption Suspension Event continues. 

The Issuer will notify the Transaction Parties of such suspension, which may continue for a period of up to 60 days 

at the discretion of the Issuer. Any such suspension shall not affect any redemption requested pursuant to a valid 

redemption order received prior to such suspension. 
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SALE OR TRANSFER OF UNDERLYING CRYPTOASSET(S), ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY AND LIMITED 

RECOURSE 

Redemption Process 

The Securities may redeem on the occurrence of a Redemption Event. In order to trigger the redemption of a Series 

of Securities: 

• in the case of optional redemption, either an Authorised Participant or (where there are no Authorised 

Participants or where the Issuer announces that redemptions by Securityholders are permitted) a 

Securityholder must submit a valid Redemption Order to the Issuer; or 

• in the case of the occurrence of a Compulsory Redemption Event, a Redemption Notice will need to be given 

by the Issuer to the Securityholders. 

In order for a Redemption Order to be valid it must: 

• specify the number and Series of Securities to be redeemed; 

• relate to only one Series of Securities; 

• be signed by, or by an authorised signatory on behalf of, the Authorised Participant or Securityholder (as 

applicable); 

• provide all forms of documentation required for the purposes of any compliance and identification checks; 

• comply with any additional requirements specified in any notice given by the Issuer; 

• specify a digital wallet (or bank account) into which the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) (or net cash proceeds) 

are to be deposited, to the extent that it is not already specified in the relevant Authorised Participant 

Agreement; and 

• where submitted by a Securityholder who is not an Authorised Participant, elect the Physical Redemption 

Procedures or the Cash Redemption Procedures and contain any additional information as the Issuer (acting 

reasonably) determines is required to satisfy any application “know-your-customer” requirements, including 

(without limitation) that such Securityholder is not a Prohibited Securityholder. 

Sale or transfer of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

The submission of a valid Redemption Order or the giving of a Redemption Notice will trigger a process which will 

require the Issuer to (in the case of cash redemption) arrange for the sale of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) or (in 

the case of physical redemption) instruct the Custodian to transfer the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) to the 

Securityholders, in each case in accordance with the provisions set out in the Conditions and the Transaction 

Documents. 

Redemption Amount 

Following such sale or transfer, the Securities will redeem early and the Securityholders will receive the Redemption 

Amount. The Redemption Amount for a Series of Securities will be calculated as: 

• in the case of cash redemption: 

o the quotient of: 

▪ the net proceeds actually realised from the sale of an amount of Underlying Cryptoasset(s) 

equal to the Coin Entitlement for such Series; divided by 

▪ the proportion that the Securities of such Series held by that Securityholder that are subject to 

redemption bears to the total number of Securities of such Series subject to redemption; 

minus 



Sale or transfer of Underlying Cryptoassets, Enforcement of Security and Limited Recourse 

 

 128  

 

o the Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deduction for the Series subject to redemption; 

• in the case of physical redemption: 

o the product of: 

▪ the Coin Entitlement with respect to a Security of that Series; and 

▪ the number of Securities held by that Securityholder subject to redemption; 

minus 

o the Coin Equivalent of the Redemption Deductions with respect to the Securityholder and the 

Securities of that Series held by that Securityholder; 

See the section headed “Economic Overview of the ETPs” for a description of how the Redemption Amount is 

calculated. 

Enforcement of security 

Pursuant to the Conditions and the terms of the Trust Deed and/or any Security Document, the Transaction Security 

shall become enforceable on the occurrence of one of the following events (each an “Event of Default”): 

• the Issuer defaults in payment or delivery on the Securities for 14 days or more; 

• the Issuer fails to comply with any of its other material obligations for 30 days; 

• the Determination Agent resigns or its appointment is termination without a successor being appointed; 

• the Custodian resigns or its appointment is termination without a successor being appointed; or 

• the Issuer becomes insolvent. 

Once the Transaction Security has become enforceable, the Trustee may in its discretion (and shall if directed in 

writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in number of the Securities of the relevant Series then outstanding or by 

an Extraordinary Resolution), in each case if indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction, enforce 

the Transaction Security. 

The Trustee shall hold the proceeds of enforcement of the Secured Property received by it under the Trust Deed 

on trust for application in accordance with the order of priority set out in Condition 18 (Application of Proceeds). 

Limited recourse 

The limited recourse and non-petition provisions provide that claims against the Issuer by Securityholders and each 

other creditor relating to any Series of Securities will be limited to the series assets applicable to such Securities. 

If, following liquidation or enforcement of security as described above, the available cash sums pursuant to 

Condition 18 (Application of Proceeds) or assets available for delivery, as the case may be, are insufficient for the 

Securityholders to receive payment in full of any Redemption Amount, Securityholders will receive less than such 

amount and Condition 19 (Limited recourse and non-petition) will apply. No other assets of the Issuer will be 

available to meet such shortfall, the claims of such Securityholders or other creditors relating to such Securities in 

respect of any such shortfall shall be extinguished. No Securityholders will be able to petition for the winding-up of 

the Issuer as a consequence of any such shortfall or launch proceedings against the Issuer. 
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THE ISSUER 

General 

Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited (the “Issuer”) was incorporated as a private limited company Issuer in Jersey 

on 8 November 2021 under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 (as amended) with the name “Global X Digital Assets 

Issuer Limited”. The Issuer was converted to a public company by special resolution on 10 February 2022. The 

Issuer operates under the aforementioned law and secondary legislation made thereunder. The Issuer is registered 

in Jersey under number 139150 on the register maintained by the Jersey Financial Services Commission. The 

Administrator will act as the company secretary of the Issuer. 

The Issuer has been established as a special purpose vehicle for the purposes of issuing asset-backed Securities. 

The registered office of the Issuer is at 28 Esplanade, St Helier Jersey JE2 3QA. The telephone number of the 

Issuer is +44 1534 700 000. The Issuer’s Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) is 254900GFVKWOIHOFGO32. The Issuer’s 

Website is available at https://globalxetfs.eu/. The information on the Issuer’s Website does not form part of this 

Base Prospectus unless that information is incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus. 

Share capital 

The Issuer is authorised to issue an unlimited number of no par value shares of one class designated as Ordinary 

Shares of which two Ordinary Shares of no par value have been issued for a consideration of £1.00 each. The 

amount of the Issuer’s share capital is £2. 

The Issuer does not have any subsidiary undertakings. 

Ownership of the Issuer 

All of the Issuer’s issued ordinary shares are owned by Global X Digital Assets, LLC, a holding company 

incorporated in Delaware. The shares in Global X Digital Assets, LLC are ultimately wholly owned by Global X 

Management Company, Inc. 

Activities of the Issuer 

The Trust Deed contains restrictions on the activities in which the Issuer may engage. Pursuant to these restrictions, 

the business of the Issuer is limited to issuing Securities up to a maximum number of Securities outstanding equal 

to 1,000,000,000 of each Series of Securities, entering into agreements and performing its obligations and 

exercising its rights thereunder and entering into other related transactions, and issuing unsecured debt securities, 

as contemplated in the Master Trust Terms. 

The assets of the Issuer will consist of the issued and paid-up capital of the Issuer and fees. The only assets of the 

Issuer available to meet claims of Securityholders and other secured creditors are the assets comprised in the 

relevant collection of benefits, rights and other assets comprising the security for the relevant Series of Securities. 

The Issuer will be paid a fee for agreeing to issue the relevant Securities. Other than the fees paid to the Issuer, its 

share capital and any income derived therefrom, there is no intention that the Issuer accumulates surpluses. The 

Securities of each Class are direct, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer alone and not of the shareholders of 

the Issuer, the Trustee, officers, members, directors, employees, or any Securityholders. Furthermore, they are not 

obligations of, or guaranteed in any way by, any of the Authorised Participants or their respective successors or 

assigns. 

The Issuer is expected to have an indefinite length of life. 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/globalxetfs.eu/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6MTY0NjpiYmM0ZTdlOWJiZmI1Nzc0Mzc3YmFmYTFjMzg4MDNjODliMGViMWQwY2QyYjkxZmY4MGFiZDA3NTI5MjkzYzQyOnA6VDpO
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Directors 

The directors of the Issuer are as follows: 

Director Principal outside activities Business Address 

Hilary Jones Director – JTC Fund Solutions 

(Jersey) Limited  

28 Esplanade, St Helier 

Jersey JE2 3QA 

Alan Baird  Director – JTC Fund Solutions 

(Jersey) Limited 

28 Esplanade, St Helier 

Jersey JE2 3QA 

Alex Ashby Chief Operating Officer of Global X 605 Third Avenue, 43rd Floor 

New York, NY 10158 

The Issuer has no permanent chairman. The board of directors of the Issuer (the “Board”) will appoint a chairman 

in respect of each meeting of the Board. 

Mr Baird is a director and Ms Jones an employee of JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited, the Administrator and 

Determination Agent of the Issuer. While these roles could potentially lead to conflicts of interest, the Directors do 

not believe there are any actual or potential conflicts of interest between the duties which the directors of the Issuer 

owe to the Issuer and their private interest and/or other duties. 

There are no conflicts of interest for Alex Ashby in respect of his private interests and his duties to the Issuer. 

However, Alex Ashby is the Chief Operating Officer of Global X, the group which the Issuer and the Arranger form 

part of. There are potential conflicts of interest in respect of his duties to the Global X group and his duties to the 

Issuer, including that the Global X group may enter into business dealings relating to the Securities or the Underlying 

Cryptoassets without any regard for the interest of Securityholders. See the section headed “Conflicts of Interest”. 

Administrator 

Pursuant to the terms of an agreement in respect of each Series of Securities between the Issuer and JTC Fund 

Solutions (Jersey) Limited (the “Administrator”) (the “Administration and Determination Agency Agreement”) 

the Issuer has appointed the Administrator to perform certain administrative, accounting, determination agency and 

related services to the Issuer. In consideration of these services, the Administrator will receive various fees from 

the Issuer as set out in the Administration and Determination Agency Agreement. 

The appointment of the Administrator may be terminated by either the Issuer or the Administrator upon not less 

than 90 calendar days’ prior written notice. 

Financial statements 

The financial year of the Issuer begins on 1 January of each year and ends on 31 December of the same year save 

that the first financial year started on the date of incorporation of the Issuer and ended on 31 December 2022. 

In accordance with the Companies Law the Issuer is obliged to publish its annual accounts on an annual basis 

following approval of the annual accounts by the annual general meeting of its shareholders. The Issuer is not 

required to and does not prepare interim financial statements. 

Audited historical financial information (audited by the statutory auditors) in respect of the Issuer covering each year 

in which the Issuer has been in operation (and the statutory auditor’s audit report in respect of each year) is available 

on the Issuer’s Website. 

Any future published annual audited financial statements prepared for the Issuer (and the audit report in respect of 

such financial year) will be published on the Issuer’s Website and annual audited financial statements will be 

obtainable free of charge from the registered office of the Issuer or the Specified Office of the Issuing and Paying 

Agent, as described in “General Information”. 
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Incorporation by reference 

The following information is incorporated in this Base Prospectus by reference and shall be read as an integrated 

part of this Base Prospectus: 

- audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, including the Issuer’s auditor’s report, 
dated 19 April 2024 (the “2023 Audited Financial Statements”); 
 

- audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, including the Issuer’s auditor’s report, 

dated 25 April 2025 (the “2024 Audited Financial Statements”); 

 
- the conditions issued pursuant to the Base Prospectus dated 21 February 2023 under the sections headed 

“Conditions” from pages 76-118 (the “2023 Conditions”); 
 

- the conditions issued pursuant to the Base Prospectus dated 20 February 2024 under the sections headed 
“Conditions” from pages 70-112 (the “2024 Conditions”); and 
 

- the conditions issued pursuant to the Base Prospectus dated 19 February 2025 under the sections headed 

“Conditions” from pages 74-116 (the “2025 Conditions”). 

The 2023 Audited Financial Statements is available in electronic format on the Issuer’s Website at 

https://globalxetfs.eu/funds/bt0x/#documents. Within the 2023 Audited Financial Statements, the director’s report 

is on pages 3-7, the auditor’s report is on pages 10-16, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income is on page 17, the statement of financial position is on page 18, the statement of changes in equity is on 

page 19, the statement of cash flows is on page 20 and the notes to the financial statements are on pages 21-44. 

The 2024 Audited Financial Statements is available in electronic format on the Issuer’s Website at 

https://globalxetfs.eu/funds/bt0x/#documents. Within the 2024 Audited Financial Statements, the director’s report 

is on pages 3-7, the auditor’s report is on pages 10-16, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income is on page 17, the statement of financial position is on page 18, the statement of changes in equity is on 

page 19, the statement of cash flows is on page 20 and the notes to the financial statements are on pages 21-45. 

The 2023 Audited Financial Statements and the 2024 Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer have been 

prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Statutory auditors 

KPMG Channel Islands Limited. KPMG Channel Islands Limited is a member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales. 

Restrictions 

So long as any of the Securities remain outstanding, the Issuer will be subject to the restrictions set out in the 

Articles and the Trust Deed applicable to such Series of Securities. These restrictions include that, except as 

provided for or contemplated in the Conditions, the Trust Deed applicable to such series of Securities, any other 

Security Document or any other Transaction Document, the Issuer will not without the prior written consent of the 

Trustee: 

• engage in any business activities other than the following: 

o issue, enter into, amend, redeem, exchange or repurchase and cancel or reissue or resell all or some 

only of the Securities; 

o acquire and own rights, property or other assets which are to comprise Secured Property relating to 

any Series of Securities; 

o perform its respective obligations under any Securities and the relevant Transaction Documents; 

o engage in any activity in relation to the Secured Property, the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) or any other 

Transaction Document; 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fglobalxetfs.eu%2Ffunds%2Fbt0x%2F*23documents&data=05%7C01%7Cavani.maha%40simmons-simmons.com%7Cf44469bafb0d4af4589c08dbeb5fd128%7C9c0035ef4799443f8b14c5d60303e8cd%7C0%7C0%7C638362570559023163%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=7wSSSSu1gLH9aQ0Pxua407WWeqQapB8TtUMGGg788CI%3D&reserved=0___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6NzhkNjo3ZWFkMmYwNWY2NmIzYTRiYjUzM2FkYzEwYjE3ODdmMDRjMWQzOGQ1MDRhMDY0ZTgwZGNlMmY2MGFkYzk2MjkwOnA6VDpO
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• cause or permit the terms of the Security and the order of priority to be amended, terminated or discharged; 

• release any party to the Trust Deed or any other relevant Transaction Document relating to a Series of 

Securities from any existing obligations thereunder; 

• have any subsidiaries; 

• sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any assets that are the subject of the Secured or create or allow to exist 

any charge, lien or other encumbrance over such Secured Property; 

• consent to any variation of, or exercise any powers or consent or waiver pursuant to, the terms of the 

Conditions, the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document; 

• consolidate or merge with any other person or convey or transfer its properties or assets substantially as an 

entirety to any person; 

• have any employees (provided this shall not prevent the appointment of the directors); 

• issue any shares (other than such shares in the capital of the Issuer as were issued at the time of its 

incorporation and which are held by the share trustee or its nominee) or make any distribution to its 

shareholders; 

• declare any dividends; 

• purchase, own, or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or like facilities); 

• guarantee, act as surety for or become obligated for the debts of any other entity or person or enter into any 

agreement with any other entity or person whereby it agrees to satisfy the obligations of such entity or person 

or any other entity or person; 

• acquire any securities or shareholdings whatsoever from its shareholders or enter into any agreements 

whereby it would be acquiring the obligations and/or liabilities of its shareholders; 

• advance or lend any of its moneys or assets to any other entity or person, 

provided that the Issuer shall not take any action (even where the prior written consent of the Trustee is obtained) 

if such action is, in the opinion of the Issuer, inconsistent with or in contravention of its memorandum and articles 

of association. 
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THE ADMINISTRATOR AND DETERMINATION AGENT 

JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited (the “Administrator” and the “Determination Agent”) is a Jersey private 

company limited by shares, registered on 8 July 1985 under company number 32203. The registered office of the 

Administrator is 28 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE2 3QA. 

The Administrator and the Determination Agent is regulated by the JFSC in respect of the undertaking of various 

class of 'trust company business' and 'funds services business' under the Financial Services (Jersey) Law 1998; 

and has a wealth of experience gained from acting in respect of similar SPV issuers and programmes. 

The ultimate holding company of the Administrator and the Determination Agent is JTC plc, which is a FTSE 250 

Index company listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. Please refer to the JTC website for more 

information: https://www.jtcgroup.com. 
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THE CUSTODIAN 

Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. (the “Custodian”) is a public limited liability company (société anonyme) registered 

with the Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register under register number B292147. The registered office of the 

Custodian is 5, Place de la Gare, Luxembourg L-1616, Luxembourg. 

The Custodian serves as a European entity of the Coinbase group for the handling of cryptoassets. 

Coinbase Luxembourg S.A. provides custodial services to institutional customers and acts as custodian to the 

Issuer by holding the relevant Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of a Series of Securities on behalf of the Issuer. 
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THE ARRANGER 

Global X Digital Assets, LLC (the “Arranger”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the state of Delaware on 

9 July 2021 under file number 6072193. The registered office of the Arranger is c/o Corporation Service Company, 

251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808. The principal place of business of the Arranger is 605 Third 

Avenue, 43rd Floor, New York, NY 10158. 

Global X Digital Assets, LLC is wholly owned by its ultimate parent company Global X Management Company, Inc. 

The Arranger provides certain administrative and operational services to the Issuer pursuant to an Arrangement 

Agreement dated 20 February 2024 (as may be amended, modified and/or supplemented from time to time). The 

Arranger may delegate certain of those services to its affiliates. 
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THE TRUSTEE 

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (the “Trustee”) is an English public limited company registered under 

company number 01675231 authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, and is a trust corporation 

that acts as trustee for Eurobond issues, other forms of complex financing structures, numerous structured product 

transactions, including Exchange Tradeable Products. The company has acted as trustee on numerous structured 

product transactions including fixed-rate, floating-rate and deposit-linked issuances. The company has a share 

capital of £5,000,000 and all of its issued shares are owned by its ultimate parent The Law Debenture Corporation 

p.l.c., bar one share which is held by Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited as a nominee. 
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THE REGISTRAR AND ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT 

Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited (the “Registrar” and the “Issuing and Paying Agent”) is a 

Jersey registered private company, registered on 2 September 1999 under company number 75005. The Registrar 

and the Issuing and Paying Agent’s registered office is at 13 Castle Street, St. Helier, JE1 1ES, Jersey. 

Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Computershare Limited. The 

Computershare group offers industry-leading corporate trust and share and fund registration services in 20 

countries globally and has over 20 years’ experience in Jersey. Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited 

has acted as registrar on numerous structured product transactions, including exchanged traded products. 
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TAXATION 

Below is a summary of certain tax considerations which may impact the return on the Securities. Securityholders 

should be aware that the tax legislation of their home country and the Issuer’s country of incorporation may have 

an impact on the return on the Securities. 

Jersey tax considerations 

Income Tax 

The Issuer will be regarded as resident in Jersey under the Income Tax (Jersey) Law 1961, (as amended) (the 

"Jersey Income Tax Law") but (being neither a financial services company, a specified utility company, a large 

corporate retailer nor in the trade of importing into Jersey and/or supplying in Jersey hydrocarbon oil under the 

Jersey Income Tax Law at the date of this Prospectus) will (except as noted below) be subject to Jersey income 

tax at a rate of 0%. Securityholders other than residents of Jersey should not be subject to any tax in Jersey in 

respect of the holding, sale or redemption of Securities. Redemption payments (other than redemption payments 

paid to residents of Jersey) will not be subject to withholding for or on account of Jersey tax. 

Goods and Services Tax 

The Issuer is an “international services entity” for the purposes of the Goods and Services Tax (Jersey) Law 2007 

(the “GST Law”). Consequently, the Issuer is not required to: (a) register as a taxable person pursuant to the GST 

Law; (b) charge goods and services tax in Jersey in respect of any supply made by it; or (c) (subject to limited 

exceptions that are not expected to apply to the Issuer) pay goods and services tax in Jersey in respect of any 

supply made to it. 

Stamp Duty 

Under current Jersey law, there are no death or estate duties, capital gains, gift, wealth, inheritance or capital 

transfer taxes. No stamp duty is levied in Jersey on the issue, transfer, acquisition, redemption or sale or other 

disposal of Securities. In the event of the death of an individual sole holder of the Securities, duty at rates of up to 

0.75 per cent. of the value of the Securities held, subject to a cap of £100,000, may be payable on registration of 

Jersey probate or letters of administration which may be required in order to transfer or otherwise deal with the 

Securities held by the deceased individual sole holder thereof. 

CRS 

Jersey has implemented the CRS by the Taxation (Implementation) (International Tax Compliance) (Common 

Reporting Standard) (Jersey) Regulations 2015. As a result, the Issuer is required to comply with the CRS due 

diligence and reporting requirements, as adopted by Jersey. Jersey has committed to a common implementation 

timetable which has seen the first exchange of information in 2017 in respect of accounts open at and from the end 

of 2015, with further countries committed to implement the new global standard. 

Security holders may be required to provide additional information to the Issuer to enable the Issuer to satisfy its 

obligations under the CRS. Failure to provide requested information may subject an investor to liability for any 

resulting penalties or other charges and/or mandatory redemption of the Securities. The law and any other rules or 

customary practice relating to tax, or its interpretation in relation to the Issuer, its assets and any investment of the 

Issuer may change during its life. In particular, both the level and basis of taxation may change. In particular, the 

outcome of the on-going global Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) project could substantially affect the tax 

treatment of the Issuer. Additionally, the interpretation and application of tax rules and customary practice to the 

Issuer, its assets and investors by any taxation authority or court may differ from that anticipated by the Issuer. Both 

could significantly affect returns to investors. 

Swiss tax considerations 

The following discussion is a summary of certain material Swiss tax considerations relating to (i) Securities where 

the holder is tax resident in Switzerland or has a tax presence in Switzerland or (ii) Securities where the paying 

agent, Custodian or securities dealer is located in Switzerland. The discussion is based on legislation as of the date 

of this Base Prospectus. It does not aim to be a comprehensive description of all the Swiss tax considerations that 
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may be relevant for a decision to invest in Securities. The tax treatment for each investor depends on their particular 

situation. All investors are advised to consult with their professional tax advisers as to the respective Swiss tax 

consequences of the purchase, ownership, disposition, lapse, exercise or redemption of Securities (or options 

embedded therein) in light of their particular circumstances. 

Swiss Withholding Tax 

Payments under the Securities will not be subject to Swiss federal withholding tax, provided that the Issuer is at all 

times resident and managed outside Switzerland for Swiss tax purposes. 

On 3 April 2020, the Swiss Federal Council proposed draft legislation and opened the consultation procedure 

regarding the reform of the Swiss withholding tax regime, which had previously been suspended. A main aspect of 

the draft legislation is the exemption of Swiss-domiciled legal entities and foreign investors from withholding tax on 

Swiss domestic interest-based investments. In essence, the draft legislation would replace the current debtor-based 

regime applicable to interest payments with a paying agent-based regime for Swiss withholding tax. Broadly, this 

paying agent-based regime would (i) subject all interest payments made through paying agents in Switzerland to 

individuals resident in Switzerland to Swiss withholding tax and (ii) exempt from Swiss withholding tax interest 

payments to all other persons, including to Swiss-domiciled legal entities and foreign investors (other than for 

indirect interest payments via foreign and domestic collective investments vehicles). If such a new paying agent-

based regime were to be enacted and were to result in the deduction or withholding of Swiss withholding tax on any 

interest payments in respect of the Securities, the Securities holders would not be entitled to receive any additional 

amounts as a result of such deduction or withholding under the terms of the Securities. However, the results of the 

consultation, which ended on 10 July 2020, were controversial. Consequently, on 15 April 2021, the Swiss Federal 

Council submitted new draft legislation on the reform of the Swiss withholding tax system providing for the abolition 

of Swiss withholding tax on interest payments on bonds for submission to the Swiss Federal Parliament, which 

legislation was accepted by the Swiss Parliament on 17 December 2021. The legislation has been rejected in a 

referendum held on 25 September 2022. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a new paying agent-based regime were 

to be enacted as contemplated by the draft legislation published on 3 April 2020 and were to result in the deduction 

or withholding of Swiss withholding tax on any payment in respect of a Security by any person in Switzerland other 

than the Issuer, the holder of such Security would not be entitled to any additional amounts with respect to such 

Security as a result of such deduction or withholding under the Conditions. 

Income Taxation 

Securities held as Private Assets by a Swiss resident holder 

Structured Notes 

If a Security is classified as a structured note, its income taxation in Switzerland depends on whether the bond and 

the derivative financial instrument(s) embedded therein are recorded separately from each other and whether the 

Security is classified as a structured note with or without a predominant one-time interest payment (a structured 

note is classified as a note with a predominant one-time interest payment if the one-time interest payment exceeds 

the sum of the periodic interest payments): 

Non-transparent Structured Notes: If the bond is not recorded separately from the embedded derivative financial 

instrument(s), the Security is classified as non-transparent structured note and any return over the initial investment 

is classified as a taxable interest payment. Non-transparent Structured Notes generally include a predominant one-

time interest payment and are taxed in accordance with the principles set forth below under “Bonds with a 

predominant one-time interest payment”. 

Transparent Structured Notes without a predominant one-time interest payment: If the bond is recorded separately 

from the embedded derivative financial instrument(s) and the yield-to-maturity predominantly derives from periodic 

interest payments and not from a one-time interest payment (see below “—Transparent Structured Notes with a 

predominant one-time interest payment”), then any such periodic interest payment and the non-predominant one-

time interest payment, if any, is taxed when paid to the holder of the Security. A gain (including interest accrued) or 

a loss realised on the sale of such a Security is a tax-free private capital gain or a non-tax-deductible private capital 
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loss, respectively (see below “—Capital Gains, Securities held as Private Assets by a Swiss resident holder”). The 

same applies if such a Security is redeemed, except that interest accrued is taxed when paid. 

Transparent Structured Notes with a predominant one-time interest payment: If the bond is recorded separately 

from the embedded derivative financial instrument(s) and the yield-to-maturity predominantly derives from a one-

time interest payment such as an original issue discount or a repayment premium and not from periodic interest 

payments, then any periodic interest payments constitute, and upon the redemption or sale of the Security, the 

difference between the value of the bond at redemption or sale, as applicable, and its value at issuance or secondary 

market purchase, as applicable, converted, in each case, into Swiss francs at the exchange rate prevailing at the 

time of redemption or sale, and at the time of issuance or purchase, respectively (modified differential taxation 

method) constitutes, taxable income. A value decrease on the bond realised on the redemption or sale of the 

Security may be offset against any gains (including periodic interest payments) realised within the same taxation 

period from all instruments with a predominant one-time interest payment. Any residual return realised on the 

embedded derivative financial instrument(s) is a tax-free private capital gain, and any residual loss is a non-tax-

deductible private capital loss (see below “—Capital Gains, Securities held as Private Assets by a Swiss resident 

holder”). 

Bonds 

Bonds without a predominant one-time interest payment: If a Security is classified as a pure bond without a 

predominant one-time interest payment (the yield-to-maturity predominantly derives from periodic interest payments 

and not from a one-time-interest-payment), Swiss resident private investors will be taxed on the periodic and any 

one-time interest payments, if any, converted into Swiss francs at the exchange rate prevailing at the time of the 

relevant payment. A gain (including interest accrued) or a loss realised on the sale of such a Security is a tax-free 

private capital gain or a non-tax-deductible private capital loss, respectively (see below “—Capital Gains, Securities 

held as Private Assets by a Swiss resident holder”). 

Bonds with a predominant one-time interest payment: If a Security is classified as a pure bond with a predominant 

one-time interest payment (the yield-to-maturity predominantly derives from a one-time-interest-payment such as 

an original issue discount or a repayment premium and not from periodic interest payments), Swiss resident private 

investors will be taxed on any periodic interest payments and on any gains (including capital and foreign exchange 

gains) realised on such Security (differential taxation method). 

Certificates predominantly replicating interest bearing underlying, except actively managed certificates without a 

fixed maturity date (see below “Fund-like Instruments”), are classified as and taxed in accordance with the principles 

of Bonds. 

Pure Derivative Financial Instruments 

Periodic and one-time dividend equalisation payments realised on a Security that is classified as a pure derivative 

financial instrument and which is held as part of the holder’s private assets constitute taxable investment income. 

Any other return on such a Security will be classified as a tax-exempt capital gain or a non-tax deductible capital 

loss (see below “—Capital Gains, Securities held as Private Assets by a Swiss resident holder”). 

Pure Derivative Financial Instruments, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding Derivative Financial Instruments with 

an Interest Component (see below “Derivative Financial Instruments with an Interest Component”), include (i) call 

and put options, including options where the underlying is pre-financed by at least 50% at the time of the issuance 

(Low Exercise Price Options) and with at maturity not exceeding one year, (ii) futures with a maturity not exceeding 

one year, (iii) futures with a maturity exceeding one year and a leverage of at least 4 at the time of the issuance, 

and (iv) static certificates replicating an index or a basket of at least five non-interest bearing underlying and with a 

fixed maturity date or an annual redemption right. 

Derivative Financial Instruments with an Interest Component 

Securities which are classified as Derivative Financial Instruments with an Interest Component and which are held 

as part of a holder’s private assets bear a taxable interest component corresponding to the swap rate of the currency 

of the Securities. The interest component is taxed at redemption, or, if the Securities have no fixed maturity date, 
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generally at 31 December of each calendar year. Any other return on such a Security will be classified as a tax-

exempt capital gain or a non-tax deductible capital loss (see below “—Capital Gains, Securities held as Private 

Assets by a Swiss resident holder”). 

Pure Derivative Financial Instruments with an Interest Component include (i) Low Exercise Price Options with a 

maturity exceeding one year, (ii) futures on non-interest bearing underlying with a maturity exceeding one year and 

a leverage of below 4 at the time of issuance, (iii) futures on interest bearing underlying with a maturity not exceeding 

one year and a leverage of below 4 at the time of issuance, (iv) futures on interest bearing underlying with a maturity 

exceeding one year, and (v) static certificates replicating a basket of less than five non-interest bearing underlying 

and with a fixed maturity date or an annual redemption right. 

Fund-like Instruments 

A Security classified as a fund-like instrument will be considered a pass-through instrument for Swiss tax purposes 

if dividend and interest income (less attributable costs) from, and capital gains and losses (less costs attributable) 

realised on, the underlying investments, are reported and distributed separately. Under such conditions, an 

individual holding a fund-like Security as part of private assets only receives taxable income (which he or she must 

report annually) over such portion of the distributions (in case the fund is distributing the income realised on the 

underlying investments) or earnings credits (in case the fund is reinvesting the income realised on the underlying 

investment) as derived from dividends and interest (less attributable costs) on the underlying instruments. Any 

distributions or credits deriving from capital gains realised on the underlying investments constitute a tax-free private 

capital gain and any respective loss on the underlying investments is a non-tax-deductible private capital loss. Any 

gain realised within a taxation period on the sale of a fund-like Security (including accrued dividends and interest) 

is exempt from income taxation as a private capital gain, and, conversely, any loss realised within a taxation period 

on the sale of a fund-like Security is a non-tax-deductible capital loss (see below “—Capital Gains, Securities held 

as Private Assets by a Swiss resident holder”).  

Fund-like Instruments include (i) certificates replicating one or a basket of collective investment schemes, (ii) 

actively managed certificates predominantly replicating non-interest bearing underlying, (iii) actively managed 

certificates predominantly replicating interest bearing underlying and without a fixed maturity date, (iv) static 

certificates predominantly replicating non-interest bearing, but including interest bearing underlying, and (v) static 

certificates replicating an index or a basket of at least five non-interest bearing underlying and without a fixed 

maturity date or an annual redemption right. 

Securities held as Assets of a Swiss Business 

Corporate entities and individuals who hold Securities as part of a trade or business in Switzerland, in the case of 

residents abroad carried on through a permanent establishment or a fixed place of business in Switzerland, are 

required to recognise any payments on, and any capital gains or losses realised on the sale or redemption of, such 

Securities (irrespective of their classification) in their income statement for the respective taxation period and will 

be taxed on any net taxable earnings for such period. 

The same taxation treatment also applies to Swiss-resident individuals who, for income tax purposes, are classified 

as “professional securities dealers” for reasons of, inter alia, frequent dealing and leveraged investments in 

securities. 

Capital Gains Taxation 

Securities held as Private Assets by a Swiss resident Holder 

Any gain or any loss realised by an individual resident in Switzerland for tax purposes upon the sale or other disposal 

of a Security held as part of his or her private assets is a tax-free private capital gain or a non-tax deductible capital 

loss, respectively, unless such individual is classified, for income tax purposes, as a “professional securities dealer” 

for reasons of, inter alia, frequent dealing and leveraged investments in securities. If an individual is classified as a 

“professional securities dealer”, he or she will be taxed in accordance with the principles set forth above under “—

Securities held as Assets of a Swiss Business”. In relation to the bifurcation of a tax-exempt capital gains component 
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or a non-tax deductible capital loss component from taxable income components of a Security, see the bifurcation 

principles set forth above with regard to the different instruments under “—Income Taxation, Securities held as 

Private Assets by a Swiss resident holder”. 

Securities held as Assets of a Swiss Business 

Capital gains realised on Securities held as part of a trade or business in Switzerland are taxed in accordance with 

the taxation principles set forth above under “—Income Taxation, Securities held as Swiss Business Assets”. 

Stamp Taxes 

Swiss Federal Issue Stamp Tax 

The Securities are not subject to Swiss federal issue stamp tax on the issuance of securities. 

Swiss Federal Securities Turnover Tax 

The issuance of Securities that are classified as Fund-like Instruments is subject to Swiss federal securities turnover 

tax of up to 0.3 per cent. on the consideration paid if a Swiss securities dealer (as defined in the Swiss federal 

stamp tax act) is a party or intermediary to the transaction and no exemption applies. The issuance of Securities 

classified other than Fund-like Instruments are not subject to Swiss federal securities turnover tax. 

Dealings in Securities that are classified as (i) Pure Derivative Financial Instruments or (ii) Bonds or Structured 

Notes or Derivative Financial Instruments with an Interest Component and with a maturity not exceeding one year 

are not subject to Swiss federal securities turnover tax. 

Dealings in Securities which are classified as (i) Fund-like Instruments or (ii) Bonds or Structured Notes or Derivative 

Financial Instruments with an Interest Component and with a maturity exceeding one year are subject to Swiss 

federal securities turnover tax of up to 0.3% on the consideration paid if a Swiss domestic securities dealer (as 

defined in the Swiss federal stamp tax act) is a party or intermediary to the transaction and no exemption applies. 

The delivery of an underlying taxable security at exercise or redemption to the holder of the Security is subject to 

Swiss federal securities turnover tax of up to 0.3% if a Swiss domestic securities dealer (as defined in the Swiss 

federal stamp tax act) is a party or intermediary to the transaction and no exemption applies. 

Gift, Inheritance and Estate Taxes 

Subject to an applicable tax treaty in an international scenario, transfers of Securities may be subject to cantonal 

and/or communal inheritance tax, estate tax or gift tax if the deceased person has had his or her last domicile in 

Switzerland, the donor is resident in Switzerland, respectively, or in the case of a foreign deceased or resident 

person the transfer involves an unincorporated business in Switzerland and Securities are held as part of such 

business. No such taxes exist at the federal level. Rates depend upon the existing relationship (i.e. the relationship 

between the deceased and the heirs, or between the donor and the donee) and the size of the inheritance or gift. 

Interspousal gifts and gifts to descendants and inheritances collected by the surviving spouse and descendants are 

frequently exempt or taxed at very low rates (up to 6%). Gifts and inheritances received from unrelated persons 

attract rates ranging from 20% to 40% The taxable base is usually the market value of the property transferred. 

Net Worth and Capital Taxes 

A holder of Securities who is an individual resident in Switzerland for tax purposes or is a non-Swiss resident holding 

Securities as part of a Swiss business operation or a Swiss permanent establishment is required to report such 

Securities as part of private wealth or as part of Swiss business assets, as the case may be, and is subject to annual 

cantonal and/or communal private wealth tax on any net taxable wealth (including such Securities), in the case of 

non-Swiss resident individual holding Securities as part of a Swiss business operation or a Swiss permanent 

establishment, to the extent the aggregate taxable wealth is allocable to Switzerland. Incorporated holders of 

Securities are subject to cantonal and communal capital tax on net taxable equity, in the case of non-Swiss resident 

entities holding Securities as part of a Swiss permanent establishment, to the extent the aggregate taxable equity 

is allocable to Switzerland. No net worth and capital taxes exist at the federal level in Switzerland. 
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Non-Swiss resident holders 

A holder of a Security who is not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes and who during the taxation year has not 

engaged in trade or business carried on through a business operation or permanent establishment in Switzerland, 

will neither be subject to income tax and capital gains tax nor net wealth or capital tax in Switzerland. 

Automatic Exchange of Information in Tax Matters 

On 19 November 2014, Switzerland signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement (the “MCAA”). The 

MCAA is based on article 6 of the OECD/Council of Europe administrative assistance convention and is intended 

to ensure the uniform implementation of Automatic Exchange of Information (the “AEOI”). The Federal Act on the 

International Automatic Exchange of Information in Tax Matters (the “AEOI Act”) entered into force on 

1 January 2017. The AEOI Act is the legal basis for the implementation of the AEOI standard in Switzerland. 

The AEOI is being introduced in Switzerland through bilateral agreements or multilateral agreements. The 

agreements have, and will be, concluded on the basis of guaranteed reciprocity, compliance with the principle of 

speciality (i.e. the information exchanged may only be used to assess and levy taxes (and for criminal tax 

proceedings)) and adequate data protection. 

Switzerland has concluded a multilateral AEOI agreement with the EU (replacing the EU savings tax agreement) 

and has concluded bilateral AEOI agreements with several non-EU countries. 

Based on such multilateral agreements and bilateral agreements and the implementing laws of Switzerland, 

Switzerland collects data in respect of financial assets, including, as the case may be, Securities, held in, and 

income derived thereon and credited to, accounts or deposits with a paying agent in Switzerland for the benefit of 

individuals resident in a EU member state or in a treaty state. 

Swiss Facilitation of the Implementation of the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 

Switzerland has concluded an intergovernmental agreement with the U.S. to facilitate the implementation of FATCA. 

The agreement ensures that the accounts held by U.S. persons with Swiss financial institutions are disclosed to the 

U.S. tax authorities either with the consent of the account holder or by means of group requests within the scope of 

administrative assistance. Information will not be transferred automatically in the absence of consent, and instead 

will be exchanged only within the scope of administrative assistance on the basis of the double taxation agreement 

between the U.S. and Switzerland. 

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 

Pursuant to certain provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, 

a “foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru 

payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting or related requirements. The Issuer has 

registered with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service as a reporting foreign financial institution for these purposes. 

A number of jurisdictions (including Jersey) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental 

agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which modify the way in which FATCA applies 

in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA 

jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. Certain 

aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Securities, including 

whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments 

such as the Securities, are uncertain and may be subject to change. 

Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such 

as the Securities, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final 

regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are published in the U.S Federal Register and Securities 

characterised as debt (or which are not otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal 

tax purposes that are issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations 

defining “foreign passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be ”grandfathered” 



Taxation 

 

 144  

 

for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by reason of a substitution 

of the Issuer). However, if additional Securities (as described under “Conditions – Further Tranches and Series”) 

that are not distinguishable from previously issued Securities are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering 

period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all such Securities, including 

those Securities offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. 

Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the 

Securities. In the event that any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to 

payments on the Securities, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding. 

The proposed financial transactions tax (“FTT”) 

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s Proposal”) for a 

Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia 

and Slovakia (the “participating Member States”). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate. 

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in Securities 

(including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. 

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside 

of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Securities where at least one 

party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial 

institution may be, or be deemed to be, “established” in a participating Member State in a broad range of 

circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where 

the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State. 

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may therefore 

be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional Member States may decide 

to participate. 

Prospective holders of Securities are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

Only Authorised Participants may subscribe for Securities from the Issuer. The Authorised Participant(s) in respect 

of each Series of Securities will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

The Issuer has prepared a separate base prospectus pursuant to the UK Prospectus Regulation to facilitate offers 

in the United Kingdom that are not made within an exemption to publish a prospectus under Article 1(4) of the UK 

Prospectus Regulation. Such base prospectus was separately approved by the FCA on 5 June 2025, as competent 

authority under the UK Prospectus Regulation. Such base prospectus is accessible on the Issuer’s website at 

https://globalxetfs.eu/. The FCA has not reviewed or approved this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the UK 

Prospectus Regulation, the Public Offers and Admissions to Trading Regulations 2024 (SI 2024/105) or the FCA 

Sourcebook “Prospectus Rules: Admission to Trading on a Regulated Market”. 

United States of America 

The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 

“Securities Act”) or under the securities law of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. No person has 

registered nor will register as a commodity pool operator of the Issuer under CEA and the rules thereunder (the 

“CFTC Rules”) of the CFTC, and the Issuer has not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Investment 

Issuer Act of 1940, as amended, nor under any other United States federal laws. The Securities are being offered 

and sold in reliance on an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation 

S thereunder. 

The Securities may not at any time be offered, sold, pledged, delivered, directly or indirectly, or otherwise transferred 

except in an "Offshore Transaction" (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act) to or for the 

account or benefit of a Permitted Transferee. 

The following definitions shall apply for the purposes of this United States selling and transfer restriction: 

“Permitted Transferee” means any person who is not: 

(i) a U.S. person (as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S under the Securities Act); 

(ii) a U.S. person (as defined in the final risk retention rules promulgated under Section 15G of the U.S. 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")); or 

(iii) a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any CFTC rule, 

guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (including but not limited to any person who is not a 

“Non-United States person” as such term is defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv) and also including but 

not limited to a “U.S. Person” as described in and for the purposes of the CFTC’s Interpretive Guidance 

and Policy Statement Regarding Compliance with Certain Swap Regulations, 78 Fed Reg. 45292 (July 26, 

2013) as amended from time to time). 

Transfers of Securities within the United States or to any person other than a Permitted Transferee are prohibited. 

Any transfer of Securities to a person other than a Permitted Transferee will be void ab initio and of no legal effect 

whatsoever. Accordingly, any purported transferee of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security in such 

a transaction will not be entitled to any rights as a legal or beneficial owner of such interest in such Security. The 

Issuer shall have the right at any time after becoming aware that any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a 

Security is held by a Non-Permitted Transferee or Benefit Plan Investor to require such Non-Permitted Transferee 

or Benefit Plan Investor to sell such interest to (a) an affiliate of the Issuer (to the extent permitted by Applicable 

Law); or (b) a person who is not a Non-Permitted Transferee or Benefit Plan Investor, in each case in accordance 

with Condition 3. 

As defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S under the Securities Act, “U.S. person” means: 

(a) Any natural person resident in the United States; 

(b) Any partnership or corporation organized or incorporated under the laws of the United States; 

(c) Any estate of which any executor or administrator is a U.S. person; 
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(d) Any trust of which any trustee is a U.S. person; 

(e) Any agency or branch of a foreign entity located in the United States; 

(f) Any non-discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other 

fiduciary for the benefit or account of a U.S. person; 

(g) Any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other 

fiduciary organized, incorporated, or (if an individual) resident in the United States; and 

(h) Any partnership or corporation if: 

(i) Organized or incorporated under the laws of any foreign jurisdiction; and 

(ii) Formed by a U.S. person principally for the purpose of investing in securities not registered under 

the Securities Act, unless it is organized or incorporated, and owned, by accredited investors (as 

defined in §230.501(a)) who are not natural persons, estates or trusts. 

As defined Section 15G of the Exchange Act, “U.S. person” means: 

(a) Any natural person resident in the United States; 

(b) Any partnership, corporation, limited liability Issuer, or other organization or entity organized or 

incorporated under the laws of any U.S. state or under the laws of the United States; 

(c) Any estate of which any executor or administrator is a U.S. person (as defined under any other clause of 

this definition); 

(d) Any trust of which any trustee is a U.S. person (as defined under any other clause of this definition); 

(e) Any agency or branch of a foreign entity located in the United States; 

(f) Any non-discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other 

fiduciary for the benefit or account of a U.S. person (as defined under any other clause of this definition); 

(g) Any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other 

fiduciary organized, incorporated, or (if an individual) resident in the United States; and 

(h) Any partnership or corporation if: 

(i) Organized or incorporated under the laws of any foreign jurisdiction; and 

(ii) Formed by a U.S. person (as defined under any other clause of this definition) principally for the 

purpose of investing in securities not registered under the Securities Act. 

As defined in CFTC Rule 4.7, modified as indicated above, “Non-United States person” means: 

(a) A natural person who is not a resident of the United States; 

(b) A partnership, corporation or other entity, other than an entity organized principally for passive investment, 

organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction and which has its principal place of business in a foreign 

jurisdiction; 

(c) An estate or trust, the income of which is not subject to United States income tax regardless of source; 

(d) An entity organized principally for passive investment such as a pool, investment Issuer or other similar 

entity; provided, that units of participation in the entity held by persons who do not qualify as Non-United 

States persons represent in the aggregate less than 10 per cent. of the beneficial interest in the entity, and 

that such entity was not formed principally for the purpose of facilitating investment by persons who do not 

qualify as Non-United States persons in a pool with respect to which the operator is exempt from certain 

requirements of part 4 of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission’s regulations by virtue of its 

participants being Non-United States persons; and 
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(e) A pension plan for the employees, officers or principals of an entity organized and with its principal place 

of business outside the United States. 

As defined in the CFTC’s interpretive guidance and policy statement regarding compliance with certain swap 

regulations, 78 Fed. Reg. 45292 (July 26, 2013), “U.S. person” includes, but is not limited to:  

(a) Any natural person who is a resident of the United States; 

(b) Any estate of a decedent who was a resident of the United States at the time of death;  

(c) Any corporation, partnership, limited liability Issuer, business or other trust, association, joint-stock Issuer, 

fund or any form of enterprise similar to any of the foregoing (other than an entity described in clauses (d) 

or (e), below) (a “legal entity”), in each case that is organized or incorporated under the laws of a state or 

other jurisdiction in the United States or having its principal place of business in the United States; 

(d) Any pension plan for the employees, officers or principals of a legal entity described in clause (c), unless 

the pension plan is primarily for foreign employees of such entity; 

(e) Any trust governed by the laws of a state or other jurisdiction in the United States, if a court within the 

United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust; 

(f) Any commodity pool, pooled account, investment fund, or other collective investment vehicle that is not 

described in clause (c) and that is majority-owned by one or more persons described in clause (a), (b), (c), 

(d), or (e), except any commodity pool, pooled account, investment fund, or other collective investment 

vehicle that is publicly offered only to non-U.S. persons and not offered to U.S. persons; 

(g) Any legal entity (other than a limited liability Issuer, limited liability partnership or similar entity where all of 

the owners of the entity have limited liability) that is directly or indirectly majority-owned by one or more 

persons described in clause (a), (b), (c), (d), or (e) and in which such person(s) bears unlimited 

responsibility for the obligations and liabilities of the legal entity; and 

(h) Any individual account or joint account (discretionary or not) where the beneficial owner (or one of the 

beneficial owners in the case of a joint account) is a person described in clause (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), or 

(g). 

“Benefit Plan Investor” means: 

(a)  an employee benefit plan (as defined in section 3(3) of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act 

of 1974, as amended, (“ERISA”)), whether or not subject to ERISA; 

(b)  a plan described in section 4975(e)(1) of the Code; or 

(c)  an entity whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of a plan's investment in the entity under 

U.S. Department of Labor Regulations § 2510.3-101 (29 c.f.r. § 2510.3-101). 

Each prospective purchaser of the Securities, by accepting delivery of this Base Prospectus and the Securities, and 

each transferee of the Securities by accepting the transfer of the Securities, will be deemed to have represented 

and agreed as follows: 

(a) it understands that the Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and 

agrees that it will not, at any time during the term of the Securities, offer, sell, pledge or otherwise transfer 

the Securities, in an “Offshore Transaction” (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act) 

to or for the account of a Permitted Transferee, or; 

(b) it understands and acknowledges that no person has registered nor will register as a commodity pool 

operator of the Issuer under the CEA and the CEA Rules; 

(c) (i) it is a Permitted Transferee and (ii) if it is acting for the account or benefit of another person, such other 

person is also a Permitted Transferee; 
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(d) it understands and agrees that the Issuer has the right to compel any legal or beneficial owner of an interest 

in the Securities to certify periodically that such legal or beneficial owner is a Permitted Transferee; 

(e) it understands and acknowledges that the Issuer has the right to refuse to honour the transfer of an interest 

in the Securities in violation of the transfer restrictions applicable to the Securities; 

(f) it understands and acknowledges that the Issuer has the right at any time after becoming aware that any 

legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security is held by a Non-Permitted Transferee or Benefit Plan 

Investor to redeem such Securities in accordance with Conditions 9 (Compulsory Redemption) and 14 

(Enquiries as to status of Securityholders); 

(g) it agrees to provide notice of the restrictions set forth herein to any transferee of its interest in the Securities; 

(h)  it understands that Securities will bear a legend regarding the restrictions set forth herein; and 

(i) it understands that any purported transfer in violation of the transfer restrictions applicable to the Securities 

will be void ab initio and will not operate to transfer any rights to the Non-Permitted Transferee. 

United Kingdom 

The Issuer and each Authorised Participant has represented and agreed, and each further Authorised Participant 

appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not made and will not make an 

offer of the Securities (which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by 

the Final Terms in relation thereto) to the public in the UK, except that it may make an offer of such Securities to 

the public in the UK: 

(a) to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the POATRs; 

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in paragraph 15 of 

Schedule 1 to the POATRs); or 

(c) in any other circumstances falling within Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the POATRs and the FCA Sourcebook 

“Prospectus Rules: Admission to Trading on a Regulated Market” (“PRM”) 1.3, 

provided that no such offer of the Securities referred to in (a) to (c) above shall require the Issuer or any Authorised 

Participant to publish a prospectus pursuant to PRM 1.4 or supplement a base prospectus pursuant to the PRM or 

shall be in contravention on any other restriction on an offer of the Securities in the UK. 

For the purposes of the provision above, the expression an “offer of Securities to the public” in the UK means 

the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer (and the 

Securities to be offered) so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Securities. 

Jersey 

The Authorised Participant undertakes to the Issuer that it will not permit the Securities to be sold to, or purchased 

by, persons resident in Jersey (other than financial institutions in the normal course of business). 

European Economic Area 

If the Final Terms in respect of any Series of Securities specifies the “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” 

as “Not Applicable”, in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area (each, a “Relevant State”), 

the Issuer and each Authorised Participant has represented and agreed, and each further Authorised Participant 

appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not made and will not make an 

offer of Securities which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the 

Final Terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant State except that it may make an offer of such Securities 

to the public in that Relevant State: 

(a) if the Final Terms in relation to the Series of Securities specify that an offer of those Securities may be 

made other than pursuant to Article 1(4) of the EU Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State (a “Non-

Exempt Offer”), following the date of publication of this a prospectus in relation to such Securities which 
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has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant State or, where appropriate, approved in 

another Relevant State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant State, provided that any 

such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the Final Terms contemplating such Non-Exempt 

Offer, in accordance with the EU Prospectus Regulation, in the period beginning and ending on the dates 

specified in such prospectus of Final Terms, as applicable, and the Issuer has consented in writing to its 

use for the purpose of that Non-Exempt Offer; 

(b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation; 

(c) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU 

Prospectus Regulation), as permitted under the EU Prospectus Regulation; or 

(d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the EU Prospectus Regulation, 

provided that no such offer of the Securities shall require the Issuer or any Authorised Participant to publish a 

prospectus pursuant to the Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 

Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or shall be in contravention on any other restriction on an offer of the 

Securities in that Relevant State. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Securities to the public” in relation to any Securities 

in any Relevant State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the 

terms of the offer and the Securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe to 

the Securities, and the expression “EU Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended. 

Switzerland 

(a) Subject to paragraph (b) below: 

(i) the Securities may not be publicly offered, directly or indirectly, in Switzerland within the meaning 

of the FinSA and will not be admitted to trading on a trading venue (exchange or multilateral 

trading facility) in Switzerland; 

(ii) neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms nor any other offering or marketing material 

relating to any Securities (A) constitutes a prospectus as such term is understood pursuant to the 

FinSA or (B) has been or will be filed with or approved by a Swiss Review Body; and 

(iii) neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms nor other offering or marketing material relating 

to any Securities may be publicly distributed or otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland. 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) above: 

(i) if and when this Base Prospectus (together with any supplements hereto) has been automatically 

recognised in accordance with article 54(2) of the FinSA by a Swiss Review Body as a base 

prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA, and published in accordance with the 

FinSA, this Base Prospectus (as supplemented from time to time) may be used, subject to any 

other applicable requirements under the FinSA or the FinSO, for any public offering of Securities 

in Switzerland and/or application for the admission to trading of Securities on the SIX Swiss 

Exchange or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland; and 

(ii) otherwise, in respect of any Securities to be issued, the Issuer and the relevant Authorised 

Participant(s) may agree that (A) such Securities may be publicly offered in Switzerland within the 

meaning of the FinSA and/or (B) an application will be made by (or on behalf of) the Issuer to 

admit such Securities to trading on the SIX Swiss Exchange or any other trading venue (exchange 

or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland, provided that the Issuer and the relevant Authorised 

Participant(s) agree to comply, and comply, with any applicable requirements of the FinSA in 

connection with such offering and/or application for admission to trading. 

(c) Under no circumstances may Securities with a derivative character within the meaning of article 86(2) of 

the FinSO be offered or recommended to private clients within the meaning of the FinSA in Switzerland, 
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unless a key information document (Basisinformationsblatt) pursuant to article 58(1) FinSA (or any 

equivalent document under the FinSA) has been prepared in relation to such Securities. 

(d) Securities issued under the Programme will be exchange traded products and will not constitute 

participations in a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective 

Investment Schemes of 23 June 2006 (as amended, the “CISA”). Therefore, the Securities are neither 

governed by the CISA nor subject to the approval of, or supervision by the Swiss Financial Market 

Supervisory Authority FINMA (“FINMA”), and investors in the Securities will not benefit from protection 

under the CISA or supervision by FINMA. 

General 

These selling restrictions may be modified by the agreement of the Issuer and the Authorised Participants following 

a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification will be set out in the applicable Final Terms 

issued in respect of the issue of Securities to which it relates or in a supplement to this Base Prospectus. 

Save for the approval of this Base Prospectus by the Swedish FSA and an offer of Securities to the public in Sweden 

and, if and when this Base Prospectus (together with any supplements hereto) is automatically recognised in 

accordance with article 54(2) of the FinSA by a Swiss Review Body as a base prospectus within the meaning of 

article 45 of the FinSA, a public offering of Securities in Switzerland, no representation is made that any action has 

been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of any of the Securities, or possession or distribution 

of this Base Prospectus or any other offering material or any applicable Final Terms, in any country or jurisdiction 

where action for that purpose is required. 

Each Authorised Participant has agreed that it will, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, 

regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Securities or has in its 

possession or distributes this Base Prospectus, any other offering material or any applicable Final Terms and 

neither the Issuer nor any other Authorised Participant shall have responsibility therefor. 

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Securities specifies the “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” as 

“Not Applicable”, each Authorised Participant has represented and agreed, and each further Authorised Participant 

appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise 

made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Securities which are the subject of the 

offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail 

investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision: 

(a) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); 

or 

(ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution 

Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of 

Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or 

(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “EU Prospectus 

Regulation”); and 

(b) the expression an “offer” includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 

information on the terms of the offer and the Securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide 

to purchase or subscribe for the Securities. 

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors 

Each Authorised Participant has represented and agreed, and each further Authorised Participant appointed under 

the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available 

and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Securities which are the subject of the offering contemplated 
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by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the United 

Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision: 

(a) (i) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(1) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 

2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 

2018 and as amended or supplemented in the United Kingdom thereafter; or 

(2) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 

(the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA which were relied on 

immediately before exit day to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would 

not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 

600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 

2018 and as amended or supplemented in the United Kingdom thereafter; or 

(3) not a qualified investor as defined in paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the POATRs; and 

(ii) the expression an “offer” includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 

information on the terms of the offer and the Securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to 

decide to purchase or subscribe for the Securities; 

(b) it has not sold or distributed any Securities that are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base 

Prospectus, as completed, supplemented, amended or replaced by such Final Terms, to a “retail client” 

(as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS)) in the United Kingdom, nor 

will it sell or distribute such Securities to such retail clients in the United Kingdom; and 

(c) it has not marketed (including “communicating” and/or “approving a financial promotion”, as such terms 

are defined in COBS) any Securities that are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base 

Prospectus (as completed, supplemented, amended or replaced by such Final Terms) where marketing is 

addressed to or disseminated in such a way that it is likely to be received by such a retail client, nor will it 

so market such Securities in the United Kingdom. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

Authorisation This Base Prospectus was approved by a resolution of the Board of the Issuer 

passed on 9 February 2026. The issue of each Series of Securities issued by 

the Issuer will be authorised by a separate resolution of the Board of the 

Issuer. 

No significant change There has been no material adverse change in the financial position or 

prospects of the Issuer since the date of its last published audited financial 

statements. There has been no significant change in the financial 

performance of the Issuer or the financial position of the Issuer or its group 

since the end of the last financial period for which financial information has 

been published to the date of this Base Prospectus. 

No legal proceedings There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any 

such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is 

aware) which may have, or have had since the date of its incorporation, a 

significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer. 

Settlement and clearing Securities may be accepted for clearance through any Relevant Clearing 

System including CREST, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and 

Clearstream, Frankfurt. 

The Common Code, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN), 

the Swiss Security Number (if applicable) and (where applicable) the 

identification number for any other relevant clearing system for each Series 

of Securities will be set out in the applicable Final Terms. 

Address of Relevant Clearing 

System 

The address of CREST is Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited, 33 Cannon Street, 

London EC4M 5SB. 

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, 

Belgium. 

The address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 

Luxembourg. 

The address of any other applicable Relevant Clearing System will be 

specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Third party information Where information in this Base Prospectus has been sourced from third 

parties this information has been accurately reproduced and as far as the 

Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from the information published by 

such third parties no facts have been omitted which would render the 

reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third party 

information is identified where used. 

Post issuance information Each Business Day, the Issuer will publish the Coin Entitlement of each 

Series of Securities on the Issuer’s Website as described in the Conditions. 

Save as set out above, the Issuer does not intend to provide any post-

issuance information in relation to any issues of Securities or in relation to the 

Underlying Cryptoasset(s), except as required by any Applicable Law. 

Websites Any websites referred to herein do not form part of this Base Prospectus and 

have not been scrutinised or approved by the Swedish FSA. 
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Available documents For so long as Securities may be issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus 

copies of the following documents will be available upon reasonable notice in 

printed form free of charge, during the hours between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. 

(with respect to the location of the relevant offices specified below) on any 

weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection and 

collection at the registered office of the Issuer: 

• the Master Trust Terms; 

• the Master Definitions; 

• the Custody Agreement; 

• the Registrar Agreement; 

• the Administration and Determination Agency Agreement; 

• the Articles of the Issuer; 

• a copy of this Base Prospectus together with any Supplement to this 

Base Prospectus or further prospectus; 

• each Final Terms and each subscription agreement (if any), any 

Security Document and the Constituting Document comprising, 

amongst other things, the Trust Deed for Securities which are listed 

on any Relevant Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange; and 

• such other documents as may be required by the rules of any stock 

exchange on which any Security is at the relevant time listed. 

So long as any of the Securities are outstanding, copies of these documents 

may also be provided by email to a Securityholder following prior written 

request to the Issuing and Paying Agent subject to such Securityholder 

providing evidence satisfactory to the Issuing and Paying Agent as to its 

holding of such Securities and as to its identity. 

Publication of documents This Base Prospectus, each applicable Final Terms, each relevant Trust 

Deed and the Articles of the Issuer will be published and available on the 

Issuer’s Website free of charge. 

Use of proceeds The net proceeds of each issue of a Series of Securities will be used to 

purchase the Underlying Cryptoasset(s) in respect of such Series and/or 

enter into the Transaction Documents and/or in meeting certain expenses and 

fees payable in connection with the operations of the Issuer and the issue of 

any Securities. 

The Redemption Amount payable on the Securities is dependent on the 

performance of the Underlying Cryptoasset(s), therefore the Issuer expects 

to be fully collateralised in respect of its obligations to Securityholders. 

Listing Agent Lang & Schwarz TradeCenter AG & Co. KG is acting solely in its capacity as 

listing agent for the Issuer in relation to the Securities to be listed on Xetra 

and is not itself seeking admission of the Securities to listing on the Relevant 

Stock Exchange. 

In the case of Securities to be admitted to trading and listed on the SIX Swiss 

Exchange, the applicable Listing Agent will be specified in the applicable Final 

Terms.  
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS 

Final Terms dated [•] 

Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited 

(Incorporated and registered in Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 (as amended), with  

registered number 139150) 

LEI: 254900GFVKWOIHOFGO32 

Issue of [number] of 

[AAVE-linked] / [BTC-linked] / [ETH-linked] / [LINK-linked] / [UNI-linked] / [Index-Linked] Securities (the 

“Securities”) 

under its Crypto ETP Programme 

This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Securities described herein. 

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Securities are not intended to be offered, sold or 

otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in 

the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) 

of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”; (ii) a 

customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), 

where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or 

(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “EU Prospectus 

Regulation”). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, 

the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them available to retail investors 

in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them available 

to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.] [To be included where item 17 

“Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” is specified as “Applicable”.] 

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Securities are not intended to be offered, sold or 

otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in 

the United Kingdom (the “UK”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a 

retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms 

part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as amended or supplemented in 

the UK thereafter; (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 

2000 (the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA which were relied on immediately before 

exit day to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as 

defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the 

European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as amended or supplemented in the UK thereafter; or (iii) not a qualified 

investor as defined in paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the Public Offers and Admissions to Trading Regulations (SI 

2024/105) (the “POATRs”). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 

as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as 

amended or supplemented in the UK thereafter (as amended, the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling 

the Securities or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore 

offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful 

under the UK PRIIPs Regulation. 

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

[MiFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely 

for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect 

of the Securities has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Securities is eligible counterparties, 

professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”)][MiFID II]; 

and [(ii) all channels for distribution of the Securities are appropriate] / [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible 

counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the 
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Securities to retail clients are appropriate [specify]]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the 

Securities (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; 

however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect 

of the Securities (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining 

appropriate distribution channels.] 

[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes 

of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Securities 

has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Securities is eligible counterparties, as defined in the 

FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (“COBS”) and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) 

No 600/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 

and as amended or supplemented in the United Kingdom thereafter (“UK MiFIR”); and (ii) all channels for 

distribution of the Securities to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person 

subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Securities (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the 

manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product 

Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is responsible 

for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Securities (by either adopting or refining the 

manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.] 

The Securities issued by the Issuer will be subject to the Conditions (as defined below) and also to the following 

terms (the “Final Terms”) in relation to the Securities. 

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Base 

Prospectus dated [●] [and the supplement(s) dated [•]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the “Base 

Prospectus”) for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “EU Prospectus 

Regulation”).]/[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased 

was issued under a Base Prospectus with an earlier date: Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as 

such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Base Prospectus dated [date of previous base prospectus] 

[and the supplement(s) to it dated [ ]] (the “Conditions”) which are incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus 

dated [●] [and the supplement(s) to it dated [ ]] (the "Base Prospectus") which [together] constitute[s] a base 

prospectus for the purposes of the EU Prospectus Regulation.] ] This document constitutes the Final Terms of the 

Securities described herein for the purposes of Article 8 of the EU Prospectus Regulation and must be read in 

conjunction with the Base Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Securities is only available 

on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is available 

for viewing at https://globalxetfs.eu/. 

[In the case of Securities to be admitted to trading on the SIX Swiss Exchange and/or publicly offered in Switzerland, 

insert: The Base Prospectus dated [●] 2026 [and the supplement(s) dated [•]] were filed with [SIX Exchange 

Regulation AG]/[•] as review body (the “Swiss Review Body”) pursuant to article 52 of the Swiss Financial Services 

Act of 15 June 2018, as amended (the “FinSA”) for automatic recognition in accordance with article 54(2) of the 

FinSA as a base prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA, and published in accordance with the 

FinSA. The Swiss Review Body has not reviewed or approved the Base Prospectus [as so supplemented] or these 

Final Terms. These Final Terms will be filed with the Swiss Review Body and published in accordance with the 

FinSA.] 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the numbering should 
remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics 
denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.] 

SERIES DETAILS 

1. Issuer: Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited  

(LEI: 254900GFVKWOIHOFGO32) 

2. Class: [AAVE-linked] / [BTC-linked] / [ETH-linked] / [LINK-linked] / [UNI-

linked] / [Index-linked] 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/globalxetfs.eu/___.YzJ1Omdsb2JhbHg6YzpvOjA4NjU0YzcxNjcwOWQyY2E2MTgwMDU5ZWRjYmU4NTQxOjY6MTY0NjpiYmM0ZTdlOWJiZmI1Nzc0Mzc3YmFmYTFjMzg4MDNjODliMGViMWQwY2QyYjkxZmY4MGFiZDA3NTI5MjkzYzQyOnA6VDpO
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3. [(i)] Series Number: [insert Series title] 

[(ii)] Tranche Number: [•] 

4. Aggregate number of Securities of 

the Series: 

[•] 

[(i)] Series: [•] 

[(ii)] Tranche: [•] 

5. Principal Amount: [•] 

6. Index-Linked Security:12 [Applicable] [Not applicable] 

[Index: [●] 

Index Sponsor: [●]3  

[As at the date of these Final Terms the Index Sponsor 

[appears][does not appear] on the register of administrators and 

benchmarks established and maintained by [the European 

Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to article 36 of the 

Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the 

“BMR”)][and][or][the Financial Conduct Authority pursuant to EU 

Benchmarks Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) as it forms 

part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the 

European (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“UK BMR”)] 

 

[As far as the Issuer is aware, [[specify benchmark] does not fall 

within the scope of the BMR by virtue of Article 2 of that 

regulation,]/[the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the BMR 

apply,] such that [specify administrator’s legal name] is not 

currently required to obtain authorisation or registration (or, if 

located outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or 

equivalence).] 

 

[Specify alternative status for the purposes of BMR / UK BMR] 

Details of the index calculation and construction methodology can 

be found at [website].] 

 

7. Underlying Cryptoasset: [●][Insert where “Index-Linked Security” is stated as “Not 

Applicable”] 

8. Initial Coin Entitlement: [•] 

 
1 Please note that in case the Securities are Index-Linked Securities, please include the relevant disclaimer for such index-
provider. 
2 Please note that the Underlying Cryptoasset Pool in respect of a Series of Index-Linked Securities must only comprise Eligible 
Underlying Cryptoasset Pool Cryptoasset(s). 
3 The Index Sponsor will either (a) appear on the register of administrators and benchmarks maintained by ESMA pursuant to 
Article 36 of the BMR or (b) be a third-country administrator within the transitional provisions of Article 51 of the BMR. 
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9. Arranger Fee: [•] 

10. Issue Date: [•] 

11. Delivery Precision Level: [specify] 

12. Coin Entitlement Precision Level: [specify] 

13. Specified Denomination(s): [•] 

14. Base Currency: [•] 

15. Form of Securities:  

(i) Form: [Registered] / [Uncertificated] 

(ii) Held under New 

Safekeeping Structure: 

[No]/[Yes]/[Not Applicable] 

16. Relevant Stock Exchange: [•] 

17. Relevant Clearing System: [CREST] / [Euroclear] / [Clearstream, Frankfurt] / [Clearstream, 

Luxembourg] / [specify other] 

18. Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail 

Investors: 

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable] 

19. Offer  

(i) Non-Exempt Offer: [Applicable] / [Not Applicable] 

(ii) Non-Exempt Offer 

Jurisdiction: 

[specify] 

(iii) Offer Period: [specify] 

(iv) Authorised Offeror: [•] (the “Authorised Offeror”) 

(v) Conditions to consent: [specify] 

(vi) Offer Price: [specify] 

(vii) Conditions to which the 

offer is subject: 

[specify] 

(viii) Amount of the Securities 

which will be offered to the 

public or admitted to 

trading: 

[specify] 

(ix) Manner and date in which 

results of the offer are to 

be made public: 

[specify] 

(x) Process for notifying 

applicants of the amount 

allotted and an indication 

whether dealing may be 

before notification is 

made: 

[specify] 
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(xi) Amount of any expenses, 

and taxes charged to the 

subscriber or purchaser: 

[specify] 

20. Staking [Applicable]/[Not Applicable] 

TRANSACTION PARTIES 

21. Trustee: [The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.] [specify other] 

22. Authorised Participant(s): [•] 

23. Account Bank: [N/A] [specify] 

24. Administrator: [JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited] [specify other] 

25. Agents:  

(i) Determination Agent: [JTC Fund Solutions (Jersey) Limited] [specify other] 

Specified Office: [•] 

(ii) Custodian: [Coinbase Luxembourg S.A.] [specify other] 

Specified Office: [•] 

(iii) Issuing and Paying Agent: [Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited] [specify 

other] 

Specified Office: [•] 

(iv) Swiss Paying Agent: [•]  

Specified Office: [•] 

(v) Additional Paying 

Agent(s): 

[Not Applicable] / [specify other]  

Specified Office: [•] 

(vi) Registrar: [Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited] [specify 

other] 

Specified Office: [•] 

[RESPONSIBILITY 

[[Insert relevant third party information] set out above has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms 

that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from 

information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 

information inaccurate or misleading. The Issuer has not conducted extensive due diligence on such information or 

made any enquiries as to its own possession of non-publicly available information.]] 

 

Signed on behalf of Global X Digital Assets Issuer Limited 

 

By: …......................................... 

Duly authorised 
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION 

1.  LISTING: 

Listing and admission to trading: Application has been made for the Securities to be admitted to 

[•]. 

[The Securities have been provisionally admitted to trading on 

the SIX Swiss Exchange as from [•]. Application for definitive 

admission to trading and listing of the Securities on the SIX 

Swiss Exchange will be made as soon as practicable thereafter 

and (if granted) will only be granted after the Issue Date. The 

last day of trading on the SIX Swiss Exchange is expected to 

be [date].] 

(include in the case of Securities to be admitted to trading and 

listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange) 

Securities of the same Series of Securities are, to the 

knowledge of the Issuer, already listed or admitted to trading on 

[•]. 

[Minimum trading size: [•]/[Not Applicable]] 

(include in the case of Securities to be admitted to trading and 

listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange) 

Estimate of total expenses related to 

admission to trading: 

[•] 

[Listing Agent: In accordance with article 58a of the Listing Rules of the SIX 

Swiss Exchange, the Issuer has appointed [•], located at [•], 

Switzerland, as its representative to file the application with SIX 

Exchange Regulation AG in its capacity as competent authority 

for the admission to trading (including the provisional admission 

to trading) and listing of the Securities on the SIX Swiss 

Exchange.] 

(include in the case of Securities to be admitted to trading and 

listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange) 

2.  RATINGS: 

Ratings: [•]/ [Not Applicable]. 

3.  [INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER:] 

[Include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the 

persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the following statement: 

Save as discussed in "Subscription and Sale", so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of 

the Securities has an interest material to the offer.] 

[The Arranger and its affiliates have engaged and may engage in investment banking and/or commercial banking 

transactions with, and may perform the same for, the Issuer in the ordinary course of business.] 

[insert other] 

(If no conflicts have been disclosed, delete entire Section 3. If conflicts have been disclosed, reference should 

be to the section of the relevant document where such conflicts were disclosed.) 
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4.  ESTIMATED AMOUNT OF NET PROCEEDS AND ESTIMATED EXPENSES 

Net Proceeds: [•] 

Estimated Total Expenses of the 

Issue/Offer: 

[●] 

5.  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 

ISIN: [•] 

Common Code: [•] 

[CUSIP: [•]] 

[CISN: [•]] 

[Swiss Security Number: [•]] 

Clearing system(s) and any 

relevant identification number(s): 

[Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking, S.A.] / 

[Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited] 

[Specify name(s), number(s) and address(es) of any additional 

clearing systems] 

Delivery: Delivery [against]/[free of] payment 

[Intended to be held in a manner 

which would allow Eurosystem 

eligibility: 

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" means that the Securities 

are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs 

as common safekeeper [or registered in the name of a nominee 

of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper,] and does 

not necessarily mean that the Securities will be recognised as 

eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day 

credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any 

or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon 

satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.]  

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of 

these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be 

amended in the future such that the Securities are capable of 

meeting them the Securities may then be deposited with one of 

the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered in the name 

of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common 

Safekeeper)]. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the 

Securities will then be recognised as eligible collateral for 

Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by 

the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition 

will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem 

eligibility criteria have been met.]] 

6.  DATE OF BOARD APPROVAL FOR ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES OBTAINED 

The issue of the Securities has been authorised by the Board on [•]. 
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ANNEX TO FINAL TERMS – ISSUE SPECIFIC SUMMARY 

[To be inserted for any Series of Securities listed on a regulated market in the EEA and/or publicly offered in a 

Member State of the EEA] 
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